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Corporate Information
AFEH

Board of Directors
Executive Directors

Mr. TAN Wenhua

Mr. HSU You Yuan

Ms. ZHANG Liming

Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai (Chairman)
Mr. CHONG Kin Ngai

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert

Ms. FU Shuangye

Dr. LIN Wen

Mr. ZHANG Chun

Company Secretary
Chow Yiu Ming

Audit Committee

Wong Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman)
Fu Shuangye

Lin Wen

Zhang Chun

Chong Kin Ngai

Remuneration Committee
Fu Shuangye (Chairman)

Wong Wing Kuen, Albert

Lin Wen

Zhang Chun

Tan Wenhua

Nomination Committee
Lin Wen (Chairman)

Wong Wing Kuen, Albert

Fu Shuangye

Zhang Chun

Hsu You Yuan

Auditor
KPMG
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Bank of Jinzhou

China Construction Bank
Huaxia Bank

Guangdong Development Bank
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Wanchai

Hong Kong

Principal Share Registrar
Butterfield Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
Butterfield House

68 Fort Street, P.O. Box 705

Grand Cayman, KY1-1107

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Share Registrar
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Rooms 1712-16, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Authorised Representatives
Hsu You Yuan
Chow Yiu Ming

Investor Relations Consultant
Porda International (Finance) PR Group
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Company Profile
NGl

Expand Product Range
in Upstream Business

BALHEEBzEREE

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries collectively the “Group”, stock code: 757) is a leading
manufacturer of monocrystalline silicon solar ingots and wafers in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). Its products are used for the
manufacture of photovoltaic cells which are important components of
solar energy generation systems.

During the year, the Group was engaged in five main businesses:

(@ the trading and manufacturing of monocrystalline and multicrystalline
silicon solar ingots and wafers;

(b) the processing of silicon solar ingots and wafers;
(c) the upgrading and trading of polysilicon;

(d) the production and sales of monocrystalline and multicrystalline
photovoltaic modules; and

(e) the design and installation of photovoltaic systems.

In 2009, the Group extended into the manufacture of multicrystalline
silicon solar ingots and wafers. Currently, its annual monocrystalline and
multicrystalline silicon solar ingots production capacity are 2,000 tonnes
and 200 tonnes, respectively, and its annual silicon solar wafer production
capacity is 75 million pieces. In the rapid developing solar energy industry,
the Group aspires to be the world’s largest monocrystalline silicon
solar ingot and wafer manufacturer through continuously upgrading of
its technology to expand its capacity and reduce cost. Moreover, the
Group also looks forward to becoming one of the key players in the
multicrystalline silicon solar product market.

In addition, since July 2009, Solargiga has started to develop its
downstream photovoltaic module and system installation businesses
through the formation of a 51% owned joint venture company in
Jinzhou, Liaoning Province, the PRC. The current annual capacity of our
photovoltaic modules production is 50MW.

The Group operates its major production facilities in Jinzhou. In addition,
the Group operates polysilicon reclaiming and upgrading facilities
in Shanghai and Jinzhou which currently have an aggregate annual
designed production capacity of 4,200 tonnes.
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Financial Highlights
R E

(For the year ended 31 December)

(BE+=A=1+—HILFE)

Five-Year Financial Summary A FHEHEE

RMB’000 ARET T 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
—ZETRF —EER —EELF —EENF —EENEF
Turnover TET 173,697 413,303 1,015,538 1,492,935 658,720
Gross profit/(loss) ER,/(E8) 68,900 169,063 323,126 225,510@ (5,780)
Profit/(loss) from operations mEFE (BER) 62,842 156,025 344,673 120,660 (98,824)
Profit/(loss) attributable to T IR RAE(
equity shareholders 58,/ (&548) 41,303 109,670 292,241 83,379 (98,098)
Basic earnings/(loss) SREAEF,(FHE)
per share (RMB cents) (ARES) 8.26 21.85 20.33 5.12 (5.75)
Non-current assets ERENEE 109,450 134,500 277,879 759,550 921,054
Current assets FEBEE 135,333 264,935 673,996  1,015860 1,126,895
Current liabilities FEas 75,543 129,285 289,521 471,328 495,472
Non-current liabilities FnEaE 14,981 15,344 29,637 40,568 145,197
Net assets BEHE 154,259 254,806 632,717 1,263,514 1,407,280
Turnover Profit Attributable to Basic Earnings Per Share
R Equity Shareholders BREXRER
RMB’000 < 113 RMB cents
ARHF T i%;ﬂogﬁiﬁg‘ﬁﬂﬁ AR%S
ARMT R
1,600,000
1,492,935
1,400,000 300,000 292,241 60
1,200,000
1,015,538 240,000 48
1,000,000
800,000 180,000 36
658,720
600,000 120,000 109,670 24 2185 5033
413,303 &
400,000 83,379
60,000 12 826
200,000 173,697 TS (98,098) 512 (5.75)
0 0 09 0 09
05 06 07 08 09 05 06 07 08 05 06 07 08 '
Note: FIEE -

The results of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2005 and 2006
and the balance sheets items of the Group as at 31 December 2005 and
2006 are extracted from the Company’s prospectus dated 17 March 2008.

The gross profit/(loss) for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2009
included inventory write-down of RMB220.2 million and RMB172.6 million,
respectively.

AEERE_STRFR-_FFAFT-A=+-HL
FENRERAKER-"SZZIFR-ZTAET-A
=t -AMEEARKEENBMEFATANA=SS
NEZA+ERMARER -

BE-ZE\ER-ZEENF+-A=T—-HLEFENE
R/ (BB BEFEMED B ARE202BBTRARE
172.6E BT ©
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Chairman’s Statement
FERES

Dear honourable shareholders,

On behalf of the board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of Solargiga
Energy Holdings Limited (“Solargiga” or the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries referred to as the “Group”), | hereby present the annual report
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2009.

In light of the increasing problem of global warming, clean energy is
developing at a rapid pace. The Group is proactively strengthening its
own competitive edges and steadily enhancing its production capacity
and technology standard, so as to grasp the enormous opportunities for
the development of the solar energy industry. Following its listing on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) in March 2008, the Group successfully issued its Taiwan
Depositary Receipts (“TDR”) on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation
(the “Taiwan Stock Exchange”) on 11 December 2009. Such moves
not only aroused tremendous interests from investors, but also raised
proceeds to fund the Group’s new series of expansion plan, symbolising
the Group’s step towards steady and rapid growth, and its vision of
striving to become the world’s largest manufacturer of monocrystalline
silicon solar ingots and wafers.

2009 was a year of both challenges and breakthroughs for the Group.
In the first half of 2009, while most industries were still in the haze of
the global economic downturn, the demand for energy and oil prices
tumbled, as a result of which the prices of polysilicon, the raw material,
ingots and wafer products remained under pressure. Facing such a
challenging business environment, the Group made timely adjustments
on its development strategies and pace as well as its product portfolio,
resulting to profitability in the third quarter and offsetting the loss incurred
in the first half year due to an impairment loss on inventories. The gradual
recovery of the global economy since the second half of the year has

CHIAO Ping Hai, Chairman
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

improved the operating environment of the solar energy industry and also
stabilised various operating indicators of the Group during the second
half year in terms of sales revenue, production capacity and profit margin.
For the year under review, the Group’s turnover was approximately
RMB658.7 million, drop by 55.9% when compared to year 2008. Gross
loss for the year was RMB5.8 million, including write-down of inventories
which amounted to RMB172.6 million for the first half of 2009, while
loss attributable to the equity shareholders amounted to approximately
RMB98.1 million for the year.

Following the climate summit convened in Copenhagen, Denmark in
December 2009, the issue of global warming and the development
of the renewable energy industry had again raised the concern of the
governments from various countries and international organisations.
During the summit, the PRC government put forward its objective of
reducing carbon dioxide emission per unit of GDP by 40 to 50% from
that of 2005 till 2020. Being one of the countries with the most rapid
development in new energy and renewable energy, the PRC has unveiled
various plans to stimulate the growth of the solar energy industry in
2009, including the “China Solar Roof Plan” ( { XF5eEETEETEI) ) and
the “Golden Sun Programme” ( (& AR5=tE]) ), which bring favourable
opportunities for the development of the Group.

During the year under review, the Group has focused on enhancing its
research and development strengths, continuously expanding production
capacity and maintaining its leading position in the manufacturing of
monocrystalline silicon solar ingots and wafers industry. Meanwhile,
leveraging on its own competitive edges, the Group has also established
the Jinzhou Jinmao Photovoltaic Technology Co. Ltd. for the development
of the downstream business of solar energy including modules, systems
and building integrated photovoltaic modules and systems, thus
diversifying its product portfolio and making a significant step towards
business chain extension. All these initiatives implemented during the year
have achieved fruitful results of which the 300kW photovoltaic pilot project
undertaken by the Group, which has successfully commenced power
generation, together with the winning of tender in respect of the 13.5MW
“Golden Solar Demonstration Project” of the PRC government, reflect the
high recognition of the technology standard and product quality of the
Group.

08 Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited B ¢ BER1ZE AR B PR A B
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Looking to the future, via relentless efforts made by all segments of the
industry to enhance technology and efficiency, a continuous decrease
of solar power generation cost per watt is expected, thus accelerating
the realisation of grid parity for the cost of generating power via solar
power and that of the traditional fossil fuels. The management team and
| are confident in the prospect of the solar energy industry. In addition
to continuously enhancing its production capacity, technology level and
operational efficiency, the Group will expedite the development of the
downstream business to realise comprehensive business chain strategies
and proactively establish footholds in the overseas markets by capitalising
on the upward market trend. The Group strives to consolidate its existing
leading position, further increase its competitive strength and achieve
excellent results as a token of thanks for the support of its shareholders.

Last but not least, |, on behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company,
would like to express our gratitude to all staff for their dedicated services
and contributions throughout the year, as well as to all business partners
for their continuous trust. May we pull together to boost the continuous
development of the Group.

CHIAO Ping Hai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 March 2010
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BYE  HITEFREE

The solar energy industry has been rapidly developing in recent years.
One of the reasons for its rapid development is the increasing global
demand for energy during the course of global economic development.
While the traditional energy supply is becoming increasingly scarce,
solar energy, being one of the major sources of renewable energy in
the future, stands out with tremendous market potential. Environmental
protection has become a popular topic in recent years worldwide. In
December 2009, the world focused on the United Nations Climate
Change Conference held in Copenhagen, the capital of Denmark, where
for 13 days, meetings were attended by 193 country representatives to
negotiate agreement on the global reduction of carbon emissions for
2012 to 2017.

The United Nations Climate Change Conference, culminated in the
Copenhagen Accord which stated the increase in global temperatures
should be capped by 2 degrees Celsius, and also specified that
developed countries shall provide funding of US$30 billion to developing
countries in the next three years for the mitigation of global warming with
the amount to be extended to US$100 billion a year by 2020.

In the meantime, various nations have set down their own emission
reduction targets. The US White House announced on 30 January 2010
an increase in the US government’s targeted reduction of greenhouse gas
emissions. The new target aims at a reduction of 28% in greenhouse gas
emissions by the United States from the 2005 level by 2020, compared to
its previous commitment of a 17% reduction under the same conditions.
On the other hand, Japan has guaranteed a one-fourth reduction of
emissions from that of 1990 by 2020. The European Union plans to
achieve emissions reductions by enhancing energy utilisation rate, with
one-fifth of its energy supply being renewable energy.

TAN Wenhua, Executive Director and President
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Business Review
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Market Overview (Continued)

In recent years, the Central Government of the PRC has rolled out various
policies strongly supporting the development of the solar energy industry.
In April 2007, the National Development and Reform Commission
announced the “Eleventh Five Year Plan on Energy Development”,
emphasising that during the Eleventh Five Year Plan period, focus will be
placed on the development of renewable energy containing significant
development potential and generally well-developed technologies, such as
solar energy and wind energy.

With a series of government subsidies introduced during the year, 2009
was a period of rapid development for the solar energy industry in the
PRC. In March, the Ministry of Finance and the Ministry of Housing and
Urban-Rural Development of the PRC jointly announced the “Opinions
on Accelerating the Construction of Solar Photovoltaic Applications (B84
IRHEE RGN BREEAERZR)". The plan gives clear support
to the pilot projects of photovoltaic building applications. It also provided
subsidies of RMB20 per watt for qualified photovoltaic building application
pilot projects with an installed capacity of no less than 50KW.

In July, the Ministry of Finance, the Ministry of Science and Technology
and the National Energy Administration issued the “Notice on the
Successful Implementation of Photovoltaic Project of Golden Sun (B84
HFE KRG RETEEH T/EREH), proposing the provision of 50%
financial subsidies to grid-connected photovoltaic projects, while financial
subsidies as high as 70% are provided to off-grid photovoltaic projects
in regions with no grid power. In September, the “Development plan for
emerging energy industries (¥TEEREXZ R E)", stipulates a target
of 20GW solar energy generation by 2020.

Despite various industries being hit by the financial turmoil over the past
two years and having been strained by the substantial drop in inventory
prices, the solar energy industry has also benefited from the industry
consolidation brought about by the drop in inventory prices, which has
also increased the speed whereby the cost of generating power via
solar energy and that of traditional fossil fuels can reach grid parity at
a rate faster than expected. Coupled with an economic recovery since
the second half of 2009, demand for solar photovoltaic products has
gradually stabilised, leading to a faster and healthier development of the
solar energy industry.
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Operation Review

Improvement in operating environment brought by
economic recovery

During the first half of 2009, the solar energy industry was affected by
the financial crisis. Industry development was slowed down due to falling
market demand and some manufacturers of solar energy products
experiencing capital shortage and a substantial fall in the price of
polysilicon, the raw material, as market demand decreased. Nevertheless,
the economy began to rebound in the second half of 2009. With demand
for solar energy gradually picking up, leading to the healthier and faster
growth of the solar energy industry, the operating performance of the
Group also recorded significant improvement.

Since the third quarter of 2009, the average selling price for solar
photovoltaic products of the Company gradually began to stabilise,
with costs of inventory also returning to a steady level, contributing to
an overall much healthier operation for the fourth quarter over the third
quarter. In respect of the operations of its factories, the capacity utilisation
rate of the Company has significantly increased with a substantial
improvement in overall production output.

Expanding downstream business of solar energy

In 2009, the Group began to diversify its business and explore the
downstream business and took its first step towards vertical integration
to the downstream business of photovoltaic modules and the terminal
systems application market.

In the beginning of 2009, the PRC government announced that subsidies
would be provided to the products of Building Integrated Photovoltaic
(“BIPV”). In line with the memorandum of understanding entered into
between Jinzhou Municipal Government and the Group in relation to the
development of the 10OMW “China Solar Roof Plan” in Jinzhou, Liaoning
Province, the Group announced on 27 April 2009 that it had committed
to set up Jinzhou Jinmao Photovoltaic Technology Company Limited
(“dinzhou Jinmao”) in Jinzhou, Liaoning Province with two independent
third parties, including Kinmac Holdings Limited, which is wholly-owned
by Kinmac Solar Corporation.

Jinzhou Jinmao is primarily engaged in the production and sales of
photovoltaic modules as well as the design and installation of photovoltaic
systems. The registered capital of Jinzhou Jinmao is RMB40,000,000,
of which RMB20,400,000 has been contributed in cash from the internal
resources of the Group. Jinzhou Jinmao was formally established on
17 July 2009 and the Group currently owns a 51% interest in Jinzhou
Jinmao.
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Business Review
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Operation Review (Continued)

Improvement in operating environment brought by
economic recovery (Continued)

With a current designed annual capacity for modules of 50MW, Jinzhou
Jinmao is committed to the research and development, production and
sales of photovoltaic modules and application technologies with high
performance values. The products currently provided by Jinzhou Jinmao
include: standard photovoltaic components, integrated power systems
and customised photovoltaic components (including building photovoltaic
systems), which are sold domestically.

As the Group’s first step to expand its business chain, the Group
undertook a foundational 300kW photovoltaic demonstration project
in Binhai New District, Jinzhou. The project integrated various kinds of
photovoltaic modules in one, including terrestrial photovoltaic power
generation systems, BIPV systems, solar roof systems and solar road
lighting. The aggregate investment of the project was approximately
RMB11 million and has commenced power generation successfully
before the end of 2009.

Exploring new financing platforms

On 11 December 2009, the Group successfully issued TDR on the Taiwan
Stock Exchange (the “TDR lIssue”), in order to broaden and diversify
the existing shareholder base of the Company as well as to provide an
additional fund-raising platform for future business development. The
Group issued 100,000,000 units of TDR at a unit issue price of NT$9.45
(equivalent to approximately RMB2.01) in Taiwan to raise a gross amount
of approximately NT$945 million (RMB201 million). The net proceeds from
the TDR Issue have been used to purchase machinery and equipment
so as to expand the production capacity of the Group. Taiwan Polaris
Securities Corporation Limited was the principal underwriter of the TDR
Issue.

Enhancing capacity with additional facilities and
broadening product portfolio

In respect of enhancing the Group’s production capacity, during the year
under review, the Group purchased four new multicrystalline casting
furnaces, which all commenced commercial production in the fourth
quarter of 2009, further diversifying the Group’s product mix.

As at 31 December 2009, the Group was equipped with 197
monocrystalline ingot pullers, 40 wiresaws and four multicrystalline
casting furnaces, with an aggregate annual capacity of 2,000 tonnes of
monocrystalline silicon solar ingots, 200 tonnes of multicrystalline silicon
solar ingots and approximately 75,000,000 pieces of silicon solar wafers.
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Operation Review (continued)

Enhancing capacity with additional facilities and
broadening product portfolio (Continued)

In addition, the Group operates polysilicon reclaiming and upgrading
facilities in Shanghai and Jinzhou. These reclaiming facilities enable the
Group to gain production cost advantages on solar products. As at 31
December 2009, the polysilicon reclaiming and upgrading facilities had
an aggregate annual designed throughput of 4,200 tonnes. In early 2009,
the Group calculated the reference value of the annual solar energy
conversion capacity of its existing facilities to be 200MW. However,
following technological advancements in various production processes, as
well as a tremendous enhancement in production efficiency and capacity,
the reference value of solar energy conversion capacity was revised to
350MW at the end of 2009, far surpassing the target set by the Group.

For the purpose of expanding production capacity of monocrystalline
silicon solar ingots, the Group has started to expand its product ranges
with various features and functions since last year. In an effort to meet
customers’ demands, the Group developed wafers which can be used in
the production of solar cells with higher conversion efficiency. Capitalising
on its advanced technological know-how, the Group will further
explore its multicrystalline silicon solar ingots and wafers manufacturing
business with an aim of becoming one of the major manufacturers of
multicrystalline silicon solar ingots and wafers worldwide.

Enhancing research and development to strengthen
production efficiency

In addition, the Group highly values its cooperation with international
enterprises for research and development on solar technology, and
continues to increase its investment in research and development, to
work closely with strategic business partners in different countries and
regions for technology exchange and close cooperation. The research
and development centre jointly set up by the Group and Dalian University
of Technology was completed in the third quarter of 2009. It is equipped
with internationally-leading technologies to help nurture research and
development technicians and to develop new products and technologies.

The Company is fully-equipped with comprehensive pilot production
equipment and testing devices and has continuously improved its
research and development efforts. It has joined hands with Dalian
University of Technology and Liaoning Institute of Technology respectively
to commence collaboration on production, study and research, working
together on the research and development of technologies and products
related to solar cells. Through market research and feedback from the
marketing department, more effort will be placed on developing new
products required by the market, while the technology department will
determine research targets and formulate written missions.
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Operation Review (Continued)

Exploring customers

The Group’s products are now primarily sold to more than a dozen
countries and regions, including the Mainland China, North America,
Japan, Germany, Taiwan and Hong Kong, with a technological level
reaching advanced international standards. During the year under review,
the Group established a marketing centre in Shanghai and also appointed
sales representatives stationed at overseas locations such as Japan and
the United States, aimed at exploring the overseas market.

Future prospects and strategies

In light of the non-renewable characteristic of traditional energy, various
nations are all accelerating their pace of new energy development,
amongst which the development of the solar energy industry has
no doubt become a global trend. Therefore, the Group believes the
prospects of the solar energy industry to be promising.

Various countries and organisations in the world are proactively promoting
the development of the solar energy industry, among which, the
European Union plans to significantly reduce the emission of greenhouse
gases by 2020 and to increase the proportion of renewable energy. It
plans to achieve emission reduction by enhancing energy utilisation rate,
with one-fifth of its energy supply being renewable energy. The United
States government has also formulated a set of energy strategies which
emphasise the cutting down on environmental pollution and will shift
Federal spending on energy from petroleum production to local clean
energy.

In Asia, the Japanese government has set down plans to reduce the
emission of greenhouse gases to between 60% and 80% of that in 1990
by 2050. The PRC government also has spared no effort to promote
renewable energy. The National Development and Reform Commission
indicated that the PRC will invest RMB200 billion in the renewable energy
market before 2020, exemplifying the tremendous potential of solar
energy.
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Future prospects and strategies continued)

The above measures clearly demonstrate the commitments of different
countries around the globe and the PRC government towards the
promotion of the solar energy industry. Being a leader in the solar energy
photovoltaic industry in the PRC, the Group expects that the various
policies to subsidise the solar energy industry initiated by various nations
will have a positive impact on the long-term development of the Group.
The Group will continue to focus on enhancing its competitive strengths
and operational efficiency, expanding its market share and strengthening
its market position, so as to be well-positioned to capture market
opportunities. The Group will stride forward to its goal of becoming the
largest manufacturer of monocrystalline silicon solar ingots and wafers in
the world and one of the major manufacturers of multicrystalline silicon
solar ingots and wafers, as well as promoting the usage of solar energy
and achieving a sustainable living environment by proactively developing
its downstream business, entering the photovoltaic modules and terminal
system market through the following major development strategies:

Enhancing production capacity and increasing product
range

During 2009, the Group has started the development of solar modules
and the installation of solar power generation systems by setting up
a 51%-owned joint venture company, Jinzhou Jinmao. The designed
annual production capacity of solar modules of the plants at Jinzhou
Jinmao as at year end of 2009 was 50MW.

To cope with the need for expanding capacity, the Group will gradually
complete the construction of a new production plant which can
accommodate 200 monocrystalline ingot pullers, 40 wiresaws and
100MW solar modules production capacity in 2010. The Group targets
to increase the number of its facilities to 397 monocrystalline ingot
pullers and 80 wiresaws in the year 2010, by then the annual production
capacity will be increased to 4,000 tonnes of monocrystalline silicon solar
ingots and approximately 150,000,000 pieces of silicon solar wafers,
while annual production capacity of multicrystalline silicon solar ingots
will be expanded to 500 tonnes. The Group aims to double the reference
value of its existing annual solar energy conversion capacity, from 350MW
to 700MW by 2010. Also, the Group will allocate resources to the
manufacturing of multicrystalline silicon ingots and wafers, to enhance its
technological standards, so as to achieve the target of becoming a major
manufacturer of multicrystalline silicon solar ingots and wafers.
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Future prospects and strategies (continued)
Enhancing the research and development investment to
strengthen its competitiveness

The Group’s leading position in the industry of manufacturing
monocrystalline silicon solar ingots is attributable to its high research and
development capability which is one of the keys to the Group’s success.
Accordingly, the Group will put more effort in this aspect to continue
to optimise its ability to improve ingot crystallisation, wafer slicing and
reclaiming and upgrading of polysilicon. The Group will also enhance
production efficiency and reduce operating costs through an exchange of
technologies and the introduction of the latest technologies.

The Group will continue to upgrade its production technologies and is
expected to introduce monocrystalline ingot pullers model no. 970 in early
June 2010 to produce monocrystalline silicon solar ingots of 8 inches and
8.7 inches as well as small angled and right-angled monocrystalline silicon
solar wafers of 156mm x 1566mm. This type of silicon wafer will have a
larger surface area, therefore increasing the wattage output after they are
processed into solar cells. The conversion efficiency will also be higher
than 125mm x 125mm monocrystalline silicon solar wafers. Following
further optimisation of the Group’s slicing technology, the Group will be
able to produce monocrystalline silicon solar wafers of 150um to 180pum
of thickness. In the meantime, the Group will also fulfil specific customer
requirements by developing wafers which can be used for the production
of solar cells with higher conversion efficiency, which in turn can be used
for the production of modules of higher wattage output.

The Group will continue to enhance production efficiency through
technology innovations, and will strive to improve on product quality so
as to satisfy the needs of the market, as well as continue to vertically-
integrate its production, and to leverage on its exclusive state-of-the-art
production technology to upgrade its products. The Group will continue to
via its vertically integrated business model to further promote production
efficiency and reduce operating costs.

Increasing overseas business sales

As discussed above, the Group has started to explore new customers
in overseas markets. The Group plans to increase the proportion of its
overseas businesses, and hopes to gradually increase the proportion
of turnover from overseas businesses to account for 50% of the total
turnover of the Group.
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Future prospects and strategies continued)
Developing downstream business to create synergies

In April 2009, the Group established Jinzhou Jinmao which is engaged in
the production and sales of photovoltaic modules and fully demonstrates
our determination to develop downstream businesses. The Group
will further develop the downstream business in the future by quickly
exploring the downstream business market of photovoltaic industries in
the PRC and abroad, and provide our customers with quality module
products with higher stability and efficiency.

The 300KW photovoltaic power station undertaken by the Group has
been successfully connected to the power grid during the year, signifying
a major step in the Group’s efforts in expanding into the downstream
business, as well as setting down a solid foundation for its downstream
business development. The Group will strive to capture opportunities and
focus on the development of the downstream business. The Group’s
target for the downstream business for 2010 is to increase the annual
capacity of its monocrystalline and multicrystalline silicon photovoltaic
modules from 50MW of 2009 to 100MW.

The management is of the view that in light of increasing global concerns
on clean energy, the development of renewable energy will gradually
accelerate. Looking forward, the Group will make use of its existing
business structure to further expand its product varieties in the supply
chain of the photovoltaic industry. In addition, the Group will continue to
adopt a prudent development strategy, which will be adjusted in response
to market changes. Leveraging on its solid foundation of business
operations and financial position, the Group is capable of improving its
competitive strength and operating efficiency and expanding its market
share while continuously seeking opportunities for business development,
striving to bring the best return to its shareholders, and undoubtedly
contributing to protecting our Earth for the promotion of a sustainable
living environment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BN D

Turnover

The Group’s turnover decreased year-on-year by 55.9%, from
RMB1,492.9 million in 2008 to RMB658.7 million in 2009. The significant
downturn in the global financial markets in 2009 weakened the market
demand for energy products which in turn destabilised the price of silicon

solar ingots and wafers.

1.  Sales of monocrystalline silicon ingots/wafers/modules decreased 1.
by 51.6% from RMB1,229.0 million to RMB595.4 million as the
average selling prices of solar products continue to decrease
during the year. During the year, 43,091 kg (2008: 150,124 kg) of
monocrystalline silicon solar ingots and 34.8 million pieces (2008:

21.9 million pieces) of silicon solar wafers were sold.

2. Revenue from processing service fees decreased by 69.3% from 2.
RMB113.3 million to RMB34.8 million. The volume of ingots
processed decreased from 225,886 kg in 2008 to 65,244 kg
in 2009 and the volume of wafers processed decreased from

1,326,888 pieces in 2008 to 706,440 pieces in 2009.

3. Sales of upgrading polysilicon decrease by 84.3% from RMB150.6 3.

million to RMB27.6 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEEWR DN

Turnover (Continued)

In terms of geographical contribution, revenue was mainly generated
from our PRC customers which accounted for 78.3% (2008: 74.8%) of
the Group’s turnover. During the year, the Group successfully developed
new customers from North America, with the customers from this region
significantly increased to 11.2% (2008: 0.8%) of the Group’s turnover.
The remaining sales were generated from Japan (6.0%), Taiwan (3.3%),
Europe (1.0%), and others (0.2%).

Cost of sales

Cost of sales decreased by 47.6% from RMB1,267.4 million to RMB664.5
million. As a percentage of the Group’s turnover, cost of sales increased
from approximately 84.9% to 100.9%. The polysilicon price declined
rapidly during the first half of 2009 and, therefore, led to the write-down of
inventories of RMB172.6 million (2008: RMB220.2 million) in 2009 which
in turn increased the proportionate cost for the year under review.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group recorded a gross loss of RMB5.8 million (2008: gross profit
of RMB225.5 million) in 2009, which was mainly attributable to the write-
down of inventories of RMB172.6 million (2008: RMB220.2 million) due
to the continuous fall in raw material prices and product selling prices
caused by the weakened demand for energy products in 2009. Excluding
the effect of the write-down of inventories, the gross profit of the Group
in 2009 would have been RMB166.8 million (2008: RMB445.7 million),
decreased by 62.6% as compared to 2008, and the gross profit margin
of the Group in 2009 would have been 25.3% (2008: 29.9%), declined by
4.6 percentage points as compared to 2008.
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Other revenue

Other revenue during the year under review mainly comprised government
grants, interest income from bank deposits, rental income from operating
leases and income from sale of scrap materials.

Other net income/(loss)
Other net income mainly comprised net foreign exchange gain amounting
to RMB3.8 million (2008: loss of RMB 7.6 million).

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses comprised mainly packaging expenses,
freight charges and insurance expenses. There was a decrease of 22.1%,
from RMB6.8 million in 2008 to RMB5.3 million in 2009. Selling and
distributing expenses accounted for 0.8% (2008: 0.5%) of the Group’s
total turnover. Such a decrease was in line with the decrease in turnover.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses comprised equity-settled share-based payment
expenses of RMB25.0 million (2008: RMB24.4 million) as well as salaries,
wages and bonuses.

R &

HAU A
B KLt R\ E B BEBATHE - RITEROF
SR - SERENASRARHERRHMA -

Hituwzs, (518 ) F 58
Hh 2 558 = ZEIEE 5 R F 5 A K #S,800,0007T
—ZZ)\F 5B AR®7,600,0007T) ©

HEK DX
HERSHEHXIECROLERMY  BEERRBES -
HERDHBEXH =TT NFHN AKME,800,0007T
WE =T NFEHARYES,300,0007T @ #AD22.1% ° 8
ER D HEATEARNEBMBALEEENSN(ZTEZNE :
0.5%) ° ILim i B2 e SR AR AR T o

TR
TRMXBEREREEURG T HRENZARS
25,000,000t (=ZZN\F : AR¥24,400,0007T) AR
He THRWA

Annual Report 2009 &3} 23



Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEEWR DN

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs increased by RMB12.6 million, or 381.8%,
from RMB3.3 million in 2008 to RMB15.9 million in 2009. Finance costs
represented mainly interest on bank loans and other borrowings wholly
repayable within five years and interests on municipal government loan.
The reason for the increase in finance costs was due to the additional
bank borrowings made during the year to meet working capital
requirements.

Income tax

Due to the recognition of deferred tax assets, net tax benefit amounting
to RMB16.6 million was recorded during the year. Income tax expenses
were RMB34.0 million in 2008.

Net loss attributable to the equity shareholders
The Group recorded a loss attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company of RMB98.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2009,
which was mainly due to a decrease in gross profit triggered by the
write-down of inventories by RMB172.6 million during the year. Profit
attributable to the equity shareholders was RMB83.4 million in 2008.

Inventory turnover days

The inventories of the Group comprised mainly raw materials (namely
polysilicon, crucibles and other auxiliary raw materials) and finished
goods. The inventory turnover days as at 31 December 2009 was 230
days (2008: 77 days) and such increase was mainly due to the increase in
inventory balance in order to prepare for the Group’s production capacity
ramp up process starting from the second half of 2009.

Trade receivable turnover days
The trade receivable turnover days as at 31 December 2009 was 77 days
(2008: 23 days).

The market led by supply swiftly changed to a market led by demand
since the financial crisis in 2008. Taking into account the actual condition
as well as the long-term business relationship with customers, we
increased the number of customers who can enjoy a longer credit term
in 2009. As a result, trade receivable turnover days have increased.
Currently, the Group normally allows a credit period of 30 to 90 days to
its customers.
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Trade payable turnover days

The trade payable turnover days as at 31 December 2009 was 61 days
(2008: 26 days). Our good long-term relationship with suppliers enabled
the Group being granted reasonable credit terms throughout the year.

Liquidity and financial resources

On 4 December 2009, the Company entered into an underwriting
agreement (the “Underwriting Agreement”) with Taiwan Polaris Securities
Corporation Limited (for itself and on behalf of the other underwriters)
in connection with the TDR Issue. Pursuant to which the underwriters
agreed to subscribe for, and agreed to procure, on a fully underwritten
basis, subscribers for, an aggregate of 100 million units of TDR
representing in aggregate 100 million newly issued shares at the price
of NT$9.45 (equivalent to RMB2.01) per TDR, and the Company agreed
to issue and allot 100 million new shares as underlying securities for
the TDR programme. The issuance of 100 million units of TDR and the
100 million new shares as underlying securities for the TDR programme
pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement was completed on 10 December
2009 and the net proceeds of approximately RMB196.8 million were
received. Details of the TDR Issue were disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 4 December 2009 and 10 December 2009.

The Group’s principal sources of working capital in the current year
included cash flow from operating activities, bank and other borrowings,
and the proceeds from the TDR Issue. As at 31 December 2009, the
Group’s current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities) was 2.3
(2008: 2.2). As at 31 December 2009, the Group had net borrowings of
RMB82.2 million (2008: net cash of RMB77.8 million) which represented
cash and cash equivalent of RMB236.2 million (2008: RMB270.4 million),
pledged deposits of RMB44.1 million (2008: RMB25.0 million), short-
term bank loans of RMB289.3 million (2008: RMB214.6 million), long-
term bank loan of RMB70 million (2008: RMBNil) and long-term municipal
government loan of RMB3.2 million (2008: RMB3.0 million). Net debt-to-
equity ratio (net debt divided by shareholders’ equity) was 5.9% (2008:
net cash-to-equity ratio of 6.2%). These ratios demonstrate that the
Group’s financial position remains healthy and enabled us to overcome
the adverse impacts from the global economic slowdown as well as to
facilitate future development.

B8 Z R iAEH
R-ZEZAE+-A=+—-BANENESRFABAEAH
A61H(ZZZTN\F : 26H) - RMEMHERCELRY
RIFEER MR ERNERSGENEES -

REBEESRIKEER
REZZZAFE+-AMNA > AAFHEAEEREFR
BERABR(MELAGERREMEHERET) A EFT
BEBRTILAHEDE ((EHERE]) - Bt 8D
EERBYRARRE(REIECHEE)RBELRES
#£100,000,000 BB EFERFH » PREEHAEEFT
BREHAMILIT(HERARKE201T) WEKEH
£ 17 100,000,000 % % B% - 48 2 7 [ &= 8 17 & & &
100,000,000 2 %78 FRB A EFERESTEHER
% o RI5 B 12317 100,000,00017 B EFEEER
100,000,000 #1 BB & B E T REEEEESFER
“EENE+-A+ARK CWERFTEBREFENA
[R#£196,800,0007t ° AEFFERFERITHE » RAAH
BfA—TENE+-_ANBR=-ZZTAFE+=A+AH
Z A o

AEBAEEFTELEESREALLETHEENRES
wRE  RITREMEEUARBITREFTRIFMESR
BeRZZBEAF+-A=1+—08 > XEENREL
R(RBEERABERB) B23(ZFFN\E 1 22) o &K
SEER-ZEANF+-A=T—HEEBFEARE
82,200,000t (= ZEN\F : B& FHEARK77,800,000
T RERFEERRESEEY AREE236,200,0007T (=
ZTZT)\F . AR¥270,400,0007T) * EEFERARE
44,100,000t (= ZZ \F : AR#25,000,0007T) * &
HISRITE R A R#289,300,000 T (ZBEENE : AR
#214,600,0007T ) ~ R HA4R 1T & 7 A B # 70,000,000
T(ZBEN\F  ARBZX)RTEBNRBERARE
3,200,000t (ZZZN\EF : AR#¥3,000,0007T) ° F&
B E (B EFERRRER)B5.9% (=TT N\F
HEFEEERILEE.2%) o ZELLRFRAEETBHAR
HEER EURREBREERES RN TR EUR
BT RRER o

Annual Report 2009 %% 25



Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEWR D

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 December 2009, there were no material contingent liabilities.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through sales
and purchases and cash and bank deposits that are denominated in a
currency other than Renminbi, the functional currency of the operations to
which they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk to the Group are
primarily the United States Dollar and the Hong Kong Dollar. The Directors
do not expect any significant impact from movements in exchange rates
since the Group uses foreign currencies collected from customers to
settle the amounts due to suppliers. In addition, the Directors ensure that
the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling the
United States Dollar at spot rates where necessary to address short-term
imbalances.

Human resources

As at 31 December 2009, the Group had 1,182 (2008: 1,186) employees.
Employee benefit expense decreased from RMB69,911,000 in 2008 to
RMB66,317,000 in 2009, which represented a decrease of 5.1%. The
remuneration of the existing employees is basic salary, discretionary
bonus, share-based payments and social security contributions. Pay
levels of the employees commensurate with their responsibilities,
performances and contributions.
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Corporate Governance Report
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Overview

The Board strived to uphold good corporate governance and adopted
sound corporate governance practices. This report outlines the principles
and the code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) which have been
adopted by the Group.

The Company has established the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) in compliance with the Code to oversee the financial
reporting procedures and internal controls of the Group so as to ensure
compliance with the Listing Rules. The Company has also established a
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and a remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) (collectively, the “Board
Committees”) with defined terms of reference. The terms of reference of
the Board Committees are available upon request.

Despite the removal of the requirement for a qualified accountant in the
Listing Rules effective 1 January 2009, the Group continues to maintain
the post of a qualified accountant to oversee its financial reporting and
other accounting-related issues in accordance with the relevant laws,
rules and regulations.

The Group has implemented a compliance manual which covers areas
such as ongoing compliance obligations of the Company and the
Directors, business operations of the Group, financial management
systems, human resources management systems, internal control
systems, quality assurance and property management systems. All
the code provisions set out in the Code were met by the Company
throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2009.

Compliance with the Model Code for Directors’
Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as the standard for securities transactions entered
into by Directors. The Company has made specific enquiries of all the
Directors and all the Directors confirmed that they have complied with the
required standards as set out in the Model Code and its code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions throughout the financial year
ended 31 December 2009.
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The Board of Directors

The Board takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of the
Company, including the formulation and approval of overall business
strategies, internal control and risk management systems, and monitoring
the performance of the senior management. The Directors have the
responsibility to act objectively in the interests of the Company.

Currently, the Board comprises nine Directors, including three executive
Directors: Mr. TAN Wenhua, Mr. HSU You Yuan and Ms. ZHANG Liming,
two non-executive Directors: Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai and Mr. CHONG Kin
Ngai and four independent non-executive Directors: Mr. WONG Wing
Kuen, Albert, Ms. FU Shuangye, Dr. LIN Wen and Mr. ZHANG Chun. The
names and biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 35
to 39 of the annual report. The Board has a strong independent element
in its composition with over half of the board members being non-
executive Directors to ensure that all decisions of the Board are made in
the best interest of the Group’s long-term development.

The Board has delegated various responsibilities to the Board
Committees. Further details of these committees are set out below on
pages 31 to 33.

Board Meetings

The Company holds Board meetings regularly, at least four times a
year at approximately quarterly intervals. Ad-hoc meetings will also be
convened if necessary to discuss the overall strategy as well as the
operation and financial performance of the Group. Notice of Board
meeting will be sent to all Directors at least 14 days prior to a regular
Board meeting. Reasonable notices will be given to the Directors for ad-
hoc Board meetings in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company. Directors may participate either in person or through electronic
means of communications. The Company will provide relevant materials
to all the Directors relating to the matters brought before the meetings. All
the Directors will be provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties, and, upon reasonable request, the Directors will be able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses. All Directors will have the opportunity to include
matters in the agenda for Board meetings.
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Board Meetings (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2009, 11 meetings were held by the
Board and the attendance of individual Directors at these meetings is set
out below:

Name of Directors Attendance

Executive Directors

Mr. TAN Wenhua 11/11
Ms. Zhang Liming 10/11
Mr. HSU You Yuan 11/11

Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai (Chairman) 10/11
Mr. CHONG Kin Ngai 8/11

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert 10/11
Ms. FU Shuangye 10/11
Dr. LIN Wen 10/11
Mr. Zhang Chun 10/11

Independent non-executive Directors

All independent non-executive Directors possess a wealth of professional
and industry expertise and management experience and have provided
their professional advices to the Board. They have played a significant role
in the Board by virtue of their independent judgment and their views carry
significant weight in the Board’s decision. In particular, they bring impartial
views to the Board on issues of the Company’s strategy, performance
and control. The Board also considers that independent non-executive
Directors provide independent advice on the Company’s business
strategy, results and management so that all interests of shareholders
are taken into consideration, and the interests of the Company and its
shareholders are taken into account in all business decisions.
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Appointments, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

Each of the executive Directors of the Company has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a specific term of three years commencing
from 31 March 2008. Such terms are subject to re-appointment by the
Company at an annual general meeting upon retirement.

All of the independent non-executive Directors and non-executive
Directors were appointed for an initial term of three years from 1
February 2008, and are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
in accordance with the articles of association of the Company. In
accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. HSU You Yuan, Mr. CHONG Kin Ngai and Mr. ZHANG Chun will retire
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and being eligible,
have agreed to offer themselves for re-election. The Company considers
that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The role of the Chairman is performed
by Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai. Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai is a non-executive Director
who is responsible for the management of the Board but does not
involve in the day-to-day management of the Group’s business. He has
contributed valuable inputs to the Group’s business direction with a
wealth of industry expertise.

The role of the CEO is performed by Mr. HSU You Yuan. The overall
management of the Company was performed by the CEO, executive
Directors and senior management of the Company. The executive
Directors (Mr. HSU You Yuan, Mr. TAN Wenhua and Ms. ZHANG
Liming) who have extensive experience in the solar energy industry
and their respective areas of profession, spearhead the Group’s overall
development and business strategies.
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Board Committees

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee pursuant to a resolution
of the Directors passed on 27 February 2008 in compliance with Rules
3.21 to 3.23 and Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to oversee the financial reporting processes
and internal control procedures of the Group, to review the financial
information of the Group and to consider issues relating to the external
auditor. The Audit Committee consists of five non-executive Directors;
four of whom are independent non-executive Directors.

In 2009, the Audit Committee met 2 times and the attendance of
individual Directors at these meetings is set out below:

Name of Directors Attendance
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman) 2/2
Ms. FU Shuangye 2/2
Dr. LIN Wen 2/2
Mr. ZHANG Chun 2/2
Non-executive Director

Mr. CHONG Kin Ngai 2/2

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s interim and annual
consolidated financial statements for the year 2009, including the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, and has also
discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters with
the management.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 27 February 2008 in compliance
with Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee are to make recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s structure for remuneration of Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration. The Remuneration
Committee consists of five members; four of whom are independent non-
executive Directors and one is the executive Director.
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Board Committees (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

In 2009, the Remuneration Committee met once and the attendance of
individual Directors at the meeting is set out below:

Name of Directors Attendance
Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. FU Shuangye (Chairman) 11
Mr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert 1/1
Dr. LIN Wen 11
Mr. Zhang Chun 11
Executive Director

Mr. TAN Wenhua 11

The Remuneration Committee has made recommendations to the Board
regarding the remuneration policy of the Company. In addition, it has also
reviewed and approved performance-based remuneration by reference to
corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board, and ensured that
no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

Nomination Committee

The Company established a Nomination Committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 27 February 2008 in compliance
with Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for recruiting Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of formal and transparent
procedures for nomination procedures and process and criteria adopted
by the Nomination Committee to select and recommend candidates
for directorship and senior management. The Nomination Committee
consists of five members; four of whom are independent nonexecutive
Directors and one is the executive Director.

32 Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited B 3¢ BER1ZE IR B PR A B

EEZE=E@m)

FEEEE)

R-ZZTNF > FHZEESZETIREE  MERES
EEEESENEREIMT

EEHS HE=R
BYFHITES

BRELE(EF) 11
FoRERE 1/
ML 1/1
RIGEE 1/1
HITES

B ELE 11

FHESESCHAARFHEROESSRMAES - It
o ZEEBENESEEEEREZARNBERRE
WA RIERRBHN 2 HH  TREREEESHK 2
EMBHEALSEBEARSHHMZRE

REAZEY

BREHRAMZTONEE  AOGEERBEEER=
EENFE_A-+LtHBBHNRAERRRIRERZES
REZEENTERERNAQAAEERSREEASE
HEABRRREBUERBRIEEAZESHNTREREER
SREBABRBEARANREEREFRGFGERIERXR
BEEPENREF  DEESS/FHERBER - REZ8Y
BHEEREAN  EYNEABYFATEER—EH
HITEE -



Board Committees (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

In 2009, the Nomination Committee met once and the attendance of
individual Directors at the meeting is set out below:

Name of Directors Attendance
Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. LIN Wen (Chairman) 11
Mr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert 1/1
Ms. FU Shuangye 11
Mr. ZHANG Chun 11
Executive Director

Mr. HSU You Yuan 11

The Nomination Committee has discussed matters relating to the
appointment of senior management members during the year.

Compliance with the non-competition
undertakings by Directors

The Company has made specific enquiries of all the Directors who
confirmed that throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2009,
they have complied with the non-competition undertakings dated 27
February 2008 given by each of the Directors in favour of the Company.

Financial Reporting and Internal Control
Financial Reporting

The Board, supported by the Chief Financial Officer and the Finance
Department of the Company, is responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements of the Company and the Group. In the preparation
of financial statements, Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
have been adopted and the appropriate accounting policies have been
consistently used and applied. The Board aims to present a clear and
balanced assessment of the Group’s performance in the annual and
interim reports to the shareholders, and make appropriate disclosure and
announcements in a timely manner.

External Auditor

During the year ended 31 December 2009, the fees paid and payable to
the external auditor of the Company in respect of audit services amounted
to approximately RMB1,498,000 (2008: RMB2,250,000). In addition,
approximately RMB207,000 (2008: RMB832,500) was charged for other
non-statutory services which mainly consisted of tax services and TDR
issuance cost.
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Financial Reporting and Internal Control (continued)
Internal control

The Board is responsible for the internal control of the Group and for
reviewing its effectiveness in accordance with paragraphs C.2.1 and C.2.2
of Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The Company conducted regular
review to monitor the Company’s internal management and operation
during the year. The annual review covered all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions. Procedures have been designed to ensure maintenance of
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information
for internal use or for publication, ensure compliance of applicable laws,
rules and regulations.

In order to fulfil their fiduciary duties and duties of skill, care and diligence,
the Directors will constantly seek advice and assistance from the
Company’s internal legal team and if necessary, seek advice from external
legal advisers in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Company also adopted
internal control procedures relating to, among others, signing authority
and procedures since February 2007. The Company has an Audit and
Legal Department consisting 3 members, one of whom was a former
registered PRC lawyer with extensive experience in the legal field. The
main duties of the Audit and Legal department are:

o providing legal advice on major business decisions
° reviewing and drafting legal documents

° handling legal disputes

° advising on legal issues related to daily operations
° conducting internal training for compliance matters

Directors’ responsibility on the financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2009, which were prepared
in accordance with applicable accounting standards in Hong Kong.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditor of the Company on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group are set out in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 79 to 80.

Going concern

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

EENSREEAERE

Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. TAN Wenhua (GEX ), aged 53, the President of the Jinzhou Plants.
He was one of the founders of the Jinzhou Plants. He was conferred
various honours including the Model for the Labour of the Building
Materials Systems of the Nation, the medal of “May 1st” Labour of
Liaoning Province, the Outstanding Member of the China Communist
Party, the Outstanding Entrepreneur of the Building Materials Industry of
the Nation, and the Venture Entrepreneur of the Liaoning Province. He is
also a guest professor of Liaoning University of Technology. Prior to the
founding of Jinzhou Plants, he was the Chairman of $8 4372 A 23R 18 (5
B)AREE2R T (Jinzhou Xinhua Quartz Glass (Group) Co., Ltd.*) and the
President and the Vice President of §#4N—H AR (Jinzhou 155 Factory®),
a state-owned factory engaging in quartz crucibles manufacturing. He
has been granted a special subsidy by the State Council since 2004 for
his contribution in engineering technology. He was elected as a delegate
of the 11th National People’s Congress of the People’s Republic of China
in 2007.

Mr. HSU You Yuan (FF# i %4), aged 55, the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company. He joined the Group on 6 February 2007 and was
appointed an executive Director on the same date. He graduated with
a master degree in Business Administration from the Chinese Culture
University in 1980. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. HSU was the President
of Wafer Works Corp. (“WWX?”) from February 1998 to June 2003 and
later became the Vice-Chairman of the board of WWX in June 2008.
WWX is a manufacturer of silicon wafer for the semiconductor industry
and is listed on the Gre Tai Securities Market in Taiwan since May 2002.
He was the managing director of Silicon Technology Investment (Cayman)
Corp. and was appointed the Chief Executive Officer of Solar Technology
Investment (Cayman) Corp.,
WWHX’s investment in the solar energy industry. In March 2006, he was
appointed a director and he was subsequently appointed as the Chairman
of the board of Jinzhou Youhua in September 2006. Mr. HSU’s previous
work credentials also include acting as Vice-President of Mosel Vitelic
Inc., a company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange and as a member
of the board of directors and Executive Vice-President of Mosel Vitelic
(Hong Kong) Limited, a subsidiary of Mosel Vitelic Inc. Mr. HSU had also
made contributions to non-commercial sectors in the past. He served as
a researcher, a deputy director, and the director of Business Department
of the Executive Yuan Development Fund. He was also a lecturer of
Statistics and Managerial Mathematics for the Business Administration
department at the Chinese Culture University.

responsible for overseeing, amongst others,
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Directors (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. ZHANG Liming (3REERB), aged 52, the Director of Administration (17
e of the Jinzhou Plants. She joined the Original Group (i.e. the Group
prior to the acquisition of the Acquired Group) on 1 April 2003 responsible
for overseeing, amongst others, the administration of the Original Group.
She is also the chairman of the labour union of the Jinzhou Plants. She
graduated from the Faculty of Economic Management of the Party School
of the CPC Central Committee in 1996. Prior to joining the Group, she
was appointed as the head of the supply division of £/ 7 5 3% T8 1% 23 R
(Jinzhou Quartz Glass Instrument Factory®), the director of management
of $EMTTEREMBHBERREEAT (Jinzhou Crystalline Material Co.,
Ltd.*) during 1993 to 1994 and the general manager of $8/NZEBF K& T
SRAMRAT (Jinzhou Huaming Crystal Art & Craft Co., Limited*) during
1994 to 2003.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai (£¥8), aged 59, the Chairman of the Board. He
was appointed a non-executive Director in July 2007. He graduated
from the Chung Yuen University with a bachelor degree in Chemical
Engineering and master degree in Chemistry from the University of
California, San Jose in 1973 and 1978, respectively. He is the Chairman
and General Manager of WWX and the President of Helitek Company
Ltd., a subsidiary of WWX.

Mr. CHONG Kin Ngai (#E%%), aged 58, a non-executive Director. He
joined the Group in June 2002 when Prosperity Lamps & Components
Limited (“PLC”) became a joint venture partner of Jinzhou Huachang.
He was appointed a non-executive Director in July 2007. Mr. CHONG
obtained his bachelor of Arts degree from the University of Hong Kong
and obtained his Master of Business Administration degree from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is the Chairman of board of director
of PLC, Vice-Chairman of the board of director of Foshan Electrical and
Lighting Company Limited, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, and Vice-Chairman of Jinzhou Youxin. He has been engaging
in the production and trading of electro-optical products for more than 30
years.
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Directors (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (£ k%), aged 58, was appointed an
independent non-executive Director on 12 January 2008. Mr. Wong
is a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators, The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries,
The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, Securities & Investment Institute,
Hong Kong Institute of Directors, Chartered Management Institute, UK,
Association of International Accountants, Society of Registered Financial
Planners, Hong Kong, as well as a member of Hong Kong Securities
Institute, The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators, Macau Society of Certified
Practising Accountants, The Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in Ireland, UK and an associate member of The Chartered Institute of
Bankers in Scotland, UK. Mr. WONG had also been a director and Chief
Executive Officer of Minghua Group International Holdings Limited, a listed
public company in the United States, until 30 September 2004. According
to the filings made available to public through the EDGAR database
in U.S., for the quarterly period ended 30 September 2005, Minghua
Group International Holdings Limited was “a small business issuer” and
“a development stage company”. Mr. WONG has been the Managing
Director of Charise Financial Consultants Limited, a private professional
consulting firm in Hong Kong and an independent non-executive director
of APAC Resources Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, since July 2004.

Ms. FU Shuangye (fFFF&E %), aged 41. Ms. FU was appointed an
independent non-executive Director on 12 January 2008. Ms. FU
graduated from Wuhan University with a bachelor degree in English
Literature in 1990 and obtained her further legal studies certificate in
the Law School of China Politics and Law University in 1997. She was
qualified as a PRC lawyer in 1998. She was a partner of Zhong Lun W&D
Law Firm in Beijing. Ms. FU is now the Managing Partner of Zhong Hao
Attorneys-at-Law. She is also a member of the Foreign Direct Investment
Expertise Committee of the Beijing Judiciary Bureau.
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Directors (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. LIN Wen (#32), aged 70, an independent non-executive Director,
joined the Group on 12 January 2008. Dr. LIN received his bachelor
degree in Science (Metallurgy), master degree in Science (Chemical
Engineering) and Ph.D. degrees in Materials Science & Engineering. He
joined AT&T Bell Laboratories (subsequently, Lucent Bell Labs/Agere)
in 1975. He is the author of many articles published by internationally
recognised science magazines. Together with other collaborators, he
wrote about the properties of uniform oxygen Czochralaski silicon crystals
in an article and such article was published in the Vol. 51(10), October
1980 edition of J. Appl. Phys., a publication of the American Institute
of Physics. Czochralaski process is the key process employed by the
Group in the manufacturing of monocrystalline silicon ingots. He has
also authored/co-authored technical papers, book chapters and owns
several patents. Dr. LIN was a recipient of the 1983 Bell Laboratories
Distinguished Technical Staff Award. He is a member of Phi Tau Phi Honor
Societies. Since 1999, he has been a member of the Starting Materials
Team of ITRS (International Technology Roadmap of Semiconductor). As
a life member of the Chinese Institute of Engineers-USA, he has served
the Institute in various capacities in the last two decades. He served as
its president in 1987 and National Council Chairman in 1995. Dr. LIN
also served as Chairman of METS (Modern Engineering and Technology
Seminars), as well as Vice-Chairman and Chairman of Sino-American
Technology and Engineering Conference.

Mr. ZHANG Chun (3&#&), aged 77, an independent non-executive Director,
joined the Group on 12 January 2008. Mr. ZHANG graduated from Tianjin
University in 1955 and conducted research on semi-conductor silicon
material in tZEBEEIZELEPR (Beijing Non-Ferrous Metal Research
Institution*) in the same year. During 1965 to 1979, he was involved in
the establishment of the semi-conductor materials factory in Emei and
the monocrystalline silicon factory in Luoyang and their production and
technological management. During 1979 to 1998, he was the supervisor
of a semi-conductor material research unit of Beijing Non-Ferrous Metal
Research Institution, the supervisor of the Bl ¥ E &4 ¥ TR
1 (State Semi-conductor Material Engineering Research Centre*) and
he also acted as the general manager of £& ¥ EEMEARAT (Jinxin
Semi-conductor Material Company Limited*). The (a) project on 3 to 4
inches monocrystalline silicon for the use in integrated circuit and (b) the
research project on the manufacture of 125mm monocrystalline silicon
wafer for the use in 2 to 3um integrated circuit organised and led by
Mr. ZHANG received R fiiEL — 5 (the Science and Technology
Progress First Prize*) by the China National Non-Ferrous Metals Industry
Corp. Mr. ZHANG was granted a special subsidy of government from the
State Council since 1992, was awarded the title of Supreme Model for the
Labour of the Non-ferrous Metals Industry of the Nation in 1993 and was
awarded as a ZELi#ET#EE (National Pioneer*) by the State Council in
1995.
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Directors (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

The Directors’ interest or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares in the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”) are set out in the section headed “Interest
and Short Positions of the Directors and the Chief Executives of the
Company in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Company and its Associated Corporations” in this annual report. Each
Director has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term
of three years and the details of which are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ Service Contracts” on page 44 of this annual report. The
Directors’ emoluments, the basis of determining the same (including any
bonus payments, whether fixed or discretionary in nature, irrespective
of whether the Director has or does not have a service contract) and the
Directors’ fees covered by the service contracts of the Directors are set
out in note 11 to the Financial Statements and the section headed and
“Report of the Directors — Emolument Policy” of this annual report. Save
as disclosed above, each Director confirmed that there are no other
matters that need to be brought to the attention of the shareholders of
the Company and there is no other information which is required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

Senior Management

Mr. Paul SU (& 5E), aged 58, the President of the Shanghai Plant. He
joined the Group in December 2008. He holds a bachelor’s degree of
Chemical Engineering from the National Taiwan University, a master’s
degree of Chemical Engineering from the University of Kentucky in the
United States and the Executive Master’s of Business Administration
from the Kellogg School of Management, the Northwest University in the
United States. He served as a special assistant to the managing director
of WWX.

Mr. CHOW Yiu Ming (#B#288), aged 37, is the Chief Financial Officer,
Qualified Accountant and Company Secretary of the Company, He holds
a bachelor’s degree of business administration from the University of
Hong Kong and is also a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He joined the Company in September 2008
and has over 14 year of experience in auditing, finance and accounting.

Ms. ZHAO Xiuzhen (#355#), aged 55, the Director of Production (£7&
#@e) of the Jinzhou Plants. She joined the Group on 31 January 2005.
She graduated from $RMEREHTHEERZR (Jinzhou Communist Party
School in Administration and Management for Party Affairs®). Prior to
joining the Group, she was the deputy general manager of Jinzhou
Hualian Shopping Centre.
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Senior Management (Continued)

Mr. WANG Chun Wei (£&1&), aged 38, the Chief Financial Officer of the
Jinzhou and Shanghai Plants. He joined the Group on 1 January 2007.
He obtained a Master of Business Administration from the State University
of New Jersey (Rutgers). He is a certified public accountant in Maryland,
the United States. Prior to joining the Group, he was a Special Assistant
to President & Deputy Spokesman of The Office of General Manager of
WWHX, the Spokesman and Chief Financial Officer of Panram International
Corp., a company listed on the Gre Tai Securities Market in Taiwan.

Mr. Joe CHOU (&), aged 51, is the Director of Quality Assurance
Department of Jinzhou Plant.
2009. He holds a bachelor’s degree of Chemical Engineering from the
Chung Yuen Christian University, Taiwan, a master’s degree of Business
Administration from City University of Seattle, and an Executive Master’s
of Business Administration degree from National Taiwan University. Prior
to joining the Group, he was appointed as Director of Quality Assurance
Department of WWX. He has over 23 year of experience in semiconductor
industry and has over 20 year of experience in quality assurance.

He joined the Group on 3 February

Mr. ZHANG Yuewen (s&#X), aged 45, the Director of Marketing (& $5
#@e) of the Jinzhou Plants. He joined the Group on 16 May 2003. He
graduated from $2MERLFEIRAR! (Jinzhou Communist Party School
in Economic and Management®). Prior to joining the Group, he worked in
the supply division of Jinzhou Xinhua Quartz Glass (Group) Co., Limited as
a deputy division head and then the division head.

Dr. CHEN Wei (BREY), aged 39, the Special Assistant to the President
of the Jinzhou Plants. She joined the Group on 1 July 2006. She
obtained her doctorate degree of Philosophy in Management at Wuhan
University of Technology in 2005. Prior to joining the Group, she was the
vice president of AZMIMECEEBERE AR (Xi'an International Trade
Promotion Co. Ltd.*) and the vice president of International Transport
Division of PRAA#MHEREE L O AR (Shaanxi Machinery & Equipment
Import & Export Corp.*).

Mr. CHEN Limin (BR3ZE), aged 42, the Technical Director of Jinzhou
Plants. He joined the Group on 30 December 2000. He graduated
from the Ore Mining Faculty of the F9JI|ZE 412 Pz (Sichuan College of
Construction Materials®). Prior to joining the Group, he worked for ##EH
EIRE (£E) BMRAF (Xinhua Shixi Glass (Group) Co., Ltd.*).

*

English translation of Chinese offical name is for identification purpose only
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Senior Management (Continued)

Ms. LI Xuexin (Z=E2%f), aged 56, the Division Head of Audit and Legal
Affairs (FsH2#Ep&) of the Jinzhou Plants. She joined the Group on 5
March 2007. She graduated from the Faculty of Financial Management,
of BERZERUNFEE KEARR (Liaoning Party School in Financial
Management*). Prior to joining the Group, she was the Vice General
Manager of $§EMEZEMBAEREE2L T (Jinzhou Shengda Tanjiu Co.,
Ltd.*) and the Vice General Manager of $#/NH&BME LA AT (Jinzhou
City Metal Materials Co., Ltd.”).

Mr. LIU Shih Wan (2i3%:%), aged 50, the Special Assistant to the General
Manager of the Shanghai Plants and the Assistant Vice President of the
Greater China Region. He joined Shanghai Jingji on 1 January 2008.
He obtained a bachelor Degree in Civil Engineering from Chung Yuan
University in 1988. Prior to joining the Group, he was appointed the Chief
Executive Officer of TaoYuan Real Estate Investment Consortia. He joined
the Group on 28 June 2007 upon the Original Group’s acquisition of the
Acquired Group.

Consultant

Dr. Stephen Sun Hai CHIAO (£4§), aged 61. He was appointed
a consultant of the Company on 12 January 2008. Dr. CHIAO has
been a director of Shanghai Jingji since 1998. Dr. CHIAO received his
bachelor degree in Science from the National Cheng-Kung University,
master degree in Science from the University of Southern California, and
Ph.D. degree from Stanford University. Dr. CHIAO is a Professor in the
Department of Electrical Engineering at San Jose State University. In
2002, Dr. CHIAO was appointed as the Honorary and Guest Professor
at The University of Shanghai for Science and Technology and China
Institute of Metrology. Dr. CHIAO has published and presented technical
articles internationally, held several U.S. patents in semiconductors and
microelectronics related technologies. Dr. CHIAO’s recent publication
includes “Alternative Energy Saving Devices/System”, a book with three
chapters on solar cell technologies, applications and trend. Dr. CHIAO is
the elder brother of Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai.
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Report of the Directors
EEERESE

The Directors present the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009.

Principal Activities

The Company acts as an investment holding company of the Group.
The principal activities of the Group are the trading of, manufacturing of
and provision of processing services for polysilicon and monocrystalline
and multicrystalline silicon solar ingots/wafers, and the producing of and
trading of photovoltaic modules as well as the installation of photovoltaic
systems. The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations
of the operations of the subsidiaries during the financial year are set out in
note 17 to the financial statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The Group’s top five customers are mainly silicon solar wafer or cell
manufacturers or traders. In aggregate, the largest and five largest
customers did not exceed 30% (2008: 15%) and 68% (2008: 51%)
of the Group’s total sales in 2009 respectively. The Group currently
procures raw materials from about 48 suppliers (2008: 43). In aggregate,
purchases from its largest and five largest suppliers did not exceed 17%
(2008: 14%) and 51% (2008: 51%) of the Group’s total purchases in
2009 respectively. Save for Jinzhou Huachang Photovoltaic Technology
Company Limited and WWX, at no time during the year have the
Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) had any interest in these major suppliers and/or customers.

Financial Statements

The loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2009 and the
state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out
in the financial statements on pages 81 to 168.

No interim dividend was paid in 2009 (2008: RMBNIil). The Directors do
not recommend the payment of a final dividend for 2009 (2008: RMB1.5
cents (approximately HK$1.7 cents) per share).

Transfer to Reserves

Loss attributable to shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2009
was RMB98.1 million. (2008: Profits attributable to shareholders, before
dividend, of RMB83.4 million) had been transferred to reserves. Other
movements in reserves are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 85.

As at 31 December 2009, distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB813,179,000 (2008: RMB710,498,000).
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Charitable Donations
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
RMB525,000 (2008: RMB1,100,000).

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings
Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2009 are set out in note 23 to the financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Details of acquisitions and other movements in property, plant and
equipment are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

Share Capital
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

Five-year Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 5 of the annual report.

Directors
The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors
Mr. TAN Wenhua

Mr. HSU You Yuan

Ms. ZHANG Liming

Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai
Mr. CHONG Kin Ngai

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert

Ms. FU Shuangye

Dr. LIN Wen

Mr. ZHANG Chun

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. HSU You Yuan, Mr. CHONG Kin Ngai and Mr. ZHANG Chun will retire
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and being eligible,
have agreed to offer themselves for re-election.
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Report of the Directors

EEEWEE

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of 3 years commencing from 31 March 2008
(the “Listing Date”), which may be terminated by not less than 3 months’
notice in writing served by either party on the other.

The non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors
have entered into service contracts with the Company for a term of 3
years commencing from 1 February 2008.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors being proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
agreement with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
The Group has entered into a number of agreements with parties which
are regarded as a connected person for the Company under the Listing
Rules. The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
respect of the Company’s continuing connected transactions, details of
which are set out below.

A. Continuing Connected Transactions Exempt from the
Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements
The following transactions constitute continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Rule 14A.34 of the Listing Rules
and would be exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirement but are subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements set out in Rules 14A.45 to 14A.47 of the Listing Rules:

Provision of water and heat services by #EMZE &3 & 1B 1 R A
&l (Jinzhou Huarong Property Management Company Limited*)
(“Jinzhou Huarong”)

On 12 January 2008, Jinzhou Huarong entered into a framework
service agreement with the Company pursuant to which Jinzhou
Huarong agreed to provide water and heat (the “Services”) to the
Company and its subsidiaries designated by it from time to time.
The agreement commenced on 31 March 2008 and expired on 31
December 2009.

On 2 December 2009, the Company has entered into a new service
agreement (the “New Service Agreement”) with Jinzhou Huarong to
renew the pre-existing agreement as well as to determine the annual
cap for the transactions for the years ending 31 December 2012.
The term of the New Service Agreement commenced on 1 January
2010 and will expire on 31 December 2012.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

A.

Continuing Connected Transactions Exempt from the
Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements
(Continued)

Provision of water and heat services by Jinzhou Huarong (Continued)
The New Service Agreement was entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business and on normal commercial terms. The
fees to be charged by Jinzhou Huarong in relation to the Services
were determined comparable to the prevailing market prices in local
markets in the PRC based on the actual consumption of the water
and heat supplied to the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the aggregate fees paid by
the Group to Jinzhou Huarong in relation to the Services amounted
to approximately RMB1,275,000 (2008: RMB1,538,000).

Based on an estimate of the Group’s expected consumption
of water and heat for the years ending 31 December 2012, it is
expected that the following annual cap amounts payable by the
Group under the renewed Service Agreement will not exceed:

(@ RMB2,176,000 for the year ending 31 December 2010;

(b) RMB2,333,000 for the year ending 31 December 2011; and

(c) RMB2,450,000 for the year ending 31 December 2012.

The above proposed caps are determined with reference to
the Group’s expected increase in production capacity and the
increase in the expected consumption of water and heat in the
production process resulting therefrom the expected utilisation
rate of the Group’s production capacity for the three years ending
31 December 2012, and the expected inflation rate in the PRC for
2010.

To the best of the Director’s knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiry, as at the date of this report,
Jinzhou Huarong is owned as to 90% by 8/ EEM B AR &
B (“Huaxin Silicon”), a sole proprietorship established in the PRC
and wholly-owned by Mr. TAN Wenhua and as to 10% by an
independent third party. Jinzhou Huarong is an associate of Mr.
TAN Wenhua and hence a connected person of the Company.
Consequently, the transactions under the New Service Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company
under Rule 14A.34 of the Listing Rules and are exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement but are subject
to the reporting and announcement requirements set out in Rules
14A.45 to 14A.47 of the Listing Rules.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions

The following transactions constituted non-exempt continuing
connected transactions for the Company and are thus subject to
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Rules 14A.45 to 14A.48 of the Listing Rules:

Supply of graphite materials by ZEM 5 E b #lin B R 2 &
(Jinzhou Changhua Carbon Products Company Limited*) (“Jinzhou
Changhua”) and supply of quartz crucibles by &Mt 2 EFH#)
BRRA A (Jinzhou Youxin Electronic Materials Co., Ltd.*) (“Jinzhou
Youxin”)

On 12 January 2008, the Company entered into a framework
supply agreement with Jinzhou Changhua and Jinzhou Youxin
pursuant to which Jinzhou Changhua and Jinzhou Youxin agreed
to supply graphite materials and quartz crucibles respectively to
the Company or its subsidiaries as requested by them from time
to time. Such graphite materials and quartz crucibles serve as the
essential materials for the Group’s production of silicon ingots. The
supply agreement commenced on 31 March 2008 and expired
on 31 December 2009. Formal purchase agreements (by way of
purchase orders and confirmations) were entered into between the
Group, Jinzhou Changhua and Jinzhou Youxin (as the case may be)
with the detailed terms and conditions as specified in the relevant
purchase orders. The purchase arrangement under the supply
agreement has been conducted on normal commercial terms and
on terms no less favourable than those available from independent
third parties.

On 2 December 2009, the Company has entered into a new supply
agreement (the “New Materials Supply Agreement”) with Jinzhou
Changhua and Jinzhou Youxin to renew the pre-existing agreement
as well as to determine the annual cap for the transactions for the
years ending 31 December 2012. The Company has obtained the
approval from its independent shareholders in respect of the New
Materials Supply Agreement on 31 December 2009. Upon approval,
the term of the New Materials Supply Agreement commenced on 1
January 2010 and will expire on 31 December 2012.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

Supply of graphite materials by Jinzhou Changhua and supply of
quartz crucibles by Jinzhou Youxin (Continued)

The New Materials Supply Agreement was entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group and on normal
commercial terms. The purchase price payable by the Group to
Jinzhou Changhua and Jinzhou Youxin (as the case may be) under
the New Materials Supply Agreement is estimated based on the
expected purchase amount of the graphite materials and quartz
crucibles and is comparable to the prevailing market prices.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the aggregate amount
of the purchase price paid by the Group to Jinzhou Changhua in
relation to the sale and purchase of graphite materials amounted to
approximately RMB14,375,000 (2008: RMB27,005,000).

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the aggregate amount
of the purchase price paid by the Group to Jinzhou Youxin for
the purchase of quartz crucibles amounted to approximately
RMB31,190,000 (2008: RMB24,850,000).

Based on the Directors’ estimate of the purchase of graphite
materials and quartz crucibles for the years ending 31 December
2012, it is expected that the following annual cap amounts payable
by the Group for transactions under the New Materials Supply
Agreement will not exceed:

(@ RMB164,485,000 for the year ending 31 December 2010;

(b) RMB292,039,000 for the year ending 31 December 2011; and

() RMB419,594,000 for the year ending 31 December 2012.

The above proposed caps are determined with reference to (a)
the costs incurred by the Group for the purchase of the graphite
materials and quartz crucibles for the first nine months ended
30 September 2009; (b) the expected increase in the Group’s
production capacity for the three years ending 31 December 2012;
(c) the expected increase in demand for the graphite materials and
quartz crucibles for the production requirements of the Group in
anticipation of the expected increase in demand for the Group’s
products; and (d) the expected utilisation rate of the Group’s
production capacity for the three years ending 31 December 2012.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

Supply of graphite materials by Jinzhou Changhua and supply of
quartz crucibles by Jinzhou Youxin (Continued)

To the best of the Director’s knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiry, as at the date of this report,
Jinzhou Changhua is owned as to 40% by Huaxin Silicon, which is
owned by Mr. TAN Wenhua, and as to 60% by Prosperity Lamps
& Components Limited (“PLC”) which is owned as to 65% by Mr.
CHONG Kin Ngai’s wholly-owned companies. Mr. CHONG Kin
Ngai is a non-executive Director. Jinzhou Changhua is therefore
an associate of each of Mr. TAN Wenhua and Mr. CHONG Kin
Ngai and hence a connected person of the Company. To the
best of the Director’s knowledge, information and belief having
made all reasonable enquiry, as at the date of this report, Jinzhou
Youxin was owned as to 30% by PLC, and as to 70% by an
independent third party. Jinzhou Youxin is therefore an associate
of Mr. CHONG Kin Ngai and hence a connected person of the
Company. Consequently, the transactions under the New Materials
Supply Agreement constitute non-exempt continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Rule 14A.35 of the Listing
Rules.

Supply of scrap polysilicon, scrap ingots and scrap wafers by WWX
On 12 January 2008, the Company entered into a framework
supply agreement with WWX pursuant to which WWX agreed to
supply, and/or procure its subsidiaries (“WWX Group”) to supply
scrap polysilicon raw material, scrap ingots and scrap wafers to
the Company or its subsidiaries as requested by them from time to
time. Such scrap polysilicon, scrap ingots and scrap wafers serve
as the Group’s materials for its production of wafers. The supply
agreement had a term commencing on 31 March 2008 and expired
on 31 December 2009. Formal purchase agreements (by way of
purchase orders and confirmations) were entered into between the
Company (and/or its subsidiaries) and WWX (and/or its subsidiaries)
with the detailed terms and conditions as specified in the relevant
purchase orders. The purchase arrangements under the supply
agreement were conducted on normal commercial terms and on
terms no less favourable than those available from independent third
parties.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

Supply of scrap polysilicon, scrap ingots and scrap wafers by WWX
(Continued)

The WWX Supply Agreement was entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business and on normal commercial terms. The
purchase price payable by the Group to WWX under the WWX
Supply Agreement is estimated based on the expected purchase
amount of the scrap polysilicon, scrap ingots and scrap wafers and is
comparable to the prevailing market prices in the scrap polysilicon,
scrap ingots and scrap wafers market in the PRC.

On 4 June 2008, the Company entered into a supplemental
agreement (the “WWX Supplemental Supply Agreement”) with
WWX to revise the caps for the transactions under the WWX
Supply Agreement as well as to determine the annual cap for the
transactions for the year ending 31 December 2010. The Company
has obtained the approval from its independent shareholders in
respect of the WWX Supplemental Supply Agreement on 27 June
2008. Upon approval, the term of the WWX Supplemental Supply
Agreement commenced on 27 June 2008 and will expire on 31
December 2010.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the aggregate amount of
the purchase price paid by the Group to the WWX Group in relation
to the supply of scrap polysilicon raw material, scrap ingots and
scrap wafers amounted to approximately RMB110,029,000 (2008:
RMB214,739,000).

Based on the Directors’ estimate of the purchase of scrap
polysilicon, scrap ingots and scrap wafers for the year ending
31 December 2010, it is expected that the annual cap amount
payable by the Group for transactions under the WWX Supply
Agreement for the year ending 31 December 2010 will not exceed
RMB790,749,000.

The above proposed cap is determined with reference to the
Group’s expected increase in production and thus the increase in
demand for scrap polysilicon, scrap ingots and scrap wafers for the
production requirements of the Group resulting therefrom. These
caps are also determined after discussion between the Group and
WWHX in terms of its expected production of scrap polysilicon, scrap
ingots and scrap wafers generated through its semi-conductor
manufacturing process.
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B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

Supply of scrap polysilicon, scrap ingots and scrap wafers by WWX
(Continued)

To the best of the Director’s knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiry, as at the date of this report,
WWX holds 100% interests in Wafer Works Investment Corp.
(“WWIC”). WWIC is a substantial shareholder of the Company. Each
of WWX and its subsidiaries is therefore an associate of WWIC
and hence a connected person of the Company. Consequently,
the transactions under the WWX Supply Agreement and WWX
Supplemental Supply Agreement constitute non-exempt continuing
connected transactions for the Company under Rule 14A.35 of the
Listing Rules.

Sale of upgraded and processed polysilicon, silicon solar ingots and
silicon solar wafers to WWX

On 12 January 2008, the Company entered into a framework sale
agreement with WWX (the “WWX Sale Agreement”) pursuant to
which the Company has agreed to sell, or procure its subsidiaries
to sell upgraded and processed polysilicon, silicon solar ingots and
silicon solar wafers to WWX and/or its subsidiaries. The WWX Sale
Agreement had a term commencing on 31 March 2008 and expired
on 31 December 2009. Formal sale agreements (by way of purchase
orders and confirmations) were entered into between the Company
(and/or its subsidiaries) and WWX (and/or its subsidiaries) with the
detailed terms and conditions as specified in the relevant purchase
orders. The sale arrangements under the WWX Sale Agreement
were conducted on normal commercial terms and on terms no less
favourable than those available from independent third parties.

The WWX Sale Agreement was entered in the ordinary and
usual course of business and on normal commercial terms. The
purchase price payable by WWX to the Group under the WWX Sale
Agreement is determined with reference to the prevailing market
price of upgraded and processed polysilicon, silicon solar ingots and
silicon solar wafers.

On 4 June 2008, the Company entered into a supplemental
agreement (“the WWX Supplemental Sale Agreement”) to revise the
caps for the transactions under the WWX Sale Agreement as well as
to determine the annual cap for the transactions for the year ending
31 December 2010. The Company has obtained the approval from
its independent shareholders in respect of the WWX Supplemental
Sale Agreement on 27 June 2008. Upon approval, the term of the
WWX Supplemental Sale Agreement commenced on 27 June 2008
and will expire on 31 December 2010.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

Sale of upgraded and processed polysilicon, silicon solar ingots and
silicon solar wafers to WWX (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the aggregate amount of
the sales proceeds received by the Group from the WWX Group in
relation to the sale of upgraded and processed polysilicon, silicon
solar ingot and silicon solar wafers amounted to approximately
RMB17,350,000 (2008: RMB190,002,000).

Based on the Directors’ estimate of the sales of upgraded and
processed polysilicon, silicon solar ingots and silicon solar wafers for
the year ending 31 December 2010, it is expected that the annual
cap amount receivable by the Group for transactions under the
WWX Sale Agreement will not exceed RMB423,021,000.

The Directors believe that the WWX Group has been purchasing
from the Group, mainly due to the Group’s product quality and
reliability. Sales of upgraded and processed polysilicon, silicon solar
ingots and silicon solar wafers to WWX and its subsidiaries have
increased over time and the above proposed cap is determined
with reference to (a) the Group’s expected increase in production
capacity and (b) the increase in sales to WWX resulting from the
expected increase in demand for solar based products in Taiwan.
Furthermore, the above proposed cap is also determined by
reference to WWX'’s expected consumption of recycled polysilicon
materials as feedstock for its semi-conductor production.

As mentioned in the paragraph headed “Supply of scrap polysilicon,
scrap ingots and scrap wafers by WWX” above, WWX is a
connected person of the Company and the transactions under the
WWX Sale Agreement and WWX Supplemental Sale Agreement
therefore constitute non-exempt continuing connected transactions
for the Company under Rule 14A.35 of the Listing Rules.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

The provision of services in respect of acidic wash of silicon, the
processing and production of polysilicon and wafers to WWX

On 12 January 2008, the Company entered into a framework
processing agreement with WWX pursuant to which the Company
agreed to provide, or procure its subsidiaries to provide the services
in respect of acidic wash of silicon, the processing and recycling
of top and tail scrap, pot scrap and scrap silicon into polysilicon
and other raw materials necessary for the production of silicon
solar ingots as well as the processing and production of silicon
solar wafers to WWX or its subsidiaries. The processing agreement
had a term commencing on 31 March 2008 and expired on 31
December 2009. Formal agreements (by way of processing orders
and confirmations) were entered into between the Company (and/
or its subsidiaries) and WWX (and/or its subsidiaries) with the
detailed terms and conditions as specified in the relevant processing
orders. The processing arrangements under the WWX Processing
Agreement were conducted on normal commercial terms and on
terms no less favourable than those available from independent third
parties.

On 2 December 2009, the Company has entered into a new
processing agreement (“New WWX Processing Agreement”)
to renew the pre-existing processing agreement as well as to
determine the annual cap for the transactions for the years ending
31 December 2012. The Company has obtained the approval
from its independent shareholders in respect of the New WWX
Processing Agreement on 31 December 2009. Upon approval, the
term of the New WWX Processing Agreement commenced on 1
January 2010 and will expire on 31 December 2012.

The New WWX Processing Agreement was entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business and on normal commercial
terms. The processing fee is subject to the individual processing
orders placed by the WWX Group with the Group and is determined
with reference to the prevailing market price in respect of the
processing services provided by a comparable sub-contractors in
the PRC market.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the fees received by the
Group from the WWX Group in relation to acidic wash of silicon,
the processing and recycling of top and tail scrap, pot scrap and
scrap silicon amounted to approximately RMB4,187,000 (2008:
RMB8,031,000).
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

The provision of services in respect of acidic wash of silicon, the
processing and production of polysilicon and wafers to WWX
(Continued)

Based on the Directors’ estimate of the processing services in the
years ending 31 December 2012, it is expected that the following
annual cap amounts receivable by the Group for transactions under
the New WWX Processing Agreement will not exceed:

(@ RMB246,828,000 for the year ending 31 December 2010;

(b) RMB359,756,000 for the year ending 31 December 2011; and

(c) RMB448,409,000 for the year ending 31 December 2012.

The above proposed caps are determined with reference to (a) the
Group’s expected increase in processing capacity for the three
years ending 31 December 2012; and (b) the estimated WWX’s
demand for recycled polysilicon materials required for its semi-
conductor production.

As mentioned in the paragraph headed “Supply of scrap polysilicon,
scrap ingots and scrap wafers by WWX” above, WWX is a
connected person of the Company. The transactions under the
New WWX Processing Agreement therefore constitute non-exempt
continuing connected transactions for the Company under Rule
14A.35 of the Listing Rules.

Sale of silicon solar wafers to #5MZE X REHBMR A & Jinzhou
Huachang Photovoltaic Technology Co., Ltd.* (“Huachang
Guangfu”)

On 12 August 2008, the Company entered into a framework sale
agreement with Huachang Guangfu (“Huachang Guangfu Sale
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company has agreed to sell, or
procure its subsidiaries to sell, and Huachang Guangfu agreed to
buy, silicon solar wafers. Upon the approval from the independent
shareholders in respect of the Huachang Guangfu Sale Agreement
on 7 November 2008, the Huachang Guangfu Sale Agreement has
become effective and will expire on 31 December 2010. Formal sale
agreements (by way of purchase orders and confirmations) are to
be entered into between the Company (and/or its subsidiaries) and
Huachang Guangfu (and/or its subsidiaries) with the detailed terms
and conditions as specified in the relevant purchase orders. The sale
arrangements under the Huachang Guangfu Sale Agreement have
been conducted on normal commercial terms and on terms no less
favourable than those available from independent third parties.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

Sale of silicon solar wafers to Huachang Guangfu (Continued)

The Huachang Guangfu Sale Agreement was entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business and on normal commercial
terms. The purchase price payable by Huachang Guangfu to the
Group under the Huachang Guangfu Sale Agreement is determined
with reference to the prevailing market price of silicon solar wafers
and the sales quantity thereof.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the aggregate amount of
the sales proceeds received by the Group from Huachang Guangfu
Group in relation to the sale of silicon solar wafers amounted to
approximately RMB195,546,000 (2008:RMB17,506,000).

Based on the Directors’ estimate of the sales of silicon solar
wafers for the year ending 31 December 2010, it is expected that
the annual cap amount receivable by the Group for transactions
under the Huachang Guangfu Sale Agreement will not exceed
RMB2,113,650,000.

The above proposed cap is determined with reference to (a) the
actual quantity of silicon solar wafers produced by the Group in the
first half of 2008; (b) the anticipated increase in silicon solar wafer
production arising from an expansion in the Group’s manufacturing
bases which is, subject to the prevailing market conditions; (c)
the anticipated increase in demand from Huachang Guangfu for
silicon solar wafers; and (d) the price of silicon solar wafers sold to
independent third parties.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

Sale of silicon solar wafers to #EM#E S KR BRZ 7] Jinzhou
Huachang Photovoltaic Technology Co., Ltd.* (“Huachang
Guangfu”) (Continued)

To the best of the Director’s knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiry, as at the date of this report,
Huachang Guangfu, a company incorporated in the PRC, is wholly
owned by Youxin Investment Limited (a company incorporated in
Hong Kong, which in turn wholly owned by Sino Light Investments
Limited (a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands). Sino
Light Investments Limited is owned as to approximately 32.135%
by You Hua Investment Corporation (which is wholly owned by Mr.
TAN Wenhua, an executive Director), as to approximately 7.703%
by PLC (which is held as to 65% by the companies wholly owned by
Mr. CHONG Kin Ngai, a non-executive Director), as to approximately
7.703% by Wintek International Corp., an independent third party, as
to approximately 14.005% by Grand Sea Investments Limited (which
is held as to 18.75% by Mr. Stephen CHIAO Sun Hai, the brother of
Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai, a non-executive Director), as to approximately
3.501% by Seaquest Ventures Inc., an independent third party, as
to approximately 31.543% by Lithium Energy Holdings Corporation,
an independent third party and as to approximately 3.410% by
Sunvision Capital Investment Limited (“Sunvision”), a shareholder of
Jinzhou Jinmao in which Sunvision benefically owns 14%. Huachang
Guangfu is therefore an associate of Mr. TAN Wenhua and hence a
connected person of the Company. Consequently, the transactions
under the Huachang Guangfu Sale Agreement constitute non-
exempt continuing connected transactions for the Company under
Rule 14A.35 of the Listing Rules.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

Provision of services in respect of the processing of wire slurry by
EEMEE A FIE R 2 5] Jinzhou Aoke New Materials Co., Ltd.*
(“Jinzhou Aoke”)

On 12 August 2008, the Company entered into a framework
processing agreement with Jinzhou Aoke (“Jinzhou Aoke Processing
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company agreed to, or procure
its subsidiaries to engage Jinzhou Aoke and/or its subsidiaries
for the processing of wire slurry. The Company agreed to supply
wire slurry to Jinzhou Aoke for the recycling and processing into
abrasives and mineral oil (“Processed Materials”) which will be used
by the Group in the slicing of silicon solar ingots into silicon solar
wafers. Upon the approval from the independent shareholders in
respect of the Jinzhou Aoke Processing Agreement on 7 November
2008, the Jinzhou Aoke Processing Agreement had a term which
would expire on 31 December 2010. Formal processing agreements
(by way of processing orders and confirmations) were entered
into between the Company (and/or its subsidiaries) and Jinzhou
Aoke and/or its subsidiaries with the detailed terms and conditions
as specified in the relevant processing orders. The processing
arrangements under the Jinzhou Aoke Processing Agreement were
conducted on normal commercial terms and on terms no less
favourable than those available from independent third parties.

The Jinzhou Aoke Processing Agreement was entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business and on normal commercial
terms. The processing fee charged by Jinzhou Aoke was
determined on an individual purchase order basis in accordance
with the prevailing market price and the anticipated quantity of
recycled abrasives and mineral oil to be obtained by the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the aggregate processing
fee paid by the Group to Jinzhou Aoke amounted to RMBNIl (2008:
RMBNIl) in relation to the recycling and processing of wire slurry into
abrasives and mineral oil.

To the best of the Director’s knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiry, as at the date of this report,
Jinzhou Aoke is owned as to 35% by Jinzhou Yuexin Silicon
Materials Co., Ltd., a company wholly-owned by Mr. TAN Wenhua;
and as to 65% by independent third parties. Jinzhou Aoke is
therefore an associate of Mr. TAN Wenhua and hence a connected
person of the Company. Consequently, the transactions under
the Jinzhou Aoke Processing Agreement constitute non-exempt
continuing connected transactions for the Company under Rule
14A.35 of the Listing Rules.
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B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

Provision of services in respect of the processing of wire slurry by
Jinzhou Aoke (Continued)

On 17 April 2009, the Company has entered into an agreement with
Jinzhou Aoke to terminate the Jinzhou Aoke Processing Agreement.
Following the discussion with Jinzhou Aoke concerning the latest
development of the business model of Jinzhou Aoke, the Company
was informed that the scope of Jinzhou Aoke’s business has been
enlarged to include the sale of Processed Materials in addition to
its processing business, and that Jinzhou Aoke has since then
commenced its operation for the sale of the Processed Materials
to other third parties aside from the Group. The specifications of
the Processed Materials sold to other third parties are not typically
required by the Group.

Sale of wire slurry to Jinzhou Aoke and purchase of recycled
abrasives and mineral oil from Jinzhou Aoke

On 17 April 2009, the Company entered into a framework
agreement with Jinzhou Aoke (the “New Jinzhou Aoke Agreement”)
pursuant to which (a) the Company agreed to sell, or procure its
subsidiaries to sell and Jinzhou Aoke agreed to purchase, or procure
its subsidiaries to purchase, wire slurry (the “Sale Transactions”); and
(b) Jinzhou Aoke agreed to sell, or procure its subsidiaries to sell,
and the Company agreed to purchase, or procure its subsidiaries
to purchase, recycled abrasives and mineral oil which serve as the
Group’s materials for the slicing of silicon solar ingots into silicon
solar wafers (the “Purchase Transactions”).

The Company has obtained the approval from its independent
shareholders on 12 June 2009. Upon approval, the New Jinzhou
Aoke Agreement has taken effect on 17 April 2009 and will expire
on 31 December 2011. Upon the New Jinzhou Aoke Agreement
becoming effective, the Jinzhou Aoke Processing Agreement was
terminated.
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B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

Sale of wire slurry to Jinzhou Aoke and purchase of recycled
abrasives and mineral oil from Jinzhou Aoke (Continued)

The Sale Transactions and the Purchase Transactions under the
New Jinzhou Aoke Agreement were entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group and on normal commercial
terms. The sale prices for the Sale Transactions are determined in
accordance with the prevailing market price of wire slurry. Payment
terms for the Sale Transactions are determined based on normal
commercial terms to be agreed after arm’s length negotiations
between the Group and the Jinzhou Aoke and/or its subsidiaries
from time to time, including without limitation, payment by cash on
delivery, payment with a credit term ranging from 30 to 90 days,
etc. Other business terms of the Sale Transactions are determined
on an individual purchase order basis and the terms of which are on
normal commercial terms and no less favourable to the Company
than terms available to or from independent third parties. In respect
of the Purchase Transactions, the purchase prices for the Purchase
Transactions are determined in accordance with the prevailing
market price of recycled abrasives and mineral oil. Payment terms
for the Purchase Transactions are determined based on normal
commercial terms to be agreed after arm’s length negotiations
between the Group and Jinzhou Aoke and/or its subsidiaries from
time to time, including without limitation, payment by cash on
delivery, payment with a credit term ranging from 30 to 90 days, etc.
Other business terms of the Purchase Transactions are determined
on an individual purchase order basis and the terms of which are on
normal commercial terms and no less favourable to the Company
than terms available to or from independent third parties.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the aggregate amount of
the sale price paid by Jinzhou Aoke to the Group in relation to the
sale of wire slurry amounted to approximately RMB8,640,000 (2008:
RMB666,000).

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the aggregate amount of
the purchase price paid by the Group to Jinzhou Aoke in relation
to the purchase of recycled abrasives and mineral oil amounted to
approximately RMB4,959,000 (2008: Nil).
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

Sale of wire slurry to Jinzhou Aoke and purchase of recycled
abrasives and mineral oil from Jinzhou Aoke (Continued)

For the two years ending 31 December 2011, the annual transaction
amounts under the Sale Transactions will not exceed:

(@ RMB32 million for the year ending 31 December 2010; and

(b) RMBS53 million for the year ending 31 December 2011.

The above caps are determined by reference to (i) the anticipated
increase in wafer production capacities arising from an expansion
in the Group’s manufacturing bases subject to the prevailing
market conditions, for the years ending 31 December 2011; (i) the
anticipated increase in Jinzhou Aoke’s demand for wire slurry; and (i)
the average market price of wire slurry sold to an independent third
party and Jinzhou Aoke in 2008.

For the two years ending 31 December 2011, the annual transaction
amounts under the Purchase Transactions will not exceed:

(@ RMB107 million for the year ending 31 December 2010; and

(b) RMB174 million for the year ending 31 December 2011.

The above caps are determined by reference to (i) the actual
quantity of abrasives and mineral oil used by the Group in 2008;
(i) the anticipated increase in wafer production capacities arising
from an expansion in the Group’s manufacturing bases which are,
subject to the prevailing market conditions for the years ending 31
December 2011; (iii) the estimated quantity of recycled abrasives
and mineral oil to be purchased from Jinzhou Aoke; (iv) the average
recycled rate of abrasives and mineral oil, respectively and hence
the estimated quantity of recycled abrasives and mineral oil to be
produced by Jinzhou Aoke from the processing of wire slurry to
be supplied by the Group; and (v) the estimated price of recycled
abrasives and mineral oil to be purchased from Jinzhou Aoke which
are determined by reference to the market price of brand new
abrasives and mineral oil purchased from independent third parties
and the processing fee of wire slurry charged by independent third
parties.

TERRZISERERS @

B.

TERRZFERERS (@)

PHERIE T 28 MR 5o I [F1 SR M 2B 52 FE B 1B IR A8 4T
B RTEE ()
BE-Z——F+ZA=+—-HLEMBEFE - HE
REZBTHNFEXZ LG THEE

@ BEZE-ZFT-A=T-HLEFEAR
#£32,000,0007T ; &

b)) BEZZE——F+-A=1t—HLEFEAR
#£53,000,0007T °

LR ERBSEZNBE=F——F+=A=1t—8
L FERBER TR ER NSRS R T E L
E%)#E%‘E%E,Hﬁimﬁlm (i) 3R N R S B PR T SRV TR
1215 R =EBNFET-—BBILE=FREM
RRMRFIEIHEMNEE -

BE-_Z——F+__A=t—BHLEREEE BE
RBETHEERZSESTES

(@) BE-Z-TFFT-_A=+-RALEEAR
ﬁ51o7,ooo,0007n 93

) BE-ZZE——F+-A=1+—-HLEFEEAR
#£174,000,0007C °

FRERDISEH=ZZENEREETEID KT E
BHNERAE; (©EBE=Z2——%+=-A=+—H
thﬁft‘*’fE? BAmRER N EERER M FTELEN
T EERETRHRIEIR ; (ii)/fEEHiS R ME B ANTE
fﬁﬁﬁﬁ’ﬁﬂ%ﬁ’)‘&fﬂ%ﬂﬁfﬁi s (v B R YIEEF
PEREBAZE  HEMNREREHAEBHEEND
FETMIMETFEENBREAYEWRIER
HEHRE  R(VEEHBMRREANBREADE
WERIDERGEER(SEEBEBLE=FNEH
PEWRIEFEHERELFE = WEHNYEMNT
BMEE)MEE ©

Annual Report 2009 %% 59



Report of the Directors

EEEWEE

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

Sale of wire slurry to Jinzhou Aoke and purchase of recycled
abrasives and mineral oil from Jinzhou Aoke (Continued)

As mentioned in the paragraph headed “Provision of services in
respect of the processing of wire slurry by 8RR ERA
7] Jinzhou Aoke New Materials Co., Ltd.” above, Jinzhou Aoke is a
connected person of the Company. The Sale Transactions and the
Purchase Transactions under the New Jinzhou Aoke Agreement
therefore constitute non-exempt continuing connected transactions
for the Company under Rule 14A.35 of the Listing Rules.

Supply of solar cells from Huachang Guangfu to the Group

On 2 November 2009, the Company entered into a framework
agreement with Huachang Guangfu (the “Solar Cells Supply
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company has agreed to
purchase (or procure its subsidiaries to purchase), and Huachang
Guangfu has agreed to supply, solar cells.

The Company has obtained the approval from its independent
shareholders in respect of the Solar Cells Supply Agreement on 31
December 2009. Upon approval, the Solar Cells Supply Agreement
has taken effect on 2 November 2009 and will expire on 31
December 2011.

The transactions under the Solar Cells Supply Agreement were
entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group and on normal commercial terms. The prices for
the transactions under the Solar Cells Supply Agreement are
determined in accordance with the prevailing market price of solar
cells and the quantities to be purchased by the Group. The terms of
the Solar Cells Supply Agreement and the transaction contemplated
thereunder are determined on an individual purchase order basis
and the terms of which are on normal commercial terms and no less
favourable to the Company than terms available from independent
third parties. Payments for the transactions under the Solar Cells
Supply Agreement are on such credit terms as may be agreed
between the parties on normal commercial terms and no less
favourable to the Company than terms available from independent
third parties.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the aggregate amount of
the purchase price paid by the Group to Huachang Guangfu under
the Solar Cells Supply Agreement amounted to approximately
RMB7,359,000 (2008: Nil).
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

Supply of solar cells from Huachang Guangfu to the Group
(Continued)

For the two years ending 31 December 2011, the annual transaction
amounts for the transactions under the Solar Cells Supply
Agreement will not exceed:

(@) RMB397,860,000 for the year ending 31 December 2010; and

(b) RMB755,934,000 for the year ending 31 December 2011.

The annual cap amounts under the Solar Cells Supply Agreement
are determined by reference to (i) the expected production capacity
of solar modules for the years ending 31 December 2011 arising
from the Group’s inception in the downstream business in the
photovoltaic industry; (i) the expected level of demand of solar
cells for the Group’s requirements in respect of the production
of solar modules; (iii) the anticipated demand from the Group for
solar modules; and (iv) the price of solar cells purchased from
independent third parties.

As mentioned in the paragraph headed “Sale of silicon solar wafers
to $RMEE RMREHEAR AT Jinzhou Huachang Photovoltaic
Technology Co., Ltd.” above, Huachang Guangfu is a connected
person of the Company. The transactions under the Solar Cells
Supply Agreement therefore constitute non-exempt continuing
connected transactions for the Company under Rule 14A.35 of the
Listing Rules.

Provision of services for re-coating and re-grooving guide rollers
by tEMREZ KB RIER A F Jingxin Semi-conductor Material
Company Limited™ (“Jinzhou Jingxin”)

On 2 November 2009, the Company entered into a framework
agreement with Jinzhou Jingxin (the “Guide Rollers Service
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company has agreed to
engage or procure its subsidiaries to engage Jinzhou Jingxin for
the provision of services for re-coating and re-grooving guide rollers
which is necessary for slicing of silicon solar ingots into silicon solar
wafers.

The Company has obtained the approval from its independent
shareholders in respect of the Guide Rollers Service Agreement
on 31 December 2009. Upon approval, the Guide Rollers Service
Agreement has taken effect on 2 November 2009 and will expire on
31 December 2011.
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B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

Provision of services for re-coating and re-grooving guide rollers by
Jinzhou Jingxin (Continued)

The transactions under the Guide Rollers Service Agreement
were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group and on normal commercial terms. The prices for
the transactions under the Guide Rollers Service Agreement are
determined in accordance with the prevailing market price for the
provision of service for re-coating and re-grooving guide rollers. The
terms of the transactions under the Guide Rollers Service Agreement
are determined on an individual purchase order basis and the terms
of which are on normal commercial terms and no less favourable to
the Company than terms available from independent third parties.
Payments for the transactions under the Guide Rollers Service
Agreement are on such credit terms as may be agreed between the
parties on normal commercial terms and no less favourable to the
Company than terms available from independent third parties.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the aggregate amount
of the service fee paid by the Group to Jinzhou Jingxin under the
Guide Rollers Service Agreement amounted to approximately
RMB1,045,000 (2008: Nil).

For the two years ending 31 December 2011, the annual transaction
amounts for the transactions under the Guide Rollers Service
Agreement will not exceed:

(@ RMB5,341,000 for the year ending 31 December 2010; and

(b) RMB10,120,000 for the year ending 31 December 2011.

The annual cap amounts under the Guide Rollers Service Agreement
are determined by reference to (i) the anticipated increase in wafer
production capacity arising from an expansion in the manufacturing
bases, subject to the prevailing market conditions, for the years
ending 31 December 2011; and (i) the projected service fee for re-
coating and re-grooving guide rollers in the next two financial years.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

Provision of services for re-coating and re-grooving guide rollers by
Jinzhou Jingxin (Continued)

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiry, as at the date of this report,
Jinzhou Jingxin is owned as to 40% by Ms. Chen Man, the
daughter-in-law of Mr. TAN Wenhua, an executive Director, and as
to 60% by independent third parties. Jinzhou Jingxin is therefore an
associate of Mr. TAN Wenhua and hence a connected person of the
Company. Consequently, the transactions under the Guide Rollers
Service Agreement constitute non-exempt continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. As the applicable ratios under the respective aggregate
annual amounts of the transactions contemplated under the Guide
Rollers Service Agreement, when aggregated with the transaction
amounts under the Solar Cells Supply Agreement, will exceed
2.5%, the Guide Rollers Service Agreement are subject to the
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to Rules 14A.45 to 14A.48 of the Listing
Rules.

Provision of service for the installation of photovoltaic system for
solar energy generation by Kinmac Solar Corporation (“Kinmac”) to
the Group

On 2 November 2009, the Company entered into a framework
agreement with Kinmac (the “First Photovoltaic System Installation
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company has agreed to engage
(or procure its subsidiaries to engage) Kinmac for the provision of,
and Kinmac has agreed to provide, the service for the installation
of photovoltaic system for solar energy generation (the “Installation
Service”) to the Group for the development of the Group’s
photovoltaic system integrator business on a non-exclusive basis
in such amounts and quantities as the Company may require on
and subject to the terms and conditions of the First Photovoltaic
System Installation Agreement. The exact transaction amount of
the First Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement will depend on
the Group’s demand for the Installation Service and its production
capacity of solar modules. By entering into the First Photovoltaic
System Installation Agreement, the Group is not obliged to engage
Kinmac for the Installation Service for any fixed amount during the
term of the First Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement.

The Company has obtained the approval from its independent
shareholders in respect of the First Photovoltaic System Installation
Agreement on 31 December 2009. Upon approval, the First
Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement has taken effect on 2
November 2009 and will expire on 31 December 2011.
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B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

Provision of service for the installation of photovoltaic system for
solar energy generation by Kinmac Solar Corporation (“Kinmac”) to
the Group (Continued)

The transactions under the First Photovoltaic System Installation
Agreement were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group and on normal commercial terms. The prices
for the transactions under the First Photovoltaic System Installation
Agreement are determined in accordance with the prevailing market
price of the Installation Service to be provided by independent
third parties. The terms of the First Photovoltaic System Installation
Agreement and the transaction contemplated thereunder are
determined on normal commercial terms on a project-by-project
basis as offered to other independent third parties who provide
similar services for installation of photovoltaic system. Payments
for the transactions under the First Photovoltaic System Installation
Agreement are mutually agreed between the Company and Kinmac
on a project-by-project basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the aggregate amount
of the service fee paid by the Group to Kinmac under the
First Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement amounted to
approximately RMB65,000 (2008: Nil).

For each of the two years ending 31 December 2011, the annual
transaction amounts for the transactions under the First Photovoltaic
System Installation Agreement will not exceed:

(@ RMB316,750,000 for the year ending 31 December 2010; and

(b) RMB601,825,000 for the year ending 31 December 2011.

The annual cap amounts under the First Photovoltaic System
Installation Agreement are determined by reference to (i) the
expected capacity of solar modules for the two years ending
31 December 2011 arising from the Group’s inception in the
downstream business in the photovoltaic industry; (i) the anticipated
demand from the Group for photovoltaic system installation
projects; and (jii) the costs of materials (including solar modules and
other relevant parts and components) involved for the installation of
photovoltaic system.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

Provision of service for the installation of photovoltaic system for
solar energy generation by Kinmac to the Group (Continued)

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiry, as at the date of this report, £8
MEFA AR BHL B PR A T Jinzhou Jinmao Photovoltaic Technology
Co., Ltd* (“Jinzhou Jinmao”) is owned as to 51% by Jinzhou
Yangguang Energy Co., Ltd. (an indirect wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company), as to 35% by Kinmac Holding Limited and as to
14% by an independent third party. Jinzhou Jinmao is treated as a
subsidiary of the Company. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
information and belief having made all reasonable enquiry, Kinmac
Holding Limited is wholly owned by Kinmac. As Kinmac is entitled to
control the exercise of 35% voting right in Jinzhou Jinmao, Kinmac
is a substantial shareholder of Jinzhou Jinmao for the purpose of
the Listing Rules and hence the Company’s connected person at
the subsidiary level. Consequently, the transactions under the First
Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement constitute continuing
connected transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. As the applicable ratios under the respective
aggregate annual amounts of the transactions contemplated
under the First Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement will
exceed 2.5%, the First Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement
are subject to the reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rules 14A.45 to
14A.48 of the Listing Rules.

Provision of service for the installation of photovoltaic system for
solar energy generation by the Group to Kinmac

On 2 November 2009, the Company entered into a framework
agreement with Kinmac (the “Second Photovoltaic System
Installation Agreement ”) pursuant to which Kinmac has agreed
to engage the Company for the provision of, and the Company
has agreed to provide (or procure its subsidiaries to provide), the
Installation Service to Kinmac on a non-exclusive basis in such
amounts and quantities as Kinmac may require on and subject
to the terms and conditions of the Second Photovoltaic System
Installation Agreement. The exact transaction amount of the
Second Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement will depend
on Kinmac’s demand for the Installation Service and its production
capacity of solar modules. By entering into the Second Photovoltaic
System Installation Agreement, Kinmac is not obliged to engage the
Company for the Installation Service for any fixed amount during the
term of the Second Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

B.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

Provision of service for the installation of photovoltaic system for
solar energy generation by the Group to Kinmac (Continued)

The Company has obtained the approval from its independent
shareholders in respect of the Second Photovoltaic System
Installation Agreement on 31 December 2009. Upon approval, the
Second Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement has taken effect
on 2 November 2009 and will expire on 31 December 2011.

The transactions under the Second Photovoltaic System Installation
Agreement were entered into in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group and on normal commercial terms. The
prices for the transactions under the Second Photovoltaic System
Installation Agreement are determined in accordance with the
prevailing market price of the Installation Service to be provided by
independent third parties. The terms of the Second Photovoltaic
System Installation Agreement and the transaction contemplated
thereunder are determined on normal commercial terms on a
project-by-project basis as offered to other independent third parties
who provide similar services for installation of photovoltaic system.
Payments for the transactions under the Second Photovoltaic
System Installation Agreement are mutually agreed between the
Company and Kinmac on a project-by-project basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the aggregate amount
of the service fee paid by Kinmac to the Group under the
Second Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement amounted to
approximately RMBNIl (2008: RMB Nil).

For each of the three financial years ending 31 December 2011,
the annual cap amounts for the transactions under the Second
Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement will not exceed:

(@ RMB316,750,000 for the year ending 31 December 2010; and

(b) RMB601,825,000 for the year ending 31 December 2011.

The annual cap amounts under the Second Photovoltaic System
Installation Agreement will be determined by reference to (i) the
expected capacity of solar modules of Kinmac for the two years
ending 31 December 2011; (i) the anticipated demand from Kinmac
for photovoltaic system installation projects; and (iii) the costs of
materials (including solar modules and other relevant parts and
components) involved for the installation of photovoltaic system.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions

(Continued)
B. Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

Provision of service for the installation of photovoltaic system for
solar energy generation by the Group to Kinmac (Continued)

As mentioned in the paragraph headed “Provision of service for the
installation of photovoltaic system for solar energy generation by
Kinmac Solar Corporation (“Kinmac”) to the Group ” above, Kinmac
is a connected person of the Company. The transactions under
the Second Photovoltaic System Installation Agreement therefore
constitute non-exempt continuing connected transactions for the
Company under Rule 14A.35 of the Listing Rules and hence subject
to the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements pursuant to Rules 14A.45 to 14A.48 of the
Listing Rules.

The transactions as set out in section (A) “Continuing Connected
Transactions Exempt from the Independent Shareholders’ Approval
Requirements” above constitute continuing connected transactions of
the Group which are exempt from independent shareholders’ approval
under Rule 14A.34 of the Listing Rules and are subject to the reporting
and announcement requirements set out in Rule 14A.35 to 14A.47 of
the Listing Rules. The transactions as set out in section (B) “Non-exempt
Continuing Connected Transactions” above are subject to reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements set
out in Rules 14A.45 to 14A.48 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has reviewed and the Independent Non-executive Directors
have confirmed that the above continuing connected transactions (the
“Continuing Connected Transactions”) for the year ended 31 December
2009 were entered into and conducted:

()  inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Company;

(i) either on normal commercial terms or terms no less favourable to
the Company than terms available to or from independent third
parties; and

(i) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them and the
terms and the proposal annual caps set out above that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company
as a whole.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

The Directors have requested the auditor of the Company to perform
certain agreed-upon procedures on the continuing connected
transactions and have received a letter from the auditor as required under
Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules.

Share Option Scheme

The Company has conditionally approved and adopted the share option
scheme on 27 February 2008 (“Share Option Scheme”) in which certain
participants may be granted options to subscribe for the ordinary shares
in the share capital of the Company with a nominal value of HK$0.10
each (“Shares”). The Directors believe that the Share Option Scheme will
be important for the recruitment and retention of quality executives and
employees.

The subscription price for the shares under the share option to be granted
will be determined by the Board and will be the highest of:

(i)  the official closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of grant, which must
be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the business of
dealing in securities;

(i)  the average of the official closing prices of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(i) the nominal value of a Share.

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and under any other share
option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the total number of Shares in issue immediately following completion
of the Listing (but taking no account of any Shares which may be sold
pursuant to the exercise of the over-allotment option in connection with
the Listing) and capitalisation issue, being 169,076,650 Shares.

The total number of securities available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme as at 31 December 2009 was 137,092,487 Shares (after
deducting the grant of options to subscribe for 42,269,163 Shares on 29
December 2008 and adding back the number of options to subscribe for
10,285,000 Shares lapsed on 30 April 2009).

68 Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited B 3¢ BER1ZE AR B PR A B

TERRZIFEBRERS @
BRI IR EIE14A SSHIRE ER AL AR B
BEEER SR TETHERERE B RY -

BREsTE

ARRAER=ZBNEF A=+t BAREFMERK
mEREST R ((BRETSE])  BET2EETERE
REREARDARANEZREEI0EBTZEBR (TR
7)) EEHRERRETIAHEAREESEZNTHR
AEREEEREE -

R BB RS & IR0 B2
UTHGREERE

BELHESSEE UK

) RORRHEEB(ARBIMEANETESZRZE
BH B F)REZ S B HRERARERKHE

(i) BERHAHAIEEZEEAROGRH
RITBEXNWHETLHIH ; R

B P S B RIE

(i) BRADEE °

RIEBRESERA QB AHEMBERES S TR E
NERESRNROBE LR - ST SBEERELT
(BX R RREERE LT 2B RERETEM AR
HEREFRD) RERLBITTRED BRTROBLED
10% -+ B1169,076,650% A7

BZE-ZZTNAE+=-A=+—8 " %Eﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂlﬁ?ﬂ
BITEESAHE137,00248TRB GO (HBRR=Z

F+ZAZThBERHAR §§42269163P]xﬂxfﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂx
o I hNE AT RREE 10,285,000 R R LN =B BN F T

A=+ BXRMHBRER) -



Share Option Scheme (continued)

No option may be granted to any person such that the total number of
Shares of the Company issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and to be granted to each participant in any 12-month
period up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of the number of
Shares of the Company in issue.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by the Board
of Directors of the Company, which must not be more than 10 years from
the date of the grant.

At 31 December 2009, each of the Directors and employees of the
Company had the following interests in options to subscribe for Shares
(market value per share at 31 December 2009 was HK$2.02) granted for
a consideration of HK$1.00 under the Share Option Scheme. The options
are unlisted. Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one
ordinary share with a par value of HK$0.10 each of the Company.

B El )
AAFAREBOEMALELBERE BEZEALER
ERASHANLEM AL PEACEERSES
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ZEENF+_A=t+—HZHEASR2.02BT) WER
BEREEUTEZ - BREYE LY - SNBERERT
BFEAENRE —REREE. 1078 THARD LB -

No. of options  No. of shares No. of No. of Market
outstanding acquired on options options value per
atthe exercise of lapsed outstanding share at
beginning of  options during during at the date of grant
the year the year the year year end Period during Exercise  of options”
REY RERTE RER RER which options price per RERERH
HATE  BRERTRE E3d HAfTfE  Date granted are exercisable share BEMER
BREZA RGBE  BREZE BREZE  RHLAS BRETES GRITHEE BREATHE*
Directors
Bz
Mr. TAN Wenhua 1,190,000 1,190,000 - - 29 December 2008 30 December 2008 HK$1.974 HK$1.87
ENELE ZETNE to 30 April 2009 197487 1877
TZAZthE  ZBIN\E+-A=tHE
“EENEMA=TH
500,000 - - 500,000 29 December 2008 30 June 2009 HK$1.974 HK$1.87
ZETN\E to 31 December 2010 197487 1878
TZA=thB  ZEEnFAAZtHE
Z§-BE+=A=1-8
Mr. CHIAO Ping Hali 6,500,000 1,500,000 5,000,000 - 29 December 2008 30 December 2008 HK$1.974 HK$1.87
EVREE —ZENE t0 30 April 2009 197487 18787
TZAZTAB  ZEENETZA=tHEZ
“EETAEMA=TA
500,000 500,000 - - 29December 2008 30 June 2009 HK$1.974 HK$1.87
ZZTN\E t0 31 December 2010 197487 18787
+=A=thHA ZEETNERA=THZ
= = A=LEV:
Mr. HSU You Yuan 11,810,000 6,525,000 5,285,000 - 29 December 2008 30 December 2008 HK$1.974 HK$1.87
AHREE “EEN\E to 30 April 2009 197487 18747
TZA=thB  =BEN\§+ZA=tHEZ
“ZETAEMA=TA
500,000 - - 500,000 29 December 2008 30 June 2009 HK$1.974 HK$1.87
“EEN\E to 31 December 2010 197487 1.878 7
TZA=thB ZEEAESA=TH

= 8 LR
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R ERTEl @)

No. of options  No. of shares No. of No. of Market
outstanding  acquired on options options value per
at the exercise of lapsed outstanding share at
beginning of options during during at the date of grant
the year the year the year year end Period during Exercise  of options*
REL RERTE RER REE which options price per REBERERS
WATHE BRERTKE Ed WA/  Date granted are exercisable share  RHHNER
BREHA RABE BREZE BREZE RLAH BRETRS SRITHE RemE*
Mr. CHONG Kin Ngal 1,000,000 1,000,000 - - 29 December 2008 30 June 2009 HK$1.974 HK$1.87
HEREE it )83 to 31 December 2010 197487 18787
tZA=thB —EEAEXA=THEZ
ZE-ZE+ZA=t-H
Ms. ZHANG Liming 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 29 December 2008 30 June 2009 HK$1.974 HK$1.87
REHLZL ZEENE to 31 December 2010 1,974 7 18787
tZA=thB —EEAEXA=THZ
ZE-ZE+ZA=t-H
Mr. ZHANG Chun 500,000 - - 500,000 29 December 2008 30 June 2009 HK$1.974 HK$1.87
REEE “ETN\E to 31 December 2010 197487 18787
tZA=thB —EEAEXA=THZ
ZE-ZE+ZA=t-H
Mr. FU Shuangye 500,000 - - 500,000 29 December 2008 30 June 2009 HK$1.974 HK$1.87
HRELt “EIN\E to 31 December 2010 19748 18787
tZA=thB —EEAEXA=THZ
ZE-ZE+ZA=t-H
Dr. LIN Wen 500,000 - - 500,000 29 December 2008 30 June 2009 HK$1.974 HK$1.87
8¢k “ETN\E to 31 December 2010 197487 18787
tZA=thB —EEAEXA=THZ
ZE-ZE+ZAZt-H
Mr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert 500,000 - - 500,000 29 December 2008 30 June 2009 HK$1.974 HK$1.87
TxgEE “ETN\E to 31 December 2010 197487 18787
tZA=thB —EEAEXA=1HEZ
ZE-ZE+ZAZt-H
Employees 17,269,163 175,000 - 17,094,163 29 December 2008 30 June 2009 HK$1.974 HK$1.87
] —EB\E t0 31 December 2010 1.9748 7 1878
TZA=thB ZEEAERA=T+HE

The options granted to the Directors are registered under the names of the

Directors who are also the beneficial owners.

*

Information on the accounting policy for share options granted and the
value per option is provided in note 1(mj(iii) and note 27 to the financial

statements respectively.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the Company,
or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the company or any other

body corporate.
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being the closing price of the shares on the dates the options were granted.
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Purchase, Sale Or Redemption of the Company’s
Listed Securities

There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2009, save for the offering of TDR for sale to the public in
Taiwan pursuant to the TDR Issue.

Interest and Short Positions of the Directors
and the Chief Executives of the Company in the
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company and its Associated Corporations
As at 31 December 2009, so far as the Directors are aware, the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company and their associates had the
following interests in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code:

B HERBRAQF LmES

BRI AMFEERRTHEARMETERTAMAR
AtSh BE-BBAF+=A=+-BLEE A2
ARREANEL VEBBE - HERMEALAT LT
®/% o
EERAQNAZSTHRASRALQT
REMBBEEIRG - HEROKRE
VD MK R

“EEAET-A=1+—0 BESERE BERA
ARBITHRAEREE BB A TRAD AR EBE
ZE(EEZRFHHF RIS HRGIEXVER) HNRH - HEER 5
RESHF  HECTHEARIEE SR BEHAISE35215R
EFBENZCMRCRBEEETIMERD T KR T
KRR :

4

Number of ordinary Approximate

shares held percentage of

Name of Director Nature of interest (Note 1) holding (%)
EEgR st g BEREE (M) BMARRE D (%)
Mr. TAN Wenhua Beneficial Interest 475,761,999(L) 26.33%
ENELRE ERER

Interest in an option (Note 4) 17,352,500(L) 0.96%

RIBR BRI (MiFE4)

Security interest (Note 4) 17,352,500(L) 0.96%

AR (FF3E4)

Interest in the share options granted 500,000(L) 0.03%

under the Share Option Scheme

RIEE R SRR B RN R
Mr. CHONG Kin Ngai (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation 80,075,540(L) 4.43%
R L L (EE2) SEEERESE

Personal interest 2,449,500(L) 0.14%

BARERS

Trustee’s interest 33,841,250(L) 1.87%

ZEAER
Mr. HSU You Yuan Beneficial Interest 18,965,927(L) 1.05%
G b BnfEn

Interest in an option (Note 4) 2,591,000(L) 0.14%

RIBR BRI (MiFE4)

Security interest (Note 4) 2,591,000(L) 0.14%

e (fEE4)

Interest in the share options granted 500,000(L) 0.03%

under the Share Option Scheme

R IR B R B IRE N
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Interest and Short Positions of the Directors %$&$ RS

and the Chief Executives of the Company in the

2

/A

Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of 9’55’]1‘%‘?& RE u#)
the Company and its Associated Corporations

(Continued)

Number of ordinary

ITHAERARAQF
H AR ja‘ BHRMG - HEROKRE

Approximate

shares held percentage of

Name of Director Nature of interest (Note 1) holding (%)
EEng EaME FrsEBERE e (1) BARRE D (%)
Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai Beneficial Interest 6,135,500(L) 0.34%
BYiEEE Bnfks

Interest in an option (Note 4) 10,994,000(L) 0.61%

REERR MRS (MiEE4)

Security interest (Note 4) 10,994,000(L) 0.61%

IR ARER (FisE4)
Ms. ZHANG Liming Beneficial Interest (Note 3) 3,138,500(L) 0.17%
REBAZ L B n (KMiEES)

Interest in the share options granted 1,000,000(L) 0.06%

under the Share Option Scheme

RIBE RS IR R B RENER
Mr. ZHANG Chun Interest in the share options granted 500,000(L) 0.083%
RAELE under the Share Option Scheme

RIEEREG 2R BRENER
Ms. FU Shuangye Interest in the share options granted 500,000(L) 0.03%
HREzL under the Share Option Scheme

RIBB IR SR B RN S
Dr. LIN Wen Interest in the share options granted 500,000(L) 0.03%
ML under the Share Option Scheme

RIBEREST EIE R B RENER
Mr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert Interest in the share options granted 500,000(L) 0.083%

FRERE

under the Share Option Scheme
RIEE R SRR B R R
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Interest and Short Positions of the Directors
and the Chief Executives of the Company in the
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company and its Associated Corporations
(Continued)

Note:

(1)
@

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such securities.

As at 31 December 2009, Mr. Chong Kin Ngai is interested in an aggregate
of 82,525,040 issued shares, of which 2,449,500 shares are directly held
by Mr. Chong Kin Ngai, 64,140,040 shares are held by Prosperity Electric
Corporation (“PEC”) and 15,935,500 shares are held by PLC. PLC is held
as to 20% by PEC, as to 45% by Leigh Company Limited and as to 35% by
independent third parties. Both PEC and Leigh Company Limited are wholly-
owned by Mr. Chong Kin Ngai.

Mr. Chong Kin Ngai holds 33,841,250 Shares as trustee on behalf of certain
Directors, members of the senior management and staff of the Group. Of the
said 33,841,250 Shares, 3,133,500 Shares are held by Mr. Chong in trust for
Ms. Zhang Liming, an executive Director, and 2,659,375 Shares are held by
Mr. Chong in trust for Mr. Hsu You Yuan, an executive Director.

As at 31 December 2009, Ms. Zhang Liming’s 3,133,500 Shares were
registered in the name of Mr. Chong as trustee who is entrusted to exercise
voting rights and hold the dividends and other distributions made in respect
of the relevant Shares in trust for, among others, the relevant employees and
senior management members (if any) to the extent the relevant Shares remain
subject to a lock-up period.

Mr. Tan, Mr. Hsu You Yuan and Mr. Chiao Ping Hai are entitled to buy back
the Shares of the relevant senior management and employees in the event
that any of them cease to be employed or engaged within 4 years after the
date of listing of the Company. These Directors also have security interest in
these Shares pursuant to share charges granted by the relevant employees
to secure their obligations to pay for the purchase price of the Shares and
their obligations to comply with the relevant regulatory requirements to which
they are subject (if any).
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HhERNXEFR - HEE XD BIBAPEC * Leigh Company
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Report of the Directors

EEEWEE

Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons
Interests and Short Positions in Shares and
Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2009, so far as the Directors are aware, save as
disclosed above, the persons or corporations (not being a Director or
chief executive of the Company) who have interest or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO or have
otherwise notified to the Company were as follows:

FERRREMALTRIRGD KABEBER
PR ER AR
BE-ZZhF+-A=1—H0 BESHE  BKLEX
WEEN  UTALTSEBE (LI BESHAAARSITHR
AB)RARAT RS RBERKRGT » FEEC DERRIEE

H R BRI EIFEEFENECMRCNEERAT
HERSRA -

Number of ordinary

shares held Percentage of
Name Capacity (Note 1) shareholding
a8l HE 55 FFEEREA (1)  BARKREIH(%)
Wafer Works Investment Corp. (“WWIC”) Beneficial owner 360,358,822(L) 19.94%
BR#EBEA
Wafer Works Corp. (“WWX”) (Note 2) Interest of a controlled corporation 360,358,822 (L) 19.94%
ERBHEROERA R (& &RHL D) (HEE2) SEEEEE
Jean Salata Interest of a controlled corporation 119,045,000(L) 6.59%
SEEERER
Baring Private Equity Asia GP IV Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 119,045,000(L) 6.59%
SELERER
Baring Private Equity Asia GP IV, L.P. Interest of a controlled corporation 119,045,000(L) 6.59%
SEEE RS
The Baring Asia Private Equity Fund IV, L.P. Interest of a controlled corporation 122,139,421(L) 6.76%
SELERER
Baring Private Equity Asia IV Holding (6) Limited Beneficial interest 119,045,000(L) 6.59%

Bafgs
Notes:
(1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such securities.

(2). To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made
all reasonable enquiry, WWIC is wholly-owned by WWX as at the date of this
report. By virtue of the SFO, WWX is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by WWIC.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2009, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation having an interest or short
position in shares and underlying shares of the Company which fall to be
disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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Directors’ Interest in Potentially Competing
Businesses

Mr. TAN Wenhua, being the Executive Director, and Mr. CHONG Kin
Ngai and Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai, being the non-executive Directors, are
interested in other related businesses, particulars of which are set out
below:

Mr. TAN Wenhua

Mr. Tan holds approximately 32.135% indirect interest in Huachang
Guangfu and 40% interest in Jinzhou Changhua. Huachang Guangfu is
engaged in the manufacturing of photovoltaic and solar cells. Jinzhou
Changhua is engaged in the manufacturing of graphite and graphite
related products. The businesses of Huachang Guangfu and Jinzhou
Changhua do not compete with that of the Group. Huachang Guangfu,
being a manufacturer of photovoltaic and solar cells, or some other
materials (not being polysilicon), is a downstream company of the Group
because photovoltaic and solar cells are made from silicon wafers, which
the Group manufactures. Huachang Guangfu does not manufacture any
polysilicon, silicon ingots or silicon wafers. On the other hand, Jinzhou
Changhua, as a company which manufactures graphite and graphite
related products, is also not a competitor of the Group because (a) the
Group is not engaged in the manufacturing of graphite or any graphite
related products; and (b) graphite is not a substitute for, or alternative raw
material to, polysilicon in the manufacturing of solar related products.

Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai

Mr. CHIAO Ping Hai has interests in WWX, £i8& REMEEREA T
(Wafer Works (Shanghai) Corp*) (“WWXS*) and Wafer Works Epitaxial
Corp. These three companies are all engaged in the business of
manufacturing silicon wafers used in the semi-conductor industry. Mr.
CHIAO Ping Hai also has indirect interests in Helitek and Heli-Vantech,
Inc., both of which are engaged in the trading of silicon wafers used in
the manufacture of semi-conductors. As explained above, the semi-
conductor industry is different from that of the solar technology industry;
thus, WWX, WWXS and Wafer Works Epitaxial Corp., Helitek and Heli-
Vantech, Inc., are not engaged in any competing business of the Group.

Mr. CHONG Kin Ngai

Like Mr. TAN Wenhua, Mr. CHONG Kin Ngai holds interest in Huachang
Guangfu and Jinzhou Changhua. As explained above, Huachang Guangfu
and Jinzhou Changhua are not competitors of the Group, as the Group,
Huachang Guangfu and Jinzhou Changhua are engaged in different
industries. Mr. CHONG Kin Ngai also holds an interest in Jinzhou Youxin,
which is principally engaged in the trading of quartz crucibles.

Jinzhou Youxin is not a competitor to the Group because (a) quartz
crucible is an auxiliary raw material for the Group’s manufacturing of
polysilicon products. Jinzhou Youxin, being in the business of trading
quartz crucibles, is an upstream company which supplies auxiliary raw
materials to the Group; and (b) Jinzhou Youxin does not manufacture any
polysilicon or polysilicon related products.

EENEBEERFRBRER

HTESEXELREURATESHERAEREYT
BREREMBRERXBHEAES - APFBERIINT

WBXERLE
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Report of the Directors

EEEWEE

Non-competition Undertaking

The Directors confirm that they have no interest in any business (apart
from the Group’s business) which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business. The Directors have also
signed a non-competition undertaking with the Company.

Disclosure on how the non-competition undertaking has been complied
with and enforced would be consistent with the principles of making
voluntary disclosures under the Corporate Governance Report under
Appendix 23 of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the non-competition undertaking dated 27 February 2008,
Mr. TAN Wenhua shall continue to be bound by the terms of the non-
competition undertaking in the event that he ceases to be a Director but
remains a substantial shareholder of the Company.

The interested Director shall abstain from the meeting where there is
actual or potential conflict in interest.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Non-exempt Continuing
Connected Transactions” on pages 44 to 68, no contract of significance
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was
a party, and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Emolument Policy

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set out by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

Retirement Benefit Schemes
Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes of the Group are set out in
note 26 to the financial statements.
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Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association, or the law of Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated under which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. Special enquiries have been made by the Company to
confirm that all Directors have been complied with the Model Code for the
year ended 31 December 2009.

Corporate Governance
Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are
set out in the corporate governance report on pages 27 to 34.

Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee on 27 February 2008
with terms of references adopted in compliance with the Code set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The members of the Audit Committee
are the four independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Chong
Kin Ngai, a non-executive Director and Mr. Wong Wing Kuen Albert,
an independent non-executive Director, is the Chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The Audit Committee is to serve as a focal point for communication
between other Directors, the external auditor and the internal auditor
(where an internal audit function exists) of the Company as regards their
duties relating to financial and other reporting, internal controls, external
and internal audits and such other financial and accounting matters as the
Board determines from time to time.

The Audit Committee is to assist the Board in providing an independent
review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal
control and risk management system of the Group, overseeing the
audit process and performing other duties and responsibilities as may
be assigned by the Board from time to time. The audit committee
has reviewed the Group’s interim and annual consolidated financial
statements for the year 2009, including the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group.
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Report of the Directors

EEEWEE

Sufficiency of Public Float

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float of not less than 25% of the issued share capital
of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules and as agreed with the
Stock Exchange, based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors.

Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

Auditors

The financial statements of the Company for the year have been audited
by KPMG who will retire, and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment.

A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the Company is
to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By Order of the Board
CHIAO Ping Hai

Chairman
Hong Kong, 17 March 2010
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AR R 2 GTTES

lcnac

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Solargiga
Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) set out on pages 81 to 168
which comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets as
at 31 December 2009, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibilities for the financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. This responsibility includes
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s responsibility (continueq)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31
December 2009 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

17 March 2010
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Consolidated Income Statement

= AE 3L
.%/T\I: Eﬁ%‘:z

For the year ended 31 December 2009 HZEZE=—ZEENF+=-A=+—HLFEE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA R¥51{&)

2009 2008
—EThEF —EENE
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bk ARTR ARET T
Turnover [ 2 4 658,720 1,492,935
Cost of sales SHERA (664,500) (1,267,425)
Gross (loss)/profit EGB) A (5,780) 225510
Other revenue Hithlg A 5 14,898 11,107
Other net income/(loss) Hg A (B518) 558 6 2,890 (7,602)
Selling and distribution expenses SHER D8R (5,311) (6,843)
Administrative expenses THEX (105,521) (101,512)
(Loss)/profit from operations me(EE) FE (98,824) 120,660
Finance costs il & R AN 7(a) (15,942) (3,290)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRBiAl (&58) /FIE 7 (114,766) 117,370
Income tax benefit/(expense) Fris®iEse, (%) 8 16,624 (33,991)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(EHE)FHE (98,142) 83,379
Attributable to: LUF ALk (B51R),/FE
Equity shareholders of the Company RN FRERRER 18 (98,098) 83,379
Minority interests DERERERS (44) -
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(EE)/AE (98,142) 83,379
(Loss)/earnings per share (RMB cents) BR(&ERE) BR(ARES) 10
Basic and diluted —EAR#E (5.75) 5.12

The notes on pages 88 to 168 form part of these financial statements.
Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company

attributable to the loss for the year are set out in note 9.

SFB8E 168 EFTHM A B B IMRE T E D - AR FE
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

e REBAR

For the year ended 31 December 2009 HE—ZZNE+-A=+—HILLEE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A BR#5I{&)

2009 2008
ZEENF —2EN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETF T
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(FE)FE (98,142) 83,379
Other comprehensive income for the year £EHth 2 U A
Exchange differences on translation of BREBIERERERZ
financial statements of foreign operations ERER (7,906) (2,212)
Total comprehensive income FE2HEKAHLE
for the year (106,048) 81,167
Attributable to: DTATEGEZEBA :
Equity shareholders of the Company RATERIER (106,004) 81,167
Minority interests DERRAERS (44) -
Total comprehensive income FEXHEBALE
for the year (106,048) 81,167

The notes on pages 88 to 168 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

meBEERER

At 31 December 2009 HA=TFEhE+=A=+—8H

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA R¥51{&)

2009 2008
—EENF —EENE
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FoEE AR¥T T ARBT T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENSRE 14(a) 536,849 394,665
Prepayments for acquisition of property, E%E%% F ERZEN
plant and equipment AR 63,264 114,987
Lease prepayments %ﬂ%i‘ﬁﬁ%’xlﬁ 15 63,948 47,508
Prepayments for raw materials BRI FEN TR 16 214,068 170,809
Deferred tax assets FEFIEEE 24(b) 42,925 31,581
921,054 759,550
Current assets mENEE
Inventories =zE 18 441,288 395,533
Trade and other receivables FEUR B 5 BR AR HL At FE LR FRIE 19 405,361 322,976
Current tax recoverable B HA AT Uk @155 18 24(a) - 1,878
Pledged deposits EIRRIFR 20 44,055 25,071
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFERE 21 236,191 270,402
1,126,895 1,015,860
Current liabilites | wEE®
Trade and other payables B 5 IR R H A FRIE 22 206,170 252,433
Short-term bank loans FEHRRITE R 23 289,274 214,580
Current tax payable ENEARE (R B 24(a) 28 4,315
495,472 471,328
Net current assets REEEZEE 631,423 544,532
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERRBEE 1,552,477 1,304,082
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Municipal government loan TEFER 23 3,227 3,003
Long-term bank loan RERITER 23 70,000 -
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEERE 24(b) 4,669 7,232
Deferred income IEFEUR A 25 67,301 30,333
145,197 40,568
Net assets BEEFRE 1,407,280 1,263,514
Capital and reserves EXRE#E
Share capital ik 28 162,458 152,189
Reserves #1& 29 1,225,261 1,111,325
Total equity attributable to equity AP AR REMN
shareholders of the Company FER YA 1,387,719 1,263,514
Minority interests DERRER 19,561 -
Total equity AR 1,407,280 1,263,514
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 17 March ~ #ESR=-ZE—FF= B+t AR EWHF TR -
2010.
CHIAO Ping Hai HSU You Yuan
ETE Gl
Director Director
ZE =

The notes on pages 88 to 168 form part of these financial statements.
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Balance Sheet
EEEER

At 31 December 2009 R—EFhE+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA R¥5IE)

2009 2008
—ETAF —EENE
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FieE AR¥T T ARETT
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BERRE 14(b) 57 80
Investments in subsidiaries R B ATRNERE 17 163,005 367,841
163,062 367,921
Current assets RENEE
Deposits and other receivables ek HEMERFIE 19 839,077 741,250
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFHERS 21 3,527 180
842,604 741,430
Current liabilities RBAE
Other payables HAth ETFIE 22 25,482 239,086
Net current assets REBEETFHE 817,122 502,344
Net assets EEFE 980,184 870,265
Capital and reserves BARHHE 28(b)
Share capital B 162,458 152,189
Reserves (A 817,726 718,076
Total equity R 980,184 870,265

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 17 March EHFESNR=—Z—ZF=A +t B ELZFAIEH -
2010.

CHIAO Ping Hai HSU You Yuan
£EE R
Director Director
= BE
The notes on pages 88 to 168 form part of these financial statements. %£88Z 168 B FTEIMI TR B EIRRE P D ©
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

n\/-_l_\

1: ")(%E%Eb%

For the year ended 31 December 2009

ZETNE+-A=1T—HILEE

(Expressed in Renminbi)  (LAA R#& EUE)
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
rOARERRELESR
Share Share General Capital ~ Exchange Other Retained Minority Total
capital premium  reserve fund reserve reserve reserve eamings Subtotal interests equity
e RitEE  -REEe ERGE EiGR St REER Nt HHRFEE E&EE
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000
LiFs ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARMTn  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2008 ~ R=%E)\5-F-R
24t 279 367,562 56171 10,064 (357) (66,710) 266,718 632,717 - 632,717
Changes in equity for 2008:  —FFNFREHT
Dividends approved inrespect ~ EEEHERE.
of the previous year 9b) - (88,258) - - - - - (88,258) - (88,258)
Capitalisation issue ERET () 129,086 (129,086) - - - - - - - -
Shares issued under the REZHRERTRA
global offering 28(e) 22,824 643,637 - - - - - 666,461 - 666,461
Share issing costs LUEL %S 2(e) - (63,001) - - - - - (53,001) - (53,001)
Share-based payments NRAZAZE 2(0) - - - 24,428 - - - 24,428 - 24,428
Appropriations il = - 33,639 - - - (33,639) - - -
Total comprehensive income  £E2ERELE
for the year - - - - 2,212 - 83,379 81,167 - 81,167
Balance at 31 December 2008 R=ZEN5+=A
and 1 January 2009 =t-AR-EE0F
-B-Rekt 152,189 740,854 88,810 34,482 (2,569) (66,710) 316,458 1,263,514 - 1,263,514
Changes in equity for 2009:  —FZNFEEHT
Dividends approved inrespect ~ EEEEHERS.
of the previous year 9b) - (25,361) - - - - - (25,361) - (25,361)
Shares issued inlieu of NRABARERLRS
cash dividends 28(f) 485 14,292 - - - - - 14111 - 14,111
Shares issued under the listng~ RIEAERERE L
of Taiwan Deposttary Receipts &R 28(0) 8,824 191,766 - - - - - 200,590 - 200,590
Share issuing costs FUEGELS 28(9) - (3,780) - - - - - (3,780) - (3,780)
Gapital injection by minority HYRFEEE
shareholders - - - - - - - - 19,605 19,605
Shares issued under share REBRESHRTRG
option scheme 280 960 17917 - - - - - 18,937 - 18,937
Share-based payments DRAEfFE 2() - 4,680 - 16,462 - - 3,904 25,046 - 25,046
Total comprehensive income for - EE2ERALE
the year - - - - (7,906) - (98,098 (106,004) (44 (106,04
Balance at 31 December 2009 W=EZn%1=f
=t-Az&s 162,458 940,428 88,810 50,944 (10,475) (66,710) 202,264 1,387,719 19,561 1,407,280

The notes on pages 88 to 168 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

n‘/-ﬁ IE’%/)“JE%

For the year ended 31 December 2009
(Expressed in Renminbi) (l«/{kﬁﬁzﬁ'ﬂﬁ)

E-RBASH=AST-ALEE

2009 2008
—EZhEF —ZT)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR®TT
Operating activities REEE
(Loss)/profit before taxation ReF AT (B538) FHE (114,766) 117,370
Adjustments for: L
— Depreciation and amortisation —TEREE 32,738 21,702
— Loss on disposals of property, plant - HENE BER
and equipment RIBHEE 901 4
— Equity-settled share-based payment — RS EE LR
expenses FASFIER X 25,046 24,428
— Write-down of inventories — IFE RO 172,648 220,235
— Impairment of trade debtors — B E 5 RFURE 4,752 -
— Finance costs —FE R AR 15,942 3,290
— Interest income from bank deposits — RATIFRF EUWA (1,953) (3,982)
— Foreign exchange gain — B R (1,555) (1,211)
Operating profit before changes RTEEBELBFHLE
in working capital F58 133,753 381,836
Increase in inventories FE® (219,281) (477,936)
Increase in trade and other receivables U E 5 IR R H At FEUR
AN (131,267) (135,910)
Increase in prepayments for raw materials AR RO FE A FRIE A0 (2,908) (170,809)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other FE(FE 5 BRF R E At FEAS
payables I CGRA) 1 (72,700) 108,365
Increase in deferred income IEFEUR A LE 0 36,968 3,586
Cash used in operating activities REEEAARS (255,435) (290,868)
The People’s Republic of China EHREARLFE(HE D
(the “PRC") income tax paid FR8%: (785) (81,626)
PRC income tax refunded 2R E R EFTEH 1,093 8,192
Net cash used in operating activities KeESEETAREFEE (255,127) (364,302)
Investing activities RETH
Payment for the acquisition of property, TIBEYE BER
plant and equipment RER T HFE (96,133) (298,916)
Payment of lease prepayments HERENTIE (17,503) -
Deposits with banks with original maturity EHER=EA U LN
over three months SRITIER (57,020) -
Proceeds from disposals of property, HENE - BER
plant and equipment RIGFTBIE 7 14
Interest received ERFIE 1,953 3,982
Net cash used in investing activities RETEBMAEES SR (168,696) (294,920)
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2009 2008

—ETAF —EEN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AR®BTT
Financing activities RALESEE
Placement of pledged deposits BECERER (44,055) (25,071)
Repayments of pledged deposits BEEEATR 25,071 120
Dividends paid ERRE 9(b) (10,584) (88,258)
Proceeds from bank loans RITERFTEFIE 447,154 324,580
Repayment of bank loans RITERZER (302,460) (237,000)
Proceeds from shares issued under share RIBEREST BIRITRG
option scheme Fri8s8 28(h) 18,937 =
Proceeds from the listing of Taiwan BEGFARELMAME
Depositary Receipts E 28(9) 200,590 -
Capital injection by minority shareholders DPERFEE 19,605 -
Proceed from the global offering 2IRBEMBRIE 28(e) - 666,461
Share issuing costs for the global offering IR ER P EEITAS 28(e) - (53,001)
Share issuing costs for the Listing of Taiwan & ,%Ta_‘ BE R
Depositary Receipts TR 28(9) (3,780) -
Interest paid EH%UE (17,130) (6,195)
Net cash generated from financing MEEEMEHSFE
activities 333,348 581,636
Net decrease in cash and cash RERBLEEY2
equivalents WD FE (90,475) (77,586)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FNBRERBELEEY
beginning of the year 270,402 348,978
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [ER# &S/ (756) (990)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FRRERBELEEY
of the year 21 179,171 270,402

Non-cash transaction

On 20 March 2009, the Board recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HK$0.017 (equivalent to RMB0.015) per share for the year
ended 31 December 2008 with a scrip alternative to the shareholders.
Under this scrip dividend scheme, 5,513,925 shares of HK$0.1 each
were issued in lieu of cash of RMB14,777,000 during the year ended 31
December 2009.

The notes on pages 88 to 168 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BF TSRS MY RE

(Expressed in Renminbi)

1

(BAAR¥ESIE)

Significant accounting policies

(@

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA?”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of
the Rules governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”). A summary of the significant accounting
policies adopted by the Company and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the “Group”) is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note 2
provides information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2009 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries.
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost
basis except as otherwise stated in the accounting policies as
set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.
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1

Significant accounting policies (continueq)

(b)

()

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial statements
and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in
note 34.

Subsidiaries and minority interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists
when the Group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that
presently are exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances and transactions and any unrealised profits arising
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.

Minority interests represent the portion of the net assets of
subsidiaries attributable to interests that are not owned by the
Company, whether directly or indirectly through subsidiaries,
and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any
additional terms with the holders of those interests which
would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual
obligation in respect of those interests that meets the definition
of a financial liability. Minority interests are presented in the
consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Minority interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated income statement and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between minority interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company.

1
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ER S HYRE

(Expressed in Renminbi)

1

(AAR¥ESIE)

Significant accounting policies (continuedq)

(c)

(d)

Subsidiaries and minority interests (continued)

Where losses applicable to the minority exceed the minority’s
interest in the equity of a subsidiary, the excess, and any
further losses applicable to the minority, are charged against
the Group’s interest except to the extent that the minority
has a binding obligation to, and is able to, make additional
investment to cover the losses. If the subsidiary subsequently
reports profits, the Group’s interest is allocated all such profits
until the minority’s share of losses previously absorbed by the
Group has been recovered.

In the Company’s balance sheet, an investment in a subsidiary
is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1(g)(ii)).

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 1(g)(ii)):

— buildings held for own use which are situated on
leasehold land, where the fair value of the building
could be measured separately from the fair value of the
leasehold land at the inception of the lease (see note 1(f));
and

— other items of plant and equipment.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the site on which they are
located, and appropriate proportions of production overheads
and borrowing costs.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in the income
statement on the date of retirement or disposal.
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1

Significant accounting policies (continueq)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

- Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
estimated useful lives, being no more than 50 years after
the date of completion.

- Plant and machinery 10 years

—  Other fixed assets 5 years
Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are
reviewed annually.

Construction in progress
Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 1(g)(ii).

Cost comprises direct costs of construction as well as interest
expenses capitalised during the periods of construction and
installation. Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the
construction in progress is transferred to property, plant and
equipment when substantially all the activities necessary to
prepare the asset for its intended use are completed. No
depreciation is provided in respect of construction in progress
until it is substantially ready for its intended use.

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset
or assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment
or a series of payments. Such a determination is made based
on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is
regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of
a lease.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B RS SR 5 Y RE
(Expressed in Renminbi)  (AAR¥5I{E)

1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 1 FESHER @
() Leased assets (continued) n HEEEE®@R)
() Classification of assets leased to the Group ) AEFHESEZSE
Assets that are held by the Group under leases which AEERBHEFE T EEEEMGE
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and BRENAS,ERREEHRNEESIE
rewards of ownership are classified as being held under RMEHEREERE  WASEMNHEEN
finance leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially EEEEANSEMEEGENER KX
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are B3R - AP AKEES -

classified as operating leases.

(i) Operating lease charges (i) AEHEEH
Where the Group has the use of assets held under MIEEEERRMENEEGERAEE
operating leases, payments made under the leases are EERANZMNES  FRIAEEEBEL
charged to the income statement in equal instalments EHEFREE  MBREASEERNA
over the accounting periods covered by the lease term, Mo sEHEHmRESS BN 8
except where an alternative basis is more representative TEWNFHZRPEFETIR ©
of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased
asset.
The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease EREASTHIHBERASERSE
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the HARS A B 43 51808 o
lease term.

(9) Impairment of assets () EERE

() Impairment of trade and other receivables () FEURE G BRI R R M EW LB R B
Trade and other receivables carried at cost or LA AR 72 55, 38 85 5% A Bl BR RO FE UK B 33 BR 3K
amortised cost are reviewed at each balance sheet FEAMEWFIE  NEEEHESE U
date to determine whether there is objective evidence of EERAFEEBNRERE 8K
impairment. Objective evidence of impairment includes EEBENBETY —ERZIEEESE
observable data that comes to the attention of the Group IE Y A B SR &S

about one or more of the following loss events:

—  significant financial difficulty of the debtor; - ERAEBERUHEE;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or — EBH > BEniEXSEENEERER
delinquency in interest or principal payments; xE;

- it becoming probable that the debtor will enter - BEATESESHERETH
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and I ER &

- significant changes in the technological, market, - R TE - KEILEEREN
economic or legal environment that have an adverse BRBLEEHRAELTRZE o

effect on the debtor.
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1

Significant accounting policies (continueq)
Impairment of assets (continued)

(9)

()

Impairment of trade and other receivables (continued)

If any such evidence exists, the impairment loss of a
financial asset measured at cost is calculated as the
difference between its carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
The impairment loss of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost is determined as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition of these assets), where
the effect of discounting is material. This assessment
is made collectively where financial assets carried at
amortised cost share similar risk characteristics, such as
similar past due status, and have not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows for receivables
which are assessed for impairment collectively are based
on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be linked
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed through
the income statement. A reversal of an impairment loss
shall not result in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding
that which would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding
trade and other receivables directly, except for
impairment losses recognised in respect of trade debtors
whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote.
In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are
recorded using an allowance account. When the Group is
satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount considered
irrecoverable is written off against trade debtors directly
and any amounts held in the allowance account relating
to that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously charged to the allowance account are
reversed against the allowance account. Other changes
in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off directly are recognised in
the income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ER S HYRE

(Expressed in Renminbi)

1

(AAR¥ESIE)

Significant accounting policies (continuedq)
Impairment of assets (continued)

(9)

(i)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at each balance sheet date to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

property, plant and equipment;

construction in progress;

pre-paid interests in leasehold land classified as
being held under an operating lease; and

investment in subsidiaries.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its net selling price and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash flows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in the income
statement whenever the carrying amount of
an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which
it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of
units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying
value of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs to sell, or value in use,
if determinable.
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1

Significant accounting policies (continueq)

(9)

(h)

Impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets (continued)
- Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to the income statement in the
year in which the reversals are recognised.

(i) Interim financial reporting and impairment
Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare
an interim financial report in compliance with HKAS 34
“Interim financial reporting” in respect of the first six
months of the financial year (the “Interim Period”). At the
end of the Interim Period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition and reversal criteria as it
would at the end of the financial year (notes 1(g)(i) and (ii).

Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period
in which the reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ER S HYRE

(Expressed in Renminbi)

1

(AAR¥ESIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

0)

()

(k)

()

(m)

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value
and thereafter stated at amortised cost less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts (see note 1(g)(i)), except where
the receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties
without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting
would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated
at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost with any difference between the amount initially
recognised and redemption value being recognised in the
income statement over the period of the borrowings, together
with any interest and fees payable, using the effective interest
method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured in
accordance with note 1(0)(i), trade and other payables are
subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
in hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Employee benefits

() Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, annual bonuses and staff welfare costs are
accrued in the period in which the associated services
are rendered by employees of the Group. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would
be material, these amounts are stated at their fair values.
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1

Significant accounting policies (continueq)
(m) Employee benefits (continued)

(i)

(i)

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
Contributions to local retirement schemes pursuant to
the relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC,
Taiwan and Hong Kong are recognised as an expense in
the income statement as incurred, except to the extent
that they are included in the cost of inventories not yet
recognised as an expense.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees, and
the fair value of shares allotted and issued to employees
to the extent that it exceeds the subscription cost, are
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a capital reserve within equity. The fair values
of share options and shares are measured at grant date
using the binomial lattice model and the price to earning
multiples valuation method respectively, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the share
options and shares were granted. Where the employees
have to meet vesting or lock-up conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the share options or
shares, the total estimated fair value of the share options
or the fair value of the shares over the subscription cost
is spread over the vesting or lock-up period, taking into
account the probability that the share options will vest, or
the probability that the shares will continue to be held by
the employees.

During the vesting or lock-up period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest or the number of shares
that is expected to continue to be held by the employees
are reviewed. Any adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the
income statement for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualified for recognition as
an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share
options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to
the capital reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to
not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market
price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the capital reserve until either the share
option is exercised (when it is transferred to the share
premium account) or the share option expires (when it is
released directly to retained eamnings).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ER S HYRE

(Expressed in Renminbi)

1

(AAR¥ESIE)

Significant accounting policies (continuedq)

(n)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised
in the income statement except to the extent that they relate
to items recognised directly in equity, in which case they are
recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable
in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities
and all deferred tax assets, to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward.
The same criteria are adopted when determining whether
existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if they
relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in
which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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1

Significant accounting policies (continueq)

(n)

Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets
and liabilities are those temporary differences arising from
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of
a business combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case
of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of the
reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences,
unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and is reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred
tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation

authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or
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B ER S HYRE

(Expressed in Renminbi)

1

(AAR¥ESIE)

Significant accounting policies (continuedq)
(n) Income tax (continued)

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.

(o) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities

()

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to
reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”)
for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair
value of the guarantee (being the transaction price,
unless the fair value can otherwise be reliably estimated)
is initially recognised as deferred income within trade
and other payables. Where consideration is received
or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with the
Group’s policies applicable to that category of asset.
Where no such consideration is received or receivable,
an immediate expense is recognised in the income
statement on initial recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as
deferred income is amortised in the income statement
over the term of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued. In addition, provisions are recognised
in accordance with note 1(0)(ii) if and when (i) it becomes
probable that the holder of the guarantee will call upon
the Group under the guarantee, and (i) the amount of that
claim on the Group is expected to exceed the amount
currently carried in trade and other payables in respect
of that guarantee i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(o) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (continued)

(P)

(i)

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has
a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue recognition

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be
measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss as

follows:

()

(ir)

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in the
income statement when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership have been transferred to the buyer.
Revenue excludes value added tax and is after deduction
of any trade discounts.

Services rendered

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in
the income statement as and when the services are
performed or rendered.

1 EERHEEw
(0) EBREZMBER BERIARER

(&)
()

B ERAAREE

AN EBE AR B AR B EBHAEE
EREESME  AMERSEIEEN
BINRUBITEE » LEAJLMYER TS
fhatis - AEBESHSE LHBEL
I FHEERNH M B EHEREE - MEH
REEEX  BliREHEREHENX
RETREE -

e A8 R 2 SN B AT BE MR BRARS - SIS
HEBYREEL ARG EEHZE
ERBEARAEE  HEEBERRINEN

AIREMEARAR BIBR M o i AN EE @ AT A Eﬁ
NWEEERTFEEZHSZEZAREHZ
BELRBESRERERBFAE '7]'\
HEARAREE  HELSBEREIMRH
BEMERRAE RIRRSD o

(p) AR
Tﬁiﬁlﬁx&m—fﬁ ERAKNER - A KK

7 (anE A

A ETER > WAREZRER

LU

(i)

HEE

HEEmMMEKWA  ERFERERMN
PR R HLBE MY A8 B E KR B % B 3
K REZRAER - WA TEEEE
Bl WEHBREAESEITH -

FERTS
ERBCEETIIRME - BERBR
BWANERRATER o

Annual Report 2009 %} 1 01



Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in Renminbi)

1

(AAR¥ESIE)

Significant accounting policies (continuedq)
Revenue recognition (continued)

(P)

(i)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Revenue from the installation of photovoltaic systems
Revenue from the installation of photovoltaic systems is
recognised using the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the percentage of contract
costs incurred to date to estimated total contract costs
for the contract. When the outcome of a contract cannot
be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the
extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be
recoverable.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised in the income statement as
it accrues using the effective interest method.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the balance sheet
initially when there is reasonable assurance that they
will be received and that the Group will comply with the
conditions attached to them. Grants that compensate the
Group for expenses incurred are recognised as revenue
in the income statement on a systematic basis in the
same periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants
that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are
recognised in the income statement over the useful life of
the asset.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in the income statement in equal instalments
over the periods covered by the lease term, except where
an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in the income
statement as an integral part of the aggregate net lease
payments receivable.

(q) Translation of foreign currencies

Items included in the financial statements of each entity
in the Group are measured using the currency that best
reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and
circumstances relevant to that entity (“functional currency”).

The financial statements are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”).

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling
at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in the income statement.
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1

Significant accounting policies (continueq)
(q) Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

(r)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated into RMB
at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Balance sheet items are
translated into RMB at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the
balance sheet date. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences in equity which relate to that foreign
operation is included in the calculation of the profit or loss
disposal.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use of sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all
the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ER H HYRE

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AAR¥ESIE)

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(s) Research and development expenses
Expenditures on research and development are charged to the
income statement as expenses when incurred.

() Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is
considered to be related to the Group if:

U

(i)

(i)

(vi)

the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one
or more intermediaries, to control the Group or exercise
significant influence over the Group in making financial
and operating policy decisions, or has joint control over
the Group;

the Group and the party are subject to common control;

the party is an associate of the Group or a joint venture in
which the Group is a venturer;

the party is member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent, or a close family member of
such an individual, or is an entity under the control, joint
control or significant influence of such individuals;

the party is a close family member of a party referred
to in (i) or is an entity under the control, joint control or
significant influence of such individuals; or

the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for
the benefit of employees of the Group or of any entity
that is a related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that individual in their dealings with the entity.
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1

Significant accounting policies (continueq)

(u) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
have a majority of these criteria.

The Group operates in a single operating segment, being
the manufacturing of, trading of and provision of processing
services for polysilicon and monocrystalline and multicrystalline
silicon solar ingots/wafers, and the producing of and trading of
photovoltaic modules as well as the installation of photovoltaic
systems.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued one new HKFRS, a number of amendments
to HKFRSs and new interpretations that are first effective for the
current accounting period of the Group. Of these, the following
developments are relevant to the Group’s financial statements:

- HKFRS 8, Operating segments

- HKAS 1 (revised 2007), Presentation of financial statements

- Improvements to HKFRSs (2008)

- Amendments to HKAS 27, Consolidated and separate financial
statements — cost of an investment in a subsidiary, jointly
controlled entity or associate

- Amendments to HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosure —
improving disclosures about financial instruments
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B ISR 5 Y RE
(Expressed in Renminbi)  (MAAR¥5I{E)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)
- HKAS 23 (revised 2007), Borrowing costs

—  Amendments to HKFRS 2, Share-based payment — vesting
conditions and cancellations

The amendments to HKAS 23, HKFRS 2 and Improvements to
HKFRSs (2008) have had no material impact on the Group’s
financial statements as the amendments were consistent with
policies already adopted by the Group. In addition, the amendments
to HKFRS 7 do not contain any additional disclosure requirements
specifically applicable to the financial statements. The impact of the
remainder of these developments on the financial statements is as
follows:

- HKFRS 8 requires segment disclosure to be based on the
way that the Group’s chief operating decision maker regards
and manages the Group, with the amounts reported for each
reportable segment being the measures reported to the
Group’s chief operating decision maker for the purposes of
assessing segment performance and making decisions about
operating matters. The adoption of HKFRS 8 has resulted in
the presentation of segment information in a manner that is
more consistent with internal reporting provided to the Group’s
most senior executive management. There were no additional
reportable segments identified (note 3).

—  As a result of the adoption of HKAS 1 (revised 2007), details
of changes in equity during the year arising from transactions
with equity shareholders in their capacity as such have been
presented separately from all other income and expenses
in a revised consolidated statement of changes in equity.
All other items of income and expense are presented in the
consolidated income statement, if they are recognised as part
of profit or loss for the period, or otherwise in a new primary
statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. The new format for the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of
changes in equity has been adopted in this financial report and
corresponding amounts have been restated to conform to the
new presentation. This change in presentation has no effect on
reported profit or loss, total income and expense or net assets
for any period presented.
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2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

—  The amendments to HKAS 27 have removed the requirement
that dividends out of pre-acquisition profits should be
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the
investment in the investee, rather than as income. As a
result, as from 1 January 2009, all dividends receivable from
subsidiaries, whether out of pre- or post-acquisition profits, will
be recognised in the Company’s profit or loss and the carrying
amount of the investment in the investee will not be reduced
unless that carrying amount is assessed to be impaired as a
result of the investee declaring the dividend. In such cases, in
addition to recognising dividend income in profit or loss, the
Company would recognise an impairment loss. In accordance
with the transitional provisions in the amendment, this new
policy will be applied prospectively to any dividends receivable
in the current or future periods and previous periods have not
been restated.

Segment reporting

The Group manages its business by business operations and
geography. On the adoption of HKFRS 8, Operating segments and
in @ manner consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment,
the Group has only identified one business segment, i.e. the
manufacturing of, trading of and provision of processing services
for polysilicon and monocrystalline and mulitcrystalline silicon solar
ingots/wafers, and the producing of and trading of photovoltaic
modules as well as the installation of photovoltaic systems. Further,
the Group’s business participates primarily in only one geographical
location classified by the location of assets, i.e. the PRC.

For the purpose of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the Group’s senior executive
management monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable
to the reportable segment which are presented in the same way in
the Group’s consolidated income statement and balance sheet.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B ISR 5 Y RE
(Expressed in Renminbi)  (LAA R#FI{E)

3 Segment reporting (continued) 3 OEmE@®m
The following table sets out information about the geographical TRIYEBAEERBIARZENWNERFTEE
location of the Group’s revenue from external customers. The HER - REEMUE RN E R B Ak o
geographical location of a customer is based on the location at
which the goods were delivered.
2009 2008
ZEENF —EEN\E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®T T
Domestic sales — Mainland China 7N $5 € — A ] K pE 515,387 1,116,500
Export sales HOHE
— North America —dt3% 73,785 11,996
— Japan — B 39,247 147,609
— Taiwan — a8 21,585 192,170
— Germany —EE 5,316 17,226
— Norway — R 1,380 4,042
— Korea —BEH 781 3,351
— Other countries —HhE=R 1,239 41
Sub-total AN 143,333 376,435
Total st 658,720 1,492,935
4 Turnover 4 EXZH
The principal activities of the Group are the manufacturing of, AEBFEEBAARGREBEI RS SRR TEHH

trading of and provision of processing services for polysilicon and
monocrystalline and multicrystalline silicon solar ingots/wafers and
the producing of and trading of photovoltaic modules as well as the

installation of photovoltaic systems.
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Turnover (continued) 4 %%%ﬁ(%)
Turnover represents the sales value of goods supplied to customers EEENIEHETFTEEEYNEEECREEN KR
less value added tax and trade discounts and income from the BSHH) UREBHMTIRBEZENRRRGHTE
provision of processing services and the installation of photovoltaic WA o R BRIBNEEIERERINERBAER
systems. The amount of each significant category of revenue T
recognised in turnover during the year is as follows:
2009 2008
ZEENF —2EN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARET T
Sales of polysilicon and monocrystalline and HEZRERKGREERER
multicrystalline silicon solar ZRERE A EE
ingots/wafers/modules 623,085 1,379,674
Processing service fees TR E 34,849 113,261
Revenue from the installation of ZEIRRGHIUWA
photovoltaic systems 786 -
658,720 1,492,935

The Group’s has three customers, Customer A, Customer
B and Customer C, with whom transactions have exceeded
10% of the Group’s revenues. In 2009, revenues from sales of
wafers to Customer A, Customer B and Customer C amounted
to approximately RMB195,546,000 (2008: RMB17,506,000),
RMB69,283,000 (2008: Nil) and RMB117,432,000 (2008:
RMB227,706,000) respectively. Details of the concentration of credit
risk arising from these customers are set out in note 33(a).

rEBE=EEF  EFR EBEFZCREFPAZ
RBEMAEEBRZE10% - R=ZZhE [
EFR EFZREFAMEEERZWED AN
A AR¥A195546000 T (ZEZE/\F : AR¥
17,506,0007C) * A R #69,283,0007T (=ZZEZF\
FE)RARMA117,432,0007T (ZBBN\E 1 A
R#0227,706,0007t) - WERFELEEBMHESD
W RIS B BT EES3(a) ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B SR 5 PR
(Expressed in Renminbi)  (LAA R¥FIE)

5 Other revenue HAy A
2009 2008
=t L S —22)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Government grants (note 25) BFTEEL (iEE25) 10,023 1,265
Interest income from bank deposits SRITEROFEWA 1,953 3,982
Rental income from operating leases KEHENBES WA 1,932 1,296
Income from sale of scrap materials HERERABRA 566 3,463
Insurance claims received g RmEES 289 681
Others Hith 135 420
14,898 11,107
6 Other net income/(loss) Huulg A/ (E518) F58

2009 2008
—EENE —ZEN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) HNEE WizE (B398 )R8 3,791 (7,598)

Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWHE  BERRENEE
equipment (901) (4)
2,890 (7,602)

1 1 0 Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited & Y82 RIZR AR AT



7 (Loss)/profit before taxation 7 BRBiAT(E51E),RE
(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging: BRELAT(B518) FIEE H0RR
2009 2008
ZEZREF —EZTN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥T T
(@ Finance costs: @ WERA:
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable BEREFRAEZHEEN
within five years RITERPRE 17,028 6,093
Interest on municipal government loan BT EFRHIFIE 224 215
Total interest expense on financial liabilities iR A FEMEEIRTIER
not at fair value through profit or loss BB ENR BRI A% 17,252 6,308
Less: interest expense capitalised W ERIREREFR
into construction in progress* B (1,310) (8,018)
15,942 3,290
(o)  Staff costs: (o) BIMA:
Contributions to retirement schemes RN R 4,997 4,788
Equity-settled share-based payment RESEEURA AN
expenses B 25,046 24,428
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TERHEMER 36,274 40,695
66,317 69,911
(©)  Auditors’ remuneration © EZHEME
— audit services — BRI 1,498 2,250
— tax services — FiIBPRTE 37 208
— other services — HAb AR #S = 625
1,535 3,083
(d) Other items: (d) HftEg :
Amortisation of lease prepayments HAETAN T EH 1,063 978
Depreciation e 31,675 20,724
Operating lease charges — property RERE I H - 2,065 1,493
Research and development costs B R AR 17,654 7,204
Impairment of trade debtors R E 5 BRFOR{E 4,752 -
Write-down of inventories FEHUR 172,648 220,235

The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of 5.31% to 6.66%

(2008: 5.85% to 6.23%) per annum.

* BERAERFENES31%E6.66%(ZFF/)\F :
5.85%%6.23%) F UAE A1t ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B RS SR 5 Y RE
(Expressed in Renminbi)  (LAA R#FI{E)

8 Income tax in the consolidated income 8 EEERAMEH
statement
(@ Income tax in the consolidated income statement (a) FEBRRAMBHNE:
represents:
2009 2008
—ZETAF —TENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARET T
Current tax - the PRC ENHERFL E —
Provision for the year FERE 28 65,610
Over-provision in respect of prior years  B{X & EBEERHE (2,745) -
Tax refund on domestic equipment BREERERN
purchases - (8,192)
(2,717) 57,418
Deferred tax (note 24(b)) IEREBE (M EE24(b))
Origination and reversal of temporary RS ERE 2 HIR R
differences (11,642) (23,427)
Effect on deferred tax balances FAEREHE—-—F—HKN
at 1 January resulting from an increase IEAERL B A BRI
in tax rate =7 (2,265) -
(13,907) (23,427)
Income tax (benefit)/expense BT ER), BIX (16,624) 33,991
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the HRAEBEE B AR LB EIEMMNEBFEH
subsidiaries of the Group either did not have any assessable R EsS IS ER S M EEREBRIESH R
profits subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax or sustained losses & o

for taxation purposes.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands, RIBFASFHSRARRG » ANEEBEMAIER
the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman EBREREH
Islands.

1 1 2 Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited & Y82 RIZR AR A T



8 Income tax in the consolidated income
statement (continued)

(@)

Income tax in the consolidated income statement
represents: (continued)

On 1 January 2008, the Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) Law
of the PRC (“New CIT Law”) became effective. The PRC CIT
rate has been adjusted to a standard rate of 25%. Foreign
Investment Enterprises (“FIES”) which have not fully utilised their
five-year tax holiday (i.e. two-year exemption and subsequent
three-year 50% reduction of the applicable tax rate) will be
allowed to continue to receive the benefits of the tax holiday
during a five-year grandfathering period. For those FIEs which
have not yet begun their five-year tax holiday period, the tax
holiday period will be deemed to have commenced from the
effective date of the New CIT Law.

Further under the New CIT Law, from 1 January 2008
onwards, non-resident enterprises without an establishment or
place of business in the PRC or which have an establishment
or place of business but the relevant income is not effectively
connected with the establishment or a place of business in the
PRC, are subject to withholding tax at the rate of 5% or 10%
on various types of passive income such as dividends derived
from sources in the PRC. Distributions of pre-2008 earnings
are exempted from the above-mentioned withholding tax.

On 1 August 2008, the Group obtained approval from the
Jinzhou Municipal Bureau of Foreign Trade and Economic
Cooperation, the Administration for Industry and Commerce
and other relevant government bodies to merge Jinzhou
Huachang Silicon Materials Co., Ltd., Jinzhou Huari Silicon
Materials Co., Ltd., Jinzhou Xinri Silicon Materials Co., Ltd.,
Jinzhou Youhua New Energy Co., Ltd. and Jinzhou Yangguang
Energy Co., Ltd. (“Yangguang”) (“the Merging companies”) into
Yangguang.

8
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ER S HYRE

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AAR¥ESIE)

8 Income tax in the consolidated income 8 HAEZXAMER @
statement (continued)
(@ Income tax in the consolidated income statement (@) FEBBEXRAAEBNAR @ (@)
represents: (continued)
In view of the different CIT rates applicable to the Merging EREEHARBEANCERSHERR
Companies, on 13 May 2008, Yangguang obtained the R-ZBZENEREA+=H » $2MBEXELMN
written acceptance from Taihe District State Tax Bureau on BERBEREEERGTSHBRLERS
the post-merger CIT treatment, that Yangguang should adopt BHEESE  MBEESE [1997)5 715
an effective CIT rate after the merger of 13.77% for 2008 (TBEIE719% ) 5 EE > $3MNEBEERE B
according to the principles stated in Guo Shui Fa [1997] No. % B_EEN\ERANERCEREHRR
71 (“Notice 71”). Based on Notice 71, the percentage of cost B18.77% o RIBFBAET719 » EHATRS
and expenses method of the Merging Companies incurred RAREHATREEEETERNARBAX
during the financial year preceding the merger was applied to BN AE%:  BEARSETEQAEN
apportion each company’s share of the post-merger taxable WM KA EHERERBRA - H2 > B4F
income of Yangguang. The apportioned post-merger taxable HOoB2aHEERBIRA » HBEHF LT
incomes are then taxed at the respective CIT rates of the AR TSR R A -
Merging Companies.
In 2009, Yangguang was granted the status of a “High and REZBZENE  SBNGEERTI SHBEE
New Technology Enterprise” that entitled it to a preferential CIT ¥ |y WEERBZE=-ZSZTNEFE+=A8
rate of 15% for three years commencing from the year ended =T —HIEFERB=ZFU15% 2 EREH
31 December 2009. BER YR EREH -
Based on the above mentioned written acceptance from Taihe BB NI EANERZRIEENEmE
District State Tax Bureau and the New CIT Law, the PRC MR EEMSR L NEERPENKHEB
subsidiaries of the Group were subject to the following PRC AARBE_EENER=-_ZTTAF+=A
CIT rates for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2009, S+—BLFEARUTHEMMNPELE
respectively: FrigHt
2009 2008
—ETAF —EENFE
Shanghai Jingji Electronic Materials EEREEFHRERAR
Co., Ltd. (“Jingj’") ((==2-¢: ) 25% 25%
Jinzhou Jingji Solar Technology BN BB ARGRERH AR A A
Co., Ltd. (“Jinzhou Jingji”) (e M &) 25% 25%
Jinzhou Rixin Silicon Materials $3)0 B EBREMEIARA A
Co., Ltd. (“Rixin”) (EVNIEE:S)) 25% 25%
Jinzhou Youhua Silicon Materials RN EEMRERA R
Co., Ltd. (“Youhua Silicon”) (MEZEREME ) 25% 25%
Yangguang SRR A 15% 13.77%
Jinzhou Jinmao Photovoltaic Technology — $#N 8RB B R A A N/A
Company Limited (“Jinzhou Jinmao”) (I g2 8352 1) 25% TiE A

1 1 4 Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited B 3¢ BER1ZE IR B PR A B



8

Income tax in the consolidated income 8
statement (continued)

GmEBBERANMSH@

(b) Reconciliation between tax (benefit)/expense and (b) BFER) FIXEREABRTE
accounting (loss)/profit at applicable tax rates: S (EE) /AR
2009 2008
—ETNE —ZTENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBTT
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRELAT (B518) FIE (114,766) 117,370
Notional tax on (loss)/profit before taxation BRELAT(E1E) FMEz ZEFHIE -
calculated at 25% #25% 2 R ETE (28,692) 29,343
Effect of non-deductible expenses ENGIE b a7 6,891 8,594
Effect of different taxation rates used REMEEAEEfTATRTE
in other jurisdictions Z,%%l 2,664 7,068
Effect of different taxation rates between ERIE BRBEREEA
notional tax and applicable tax rate ﬁ&'T\H?R%zs;
for deferred taxation 8,238 -
(Reversal)/recognition of deferred (M), FERET A5 RAEERE 2
tax liabilities relating to undistributed IEAER BB (MiEE24(D))
profits (note 24(b)) (2,563) 7,232
Utilisation of tax loss not recognised BABTFFENRERZ
in prior years TIEEE (706) -
Effect of non-taxable income BEFBBA L = (76)
Effect of tax concessions obtained FrERKER g E = (15,379)
Effect of unused tax loss not recognised i ARERRHI KR E) BRIBEIE 2 & 2,554 5,401
Effect on deferred tax balance HAEREH—BA—HB2
at 1 January resulting FER B R o E
from an increase in tax rate (2,265) -
Tax refund on domestic equipment BRBERERB
purchases = (8,192)
Over-provision in respect of prior years BIEFEBERE (2,745) -
Actual tax (benefit)/expense BEBIKGER) BX (16,624) 33,991
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B RS SR 5 Y RE
(Expressed in Renminbi)  (LAA R¥FIE)

9 Dividends 9
(a) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the year

IRE

(@ ALFEZRREGFAEMKRE

2009 2008
—ZETAF —ZTENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®T T
No final dividend was proposed for WHREREZE_TTNEFE+A
the year ended 31 December 2009 =+ —HLEFEIREAHRE
(2008: RMB1.5 cents (HK$1.7 cents)) —EEN\E . SRARE15%
per share (1.77%84)) = 25,361

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment
of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2009 (2008:
RMB1.5 cents (HK$1.7 cents)).

The final dividend proposed after 31 December 2008 was not
recognised as a liability at 31 December 2008.

(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the previous financial
year, approved and paid during the year

AAREETEFNEE_EZNF+=-A=1—
AIEFERELAHRE (ZEENE : AR¥155

(1.7784L)) -

RoBEN\E+-A=+—- ARSI KHR
B UER-_ZEN\F+-A=+-HEIAEE

& o

(b) ALBEERRELENFRAER
2 £ —EEBFEERMARE

2009 2008
—ZETAF —EBTN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®T T
Final dividend in respect of the previous REARIERZ T2
financial year, approved and F—ERBEE
paid during the year HKHRE
— Cash dividend -BERE 10,584 88,258
— Scrip dividend (note 28(f)) — BURA B (FaE28(f) 14,777 -
25,361 88,258
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10 (Loss)/earnings per share

()

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (@)
The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based
on the loss attributable to the ordinary equity shareholders
of the Company of RMB98,098,000 (2008: profit of
RMB83,379,000) and the weighted average of 1,705,687,406
(2008: 1,627,540,199) ordinary shares of the Company in issue
during the year as calculated as set out in note 10(b). The
weighted average number of shares for the prior year has been
adjusted for the Capitalisation issue as if the Capitalisation issue
had been in existence throughout 2008. For details on the
Capitalisation issue, please refer to note 28(d).

10 3R (B1E) BF

BREKR(EE) BF

BREX(BR) BADREAATDLZER
FE %S IR R B B3 18 A R 598,098,000t (=&
T\E : FEARKES3,379,0007T ) LA R 2 Kt
F100)EARNTEFAMA AR BTE
BRI F 19 801,705,687,406 % (ZZEEN
F 1 1,627,540,1998R ) 5t & - RiBEFERIM
EFHRDEBECRERMLBITELAR
MNMERMBITR_ZENE—EBFE B
BERL BT 2H BB SMEME28()

(b) Weighted average number of ordinary shares (b) ZEIRINFEFITRREL
Number of ordinary shares
ZEREE
2009 2008
—EEAEF —EENF
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January R—B—RERITEER 1,690,766,500 2,874,333
Effect of shares issued in lisu BERBEEREBTREH
of cash dividend (note 28(f) & (M3E28() 2,447,276 -
Effect of shares issued under the listing  #R15 & EFTRE L HETRMMN
of Taiwan Depositary Receipts B2 (Ff5E28(g))
(note 28(g)) 5,753,425 -
Effect of shares issued under the RIZEEIRFEST BTG M
share option scheme (note 28(h)) 2 (MizE28(h)) 6,720,205 -
Effect of Capitalisation issue (note 28(d)) B AL 21T AL (FEE28(d)) - 1,434,292 167
Effect of shares issued under the RIEZIRBERITIRHOM
global offering (note 28(e)) S/ ([fzE28(e)) - 190,373,699
Weighted average number of TR IR IR
ordinary shares 1,705,687,406 1,627,540,199
(c) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (c) BREHE(ER) BR

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue during
the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2009.

REZE-BBNER-BBAEFE+=A
St—HLEFE UEBEEBENSHBTE
B -
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B RS SR 5 Y RE
(Expressed in Renminbi)  (AAR¥5I{E)

11 Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows:

11 EEM<

REFB R EMRBNOMEMIRBENESHENT ¢

2008
“2INE
Basic
salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-based
and benefits scheme payments
Fees in kind Bonus  contributions Sub-Total (note) Total
HEAHe DY3i)
RER RIK FAFE
He ENFE 4L STEIER gt (i3] st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTR ARBTR ARETRT ARETRT AR®TR AR®TR
Executive directors HITES
Tan Wenhua BXE - 1,167 2 10 1,179 3,331 4,510
Hsu You Yuan S - 1,318 - - 1,318 7,542 8,860
Zhang Liming RESE - 288 2 8 298 1,001 1,299
Non-executive directors ~ FHTES
Chiao Ping Hai £¥E 297 - - - 297 2,517 2,814
Chong Kin Ngai HER 198 - - - 198 - 198
Independent non-executive BV FHTEE
directors
Wong Wing Kuen, Albert FXE 198 - - - 198 - 198
Fu Shuangye NEZE 198 - - - 198 - 198
Lin Wen 079°8 198 - - - 198 - 198
Zhang Chun RE 198 - - - 198 - 198
Total @t 1,287 2,773 4 18 4,082 14,391 18,473

1 1 8 Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited B 3¢ BER1ZE IR B PR A B



11 Directors’ remuneration (continued)

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of Hong

11 EEME @)
RIEEEATHEAI6TRTHENESHENT -

Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: (continued) (&)
2009
—gENE
Basic
salaries, Share-
allowances Retirement based
and benefits scheme payments
Fees in kind Bonus contributions  Sub-Total (note) Total
HEXge - BB
BER RIK XfAHE
e BENAE AL TEIfR et (FY=E) &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARETRT AR%TR AR®TT AR¥ETR ARETRT ARETR
Executive directors YTES
Tan Wenhua BXE - 1,352 - 42 1,394 1,870 3,264
Hsu You Yuan SER - 1,553 - 5 1,558 2,274 3,832
Zhang Liming REMH - 200 - 37 237 882 1,119
Non-executive directors ~ FHTES
Chiao Ping Hai E18E 317 - - - 317 353 670
Chong Kin Ngai HER 212 - - - 212 917 1,129
Independent non-executive B FHTES
directors
Wong Wing Kuen, Albert FKE 212 - - - 212 353 565
Fu Shuangye HEE 212 - - - 212 353 565
Lin Wen 1798 212 - - - 212 353 565
Zhang Chun G 212 - - - 212 353 565
Total @t 1,377 3,105 - 84 4,566 7,708 12,274
Note: This represents the estimated value of shares allotted and issued to sk - B3 =ZEZ+ %X B =+ M A [Solar Technology
the directors of Solar Technology Investment (Cayman) Corp. (“STIC”) Investment (Cayman) Corp. ([ STIC|) EZ5H1 3% & 8
on 24 June 2007 and share options granted to certain directors of TROURKRATIZBANTERESFEN=-TZ
the Company on 29 December 2008 under Share Option Plan of the NE+TZA=-+hBEAETFAQARAESEHERE
Company (note 27). The values of these shares and share options KL EHEE (FiFE27) - 2SR RBRENEETY
are measured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies for ARIBFIEEA (m) (i) T A SR BB B R XS RIBR
share-based payment transactions as set out in note 1(m(iii). SRS EERMETE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B RS 3R M RE

(Expressed in Renminbi)  (LAA R#FI{E)

12 Individuals with highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, four (2008:
four) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 11. The
emolument in respect of the remaining one (2008: one) individual
with the highest emolument is as follows:

12

ReE AL
EERBFMALPENE(ZBBE  ME)A

EE  RENFHRMEIIKRE - 88T — SRS H
AL (ZZ2NE : —R)WHMAT :

2009 2008

—EThEF —ZTN\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ART T

Basic salaries, allowances and benefits in kind B & & « 2EEREYFIE 871 810

Retirement scheme contributions BN B 11 1

Share-based payments AR AR AR08 529 74

1,411 895

The emolument of the remaining one (2008: one) individual with the BT —EBRaFHMAL(ZZENE | —R)HWHM
highest emolument is within the following bands: BUATAR

2009 2008

—2BhE —z2\fF

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AE AE

Nil to HK$1,000,000 751,000,000/ T = 1

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7t £ 1,500,0007 7T - -

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7t £2,000,00058 7T 1 -

1 1

13

During the year, no emoluments have been paid by the Group to the
directors, senior executives or any of the five highest individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office.

(Loss)/profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company

The consolidated (loss)/profit attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company includes a loss of RMB100,797,000 (2008:
RMB27,951,000) which has been dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company.

1 20 Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited B 3¢ BER1ZE IR B PR A B

RAFE - AEEREQES - SRTHRAERE
EREHFMA LTIV ESMBLAEERNBAEE
BRNRBEE - ERBERE -

13 A A AEZRREMN(EBE)
Pl piE
APTEERRELGS (BE) FBEEEAR
#100,797,000 tWEIB(ZZZEN\F : AR
27,951,0007T) @ WERARA T M HEHRHEE o



14 Property, plant and equipment

14 Y5 - BMENRE

(@) The Group (@ A~%H
Plant,
Construction machinery Motor Furniture
in progress Buildings  and equipment vehicles and fittings Total
i  #e FAR
RRIR BF & RE EEHE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREFT ARETT ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T
Cost: A
At 1 January 2008 RZZEN\E-F—H 21,033 25,064 148,876 7,085 6,104 208,162
Exchange adjustments EiAE - - 9 - © (12)
Additions RE 230,677 311 6,927 688 1,436 240,039
Disposals =3 = = = (181) - (181)
Transfers 25 (167,020) 36 166,984 - - -
At 31 December 2008 R=BEN\F+=A=1-H 84,690 25,411 302,778 7,592 7,537 448,008
Accumulated depreciation:  Z:HTE :
At 1 January 2008 RZZEEN\E-F—H = 3,035 26,232 1,663 1,853 32,783
Exchange adjustments B - - ) - - (1)
Charge for the year FEE = 853 18,251 12324 296 20,724
Written back on disposals HERED - - - (163) - (163)
At 31 December 2008 R-ZEN\E+-A=t-H = 3,888 44482 2,824 2,149 53,343
Net book value: REFE:
At 31 December 2008 R-ZE\E+-A=t-H 84,690 21,523 278,29 4,763 5,333 394,665
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B3R 5 PR
(Expressed in Renminbi)  (LAA R¥FIE)

14 Property, plant and equipment continued) 14 Y% - BMERRE@
(@ The Group (continued) (@ A&EEG@®)
Plant,

Construction machinery Motor Furniture
in progress Buildings  and equipment vehicles and fittings Total

BE - #a FAR
EEIR BT R RE BERE by
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARET T ARETR ARBTT ARBTT ARBT T

Cost: R

At 1 January 2009 R=ZENF-A-H 84,690 25,411 322,778 7,502 7,537 448,008
Exchange adjustments ERHR - - - - () ()
Additions B 131,359 8,876 31,439 1,107 1,990 174,771
Disposals HE - - (1,862) - (147) (2,009)
Transfers &g (134,803) 3,800 130,874 - 129 -
At 31 December 2009 R-EEnE+-A=1-A 81,246 38,087 483,229 8,699 9,504 620,765

Accumulated depreciation: E:HTE

At 1 January 2009 RZZENE-A—-H - 3,888 44,482 2,824 2,149 53,343
Exchange adjustments ERHR - - - = (1) (1)
Charge for the year FERE - 1,508 26,912 1,300 1,865 31,675
Written back on disposals RS - - (1,003) - (98) (1,101)
At 31 December 2009 RZZENF+-A=1-H - 5,486 70,391 4,124 3,915 83,916
Net book value: REFE:

At 31 December 2009 W=EBHE+=A=1-R 81,246 32,601 412,838 4,515 5,589 536,849
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14 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

14 Y% - = KR & )

(b) The Company (b) Z&~AH
Office
equipment
WAERME
RMB’000
AREFTT
Cost: RS
At 1 January 2008 R=ZBZNFE—H—H 121
Exchange adjustments [ 5 = ©)
At 31 December 2008 RZEENF+=-A=+—H 112
Accumulated depreciation: SEIE
At 1 January 2008 R=FZENF—HA—H 10
Exchange adjustments ERAZ (1)
Charge for the year FERE 23
At 31 December 2008 R-BZENF+=-A=+—H 32
Net book value: BRMEFE :
At 31 December 2008 R-EENE+=B=+—H 80
Office
equipment
WARRE
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Cost: AR
At 1 January 2009 R=ZTZTHhF—HF—H 112
Exchange adjustments R AR (2)
At 31 December 2009 R=ZZAF+=A=+—H 110
Accumulated depreciation: HEHITE
At 1 January 2009 R=ZEZhF—HA—H 32
Exchange adjustments ERAE (1)
Charge for the year FEIFE 22
At 31 December 2009 R=ZZTAF+=A=+—8 53
Net book value: BREFE :
At 31 December 2009 RZEZAF+=-A=+—A8 57
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B RS SR 5 Y RE
(Expressed in Renminbi)  (AAR¥5I{E)

14 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(c) Al of the Group’s property, plant and equipment is located in

the PRC.

(d) The Group has yet to obtain property ownership certificates
for certain buildings with an aggregate net book value of
RMB4,762,000 (2008: RMB3,624,000) as at 31 December
2009. Notwithstanding this, the directors are of the opinion
that the Group owned the beneficial title to these buildings as

at 31 December 2009.

(e) Fixed assets leased out under operating leases
The Group leases out land and building under operating
lease. The leases typically run for an average period of twenty
years, with an option to renew the leases upon expiry at which
time all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes

contingent rentals.

The Group’s total future minimum lease payments under non-

cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows:

14 Y% - BE &R E )

(c)

(d)

(e)

REBR I - BFERREIURTE e

AEEEAESETEFNERMERES
R-ZZBZAF+=-A=1+—8  ZZBFH
REFELBEAARYEL762,000T(=ZEF
NE : AR#3,624,0007T) ° AT BEER
AREER-—ZZTNE+=-A=+—0#%H
PEBTHNEREE

RELEHEHECZBEIEEE
FAEBRESCEHEHATHRET - ZF
HME-RFEHBH=+5F  TRERFKEE
BEFEAE  MEGRISREREREHNERD -
ZEHES T EFEIREE -

REBERBEFUFHEEEHERB 2 RARE
ERERNT :

The Group
AEH

2009 2008
—EENEF —EEN\E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Within 1 year —FR 1,728 1,728
After 1 year but within 5 years —FREREER 6,911 6,911
After 5 years hF#% 11,878 13,606
20,517 22,245
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15 Lease prepayments

15 HEFANIKIE

The Group
AEE
2009 2008
—EENEF —EEN\E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Cost: AR :
At 1 January n—A—H 49,041 49,041
Additions nE 17,503 -
At 31 December NFr=BA=+F—H 66,544 49,041
Accumulated amortisation: Sty
At 1 January n—HA—H 1,533 555
Charge for the year FEHEHE 1,063 978
At 31 December HNt+=—A=+—H 2,596 1,533
Net book value: BREFE :
At 31 December WNt+t=—B=+—A81 63,948 47,508

Lease prepayments represent the cost of land use rights in respect
of land located in the PRC, which expire on 29 April 2055 and 15

and 27 August 2057.

HERNRERBRAAR T EZ + 4P Lt fE
RERE  ZELHERAESR-_ZEARFNA
“tABR=ZELFNATABR=TtHE

i o
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ER S HYRE

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AAR¥ESIE)

16 Prepayments for raw materials

In order to secure a stable supply of polysilicon materials, the Group
makes prepayments to certain suppliers. Prepayments for raw
materials where the Group expects to take delivery of the inventory
more than twelve months after the balance sheet date are classified

as non-current assets at the year end date.

Included in the Group’s non-current portion of prepayments for raw

materials are amounts due from related parties of RMBNil (2008:
RMB9,249,000) as at 31 December 2009 (note 30(c)).

16 FERERNAKIE
PRAEEES SEFMGE - AREGE T3
EEEMRARE - RASBESREH A% T=
{BA U EHBREEEZFARHE 2 BARE - B
FEESERIPRBEE -

REZZEZNFTZA=+—0  AEENEMH
RANFIRFNHA RS LIERWEES Z2HEAR
BZT(ZFZN\F 1 AKH¥E9,249,0007T) (MiFE

30(c)) °
17 Investments in subsidiaries 17 RHB A TINIRE
The Company
NN

2009 2008

—EENEF —EENF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT AR®T T

Unlisted shares, at cost I LR - R 163,005 367,841

The following list contains the particulars of subsidiaries which

principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The

TRESTBEFELEEXE  EEJEENHE
REANE o BRIESEE - IEENRDERND

class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated. LB o
Proportion of
Place and Authorised/ ownership interest
date of registered/ FrE Rt Al
incorporation/ paid-in/ held by the held by a
operation issued capital Company  subsidiary
Name of companies B ayd B/ MAAT mKE Principal activities Legal form
AR EH e R A BY /CRITER o] DRABE TEEER EERR
% %
SN B EER The PRC Registered and paid-in - 100 Manufacturing and processing  Limited liability
BRAF 9 May 2007 capital of RMB190,000,000 of monocrystaliine silicon company
H TMREBHER ingots/wafers BREFEAH
i S AR 190,000,0007 SHERMTER
AANA B R
WM BB ARG AR The PRC Registered and paid-in - 100 Manufacturing and processing  Limited liability
BRAF 9 December 2007 capital of US$17,500,000 of monocrystaliine silicon company
H TR EHER wafers BREEAH
- 3 17,500,000 T BERNIERES
T=ARAB
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17 Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

Proportion of

Place and Authorised/ ownership interest
date of registered/ FrEfERER Ll
incorporation/ paid-in/ held by the held by a
operation issued capital Company subsidiary
Name of companies B e EE /i MAAT mHiE Principal activities Legal form
AR EH REWHR AH BEH/CRITER B8 AREE FEEH EERR
% %
WMNBHERERAT  ThePRC Registered and paid-in - 100 Manufacturing and processing  Limited liability
15 December 2004 capital of RMB813,000,000 of monocrystalline silicon company
H TMREHER ingots/wafers BREEAH
“ZTME AR#813,000,0005T HERNIESR
+-B+EA BEGE RS
WMEEEMBERAT  The PRC Registered and paid-in - 100 Dormant Limited liability
13 September 2008 capital of RMB200,000,000 K company
HE TMRBHER BREEAH
“ZETNE AR#200,000,0005T
NAT=H
LEREE TR The PRC Registered and paid-in - 100 Processing and trading of Limited liability
BRAF 16 March 1998 capital of US$6,950,000 polysilicon and company
g HMREHER monocrystalline silicon BREFLA
—HANE 6,950,000 7T ingots/wafers
=Rt7xH MIKEESRHER
BEEEEA
Solar Technology Cayman Islands Authorised capital of 100 - Investment holding Limited liability
Investment (Cayman) 15 December 2006 HK$400,000,000 of REEZR company
Corp. HEHE HK$0.10 each and BREFLH
“EERE issued share capital
+ZA+EH of HK$167,895,494
SEE B 78400,000,00058 7T *
BREE0I0BTRERT
P} 78167,895,494 /8 7T
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B ER S HYRE

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AAR¥ESIE)

17 Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

5t
=
s
s
l]
I~
(%
[
a
Ay
i

Proportion of

Place and Authorised/ ownership interest
date of registered/ FrEfERER LBl
incorporation/ paid-in/ held by the held by a
operation issued capital Company  subsidiary
Name of companies B3 ayd B/ N mHiE Principal activities Legal form
AEER REHERAH EH/BRITER A AEFE FEXK EERR
% %

Wealthy Rise International  Hong Kong Authorised share capital of — 100 Trading of polysilicon and Limited liability
Limited 21 June 2007 HK$10,000 of HK$1 each monocrystalline company
EAERBRAR & and issued share capital of ingots/wafers BREFEAH

“EELE HK$1 BELRRERES
AA=t—H SEERAR10,0008 7T 0 e/ R
BREEIETR
BRIRAR1BT
MR R The PRC Registered and paid-in capital - 51 Manufacturing of photovoltaic  Limited liability
BRAF 17 July 2009 of RMB40,000,000 modules and design and company
H TMEHER installation of photovoltaic ~ BREEAF
“ETHhE AR#40,000,0007% systems
tAt+tH BUERREARRTR
RERRAS
Rising Sun Investment Hong Kong Authorised share capital of 100 - Investment holding Limited liability
Company Limited 4 February 2009 HK$10,000 of HK$1 each REER company
ARBREARAH & and issued share capital of BREFLA
—E2EThE HK$1
—AmA SEERAR10,000/8 7
BREEIETR
BRTRA1ET
Silicon Solar Materials Hong Kong Authorised share capital of - 100 Investment holding Limited liability
Company Limited 28 November 2008 HK$10,000 of HK$1 each REER company
AGHEMBERAR B and issued share capital BREEAT
—EENE of HK$1
+—A=t/\B EERAN10,0008 7 ¢
BREEIETR
BRIRF1BR

A subsidiary of the Company, Tayaneng Investments Limited, was
deregistered during the year ended 31 December 2009, resulting in

a loss on deregistration of RMB73,603,000 of the Company.
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18 Inventories 18 &

(@) Inventories in the consolidated balance sheet () FREEARRZFEERE:
comprise:
The Group
AEE
2009 2008
—gThE —EENEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARMETF T
Raw materials ERE 251,013 272,475
Work-in-progress EEm 88,056 53,466
Finished goods el 102,219 69,592
441,288 395,533
(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories (b) BRAEZHNGEESEINWT :
recognised as an expense is as follows:
The Group
AEE
2009 2008
—2ENE —EENEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Carrying amount of inventories sold EERENREE 491,852 1,047,190
Write-down of inventories FEHUR 172,648 220,235
664,500 1,267,425
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B ISR 5 Y RE
(Expressed in Renminbi)  (MAAR¥5I{E)

19 Trade and other receivables

19 BRE Z R KR HmEWIR

The Group The Company
AEE b NN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENF —EEN\FE —EEAF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T AR¥TT ARET T
Trade debtors and bills EWE S RAREE
receivable (note 19(a)) (FE19(a)) 165,501 111,003 - -
Prepayments for raw materials  RATERIFE S 70IE
(note 19(b)) (HEE19(0)) 93,540 133,891 - =
Deposits and other receivables &4 & H b fEUREIE
(note 19(c)) (FEE19(c)) 146,320 78,082 199 2,491
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEUR T B 2 Bl3k1E
(note 19(g)) (H¥EE19(g)) - - 838,878 738,759
405,361 322,976 839,077 741,250

All the trade and other receivables (including amounts due from
subsidiaries) are expected to be recovered or recognised as

expense within one year.

TER P FE U B 5 AR AR R LA FE W ROE (B R R
i A RFIR) R —F AR EHER B

(@) Included in trade debtors and bills receivable are aggregate () R=ZBhE+=-A=+-H0 EKES

amounts due from related parties of RMB90,499,000 (2008:
RMB40,463,000) as at 31 December 2009 (note 30(c)).

RARRECFERRBEEDNTELBEA

R#90,499000 L (ZZEZENF | AR
40,463,0007¢) (F#zE30(c)) °

(b) Included in current portion of prepayments for raw materials (b) R==ZThE+=A=+—H BE#EE

are amounts due from related parties of RMB29,394,000 (2008:
RMB17,828,000) as at 31 December 2009 (note 30(c)).

NRBNH RS BEERBEAEST ZREA

R#29304 00T (ZZEZNF | ARK
17,828,0007T) (FffzE30(c)) °

() Included in the Group’s deposits and other receivables are () R=ZBAFE+=A=+—H TEEDR

amount due from a related party of RMB5,557,000 (2008:

RMB Nil) as at 31 December 2009 (note 30(c)).
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19 Trade and other receivables (continued)

(d)

The ageing analysis of trade debtors and bills receivable (net
of allowance for doubtful debts) based on invoice date is as
follows:

19 B E 5 RN H A EIGRIR @)

(d)

MBRERERNERE S RARZENER
BRIREZEHIMMT

The Group
REH

2009 2008
—EThEF —EEN\E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR¥TTT
Within 1 month —@EBAR 86,336 54,872
1 to 3 months —Z={@A 66,746 45,699
3 to 6 months =ZX1E8 9,717 6,054
6 to 12 months NET=EA 2,385 1,895
1to 2 years —ZEWE 317 2,483
165,501 111,003

(e)

Trade debtors are due within 30 to 90 days from the date of
billing. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out
in note 33(a).

Impairment of trade debtors and bills receivable
Impairment losses in respect of trade debtors and bills
receivable are recorded using an allowance account unless
the Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote,
in which case the impairment loss is written off against trade
debtors and bills receivable directly (see note 1(g)(i)). During
the year, trade debtors of the Group totalling RMB4,752,000
(2008: Nil) were individually determined to be impaired. The
individually impaired receivables related to customers that
were in financial difficulties and management assessed that all
receivables are not expected to be recovered. Subsequently,
specific allowances for doubtful debts of RMB4,752,000 (2008:
Nil) were recognised as at 31 December 2009.

BWEZERRTIN AT H 302900 A
H o REBEEBR ZE — SR BHNMFESS() °

(e)

B E 5 iR R B RE

FEWE SRR R ZERESEDREAESBR
8% 0 BRIEARE EAR (S R E TR IE A AT BE AR
B> RZBERT  RESEEEEREEKE
SRR EZEMEE (RHEEE1(9)30) - TR -
AEBEWE S RARE 1 ARME4,752,000
T(ZEENE  &)ERETACHE - @
BIEREEKGERBANERENEFE
B mERE L TEHATE B RIER T
WE - 2% R-ZEFAF+-A=+—H
FRIRERASRIRE AR 4,752,000t (=
TEN\F |-
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(Expressed in Renminbi)  (MAAR¥5I{E)

19 FEINE ZERA KR E L EWRIE @)

19 Trade and other receivables (continued)

() Trade debtors and bills receivable that are not ( LEEENEKESRIEREE
impaired
The ageing analysis of trade debtors and bills receivable b £ 8 Bl 25 1L B 4% 1R & R E I FE U E 2 8RR
that are neither individually nor collectively considered to be SR ZIREBRONAT :

impaired are as follows:

The Group
REE

2009 2008
—EENEF —ZENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR¥T T
Neither past due nor impaired 3 #% 38 HA = R B 160,960 66,355
Less than 1 month past due AL RA—EA 492 34,174
1 to 3 months past due BH—Z==@A 1,323 6,662
3 to 6 months past due BE=ZXEA 2,409 1,102
6 to 12 months past due BHAE+={EA = 1,565
1 to 2 years past due BE—ZWE 317 1,145
4,541 44,648
165,501 111,003
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a b % 36 2R SR (B 2 FE U R IB B 2 B M AR AT R

(9)

wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history
of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of individual customers that have a good track record
with the Group. Based on past experience, management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect
of these balances as there has not been a significant change
in credit quality and the balance are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-
free and recoverable on demand.
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20 Pledged deposits 20 2IEFFXK

Certain of the Group’s bank deposits were pledged to secure bank AREEE THRITEACHIAEEERE 2RITEFRR
loans and banking facilities granted to the Group as follows: SRITREEHER  HIWT :
The Group
AEH
2009 2008
—EEAEF —EENFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®BTT
Pledged as security for bills payable RIFER M EIE 2K @ 35,000 20,000
Guarantee deposits for issuance of BFEERHERR ZERER
letters of credit 9,055 366
Pledged as security for a bank loan RIFEARTERZERR - 4,705
44,055 25,071
21 Cash at bank and in hand 21 RITRFHERASE
The Group The Company
AEH PN/
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EEAF —EENE —EEAF —EENFE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥ET T ARET T ARET T
Cash at bank and in hand BITRFERS 236,191 270,402 3,527 180
Deposits with banks with REZIEE
original maturity BB=EAz
over three months RITIERX (57,020) -
Cash and cash equivalents RERERFZ
in the cash flow statement RERRESEEY 179,171 270,402
Cash at bank and in hand totalling RMB200,739,000 (2008: R-ZEZAF+-A=1+—H8 ROKFERS
RMB208,437,000) as at 31 December 2009 is denominated in EH AR®200,739,000 T (ZEENFE : AR
RMB. RMB is not a freely convertible currency and the remittance of 208,437,0007T) LA R¥EFIE - ARMEBTAHH
funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by HBEE  HEBEREHESEZPEBTINE
the PRC government. EHIHRR o
The effective annual interest rate for deposits with banks was 0.28% REBBENFT-A=+—H  RIERZERE
(2008: 0.29%) as at 31 December 2009. FIZEH028E(=ZZZNF : 0.29F)
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22 Trade and other payables

22 BV E SRR EEARIR

The Group The Company
AEE b NN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EBNEF —EEN\FE —EEAF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T ARET T ARET T
Trade payables (note 22(a)) EE SR
(KiEE22(a)) 78,603 143,223 — -
Bills payable (note 22(b)) FEAZE (KizE22(0)) 63,417 24,288 - -
Other payables and accrued HAoth T FRIE R FEET
expenses (note 22(c)) B (FffE22(c)) 64,150 84,772 3,433 2,897
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEATHI B A RIFRIE
(note 22(d)) (BEE22(d)) - = 22,049 236,189
Amount due to a director BN —EESRE
(note 30(e)) (BH&E30(e)) - 150 - =
206,170 252,433 25,482 239,086

All of the trade and other payables (including amounts due to
subsidiaries and a director) are expected to be settled within one

year.

(a) The ageing analysis of trade payables as of the balance sheet

date is as follows:

BEHRERENES RRARAMENKE (BEEN
MBARR - BEBZFR) BN —FREN -

(a) RHEER BAIESRANRRIMAOT :

The Group
AEE

2009 2008
—EZhEF —ZZTN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
Within 1 month —@EBRA 24,533 58,526
1-3 months —Z=1@A 18,425 67,218
3-6 months =ZXE8 25,085 11,171
6-12 months NET=@EA 5,654 3,884
1-2 years —Z2WF 4,906 2,424
78,603 143,223

Included in trade payables are amounts due to related parties
of RMB15,287,000 (2008: RMB63,448,000) at 31 December

2009 (note 30(d)).
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22 Trade and other payables (continued) 22 BNEZIRAREMERIE @)

(b) The Group’s bills payable of RMB63,417,000 (2008: (b) AEBR=—_ZESAE+-_A=+—HME
RMB24,288,000) as at 31 December 2009 are secured NEZEARYG3,417,000T (ZBZ )\ F
by the Group’s bank deposits of RMB35,000,000 (2008: AR #24,288,0007w) * AREERITER
RMB20,000,000) (note 20). AR #35000000T(=ZFZNE : ARYE

20,000,0007T ) fE AR (Mt FE20) o

Included in the Group’s bills payable are bills payable to related REBR-_ZEEANE+=_A=+—HHW
parties of RMB11,240,000 (2008:RMB15,000,000) as at 31 EREEEEENBEINZEAR
December 2009 (note 30(d)). ¥ 11240000 T (ZZZENEF : AR

15,000,0007T) (FfzE30(d)) °

(c) Included in the Group’s other payables and accrued expenses (c) *EER=_ZZhE+=-A=+—HHNH
are receipts in advance from a related party of RMB Nil tENREREGEEZERE—BREEAN
(2008:RMB20,000,000) as at 31 December 2009 (note 30(d)). BNHEARBET(ZZESNE . ARK

20,000,0007¢ ) (Htz£30(d)) °

(d) The amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free (d) ENHWBLRREREER RERERE
and repayable on demand. RIEE o
23 Interest-bearing borrowings 23 TEEE
The analysis of the carrying amount of interest-bearing borrowings is STEEENREESTAT
as follows:
The Group
AEH
2009 2008
—EENE —ZENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Short-term bank loans EHIRITER
— unsecured — IR 289,274 200,000
— secured (note 23(a)) — B (FFEE23(a)) - 14,580
289,274 214,580
Long-term loans RHIER
— unsecured bank loan (note 23(b)) — HIK IR 1T B R (FIFE23(D)) 70,000 -
— municipal government loan (note 23(c)) — B ER (FEE23(c) 3,227 3,003
73,227 3,003
362,501 217,583
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23 Interest-bearing borrowings (continued) 23 T EEE@m)
(a) Certain banking facilities and loans granted to the Group are (a) R=2EFENAFE+=-A=+—8  ~xEHFf
secured by the Group’s bank deposits of RMB44,055,000 EEETHRTRERERUKNEBREH A
(2008: RMB25,071,000) as at 31 December 2009 (note 20). R# 44055000t (ZEENEFE : AR

25,071,0007¢) HSRAT I SR IR AR (BfRE20) o

(b) The bank loan is unsecured, interest-bearing at a fixed rate of (b) SRITERARIER - REEEFE4EF
5.4% per annum and is fully repayable in 2011. B RER-Z——FEBHEE -
(c) The municipal government loan is repayable as follows: (c) EEEBTBFERNT:
The Group
AEE
2009 2008
—ZThE —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR¥T T
Within 1 year —FR 364 _
After 1 year but within 2 years —FEBERMER 364 364
After 2 years but within 5 years MEREREFR 1,091 1,091
After 5 years AELE 1,408 1,548
3,227 3,003
The municipal government loan was received by the Group AEBEEHRAPEEZES HBMNERBEREREH
for constructing a manufacturing plant in Jinzhou, Liaoning BFER - BEWBAEFTERERNIRGERR
Province, the PRC. There are no unfulfilled conditions or MRBI1E > BREIENT - RETEFFR265EER
contingencies relating to the municipal government loan. It is BAR-E-EEE-_ZE_EFHPHESBBEEE -

unsecured, interest-bearing at a fixed rate of 2.55% per annum
and is fully repayable by instalments from 2010 to 2020.
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24 Income tax in the consolidated balance

sheet
(@) Current taxation in the consolidated balance

sheet represents:

24 I|/

\

REES

@ #=E

3§53

RRV TSR

EESBRANENHIBIERR

The Group
rEH
2009 2008
—EEAEF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax S EHRE 2SR R
for the year 28 65,610
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BB ERER - (63,173)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax payable B EEEMEH 28 2,437
Representing: HER
Current tax recoverable BUHA AT Uk @155 18 - (1,878)
Current tax payable BIHRFE B 18 28 4,315
28 2,437
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (b) BRELEHIBEEERERE
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised NG EEAERBRANELERIESE (&
in the consolidated balance sheet and the movements during BWEERERSENT :
the year are as follows:
The Group
rEH
Government Inventory  Undistributed Tax
grant provisions profits losses Total
BUN R FEREAE  TU2KFE BBER @st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT AREBTT AR¥ETR AR¥ETR
Deferred tax arising from:  RETHIREH
EEBE :
At 1 January 2008 R-ZZEN\F—HF—H 922 - - - 922
Credited/(charged) to the RIBERSTA(OKR)
income statement (note 8(a))  (Fffz£8(a)) 2,953 27,706 (7,232) - 23,427
At 31 December 2008 R=ZENF
+=A=+—H 3,875 27,706 (7,232) — 24,349
At 1 January 2009 R-ZEZEAF—A—H 3,875 27,706 (7,232) - 24,349
Credited/(charged) to the REB&EERTA(H0K)
income statement (note 8(@))  (KZE8(a) (3,875) (22,830) 2,563 38,049 13,907
At 31 December 2009 R-ZEZhE
+=A=+—AH - 4,876 (4,669) 38,049 38,256
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24 Income tax in the consolidated balance

sheet (continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised

24 ZEEEEBRANFER @

(b) HRELEHREEREE @)

(continued)
The Group
REER
2009 2008
—gBhE —EN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETT
Net deferred tax assets recognised REEEERBERVIELTE
in the balance sheet EERE 42,925 31,581
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised REEEBREANVELERIE
in the balance sheet EEFEE (4,669) (7,232)
38,256 24,349

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in
respect of cumulative tax losses of RMB28,452,000 (2008:
RMB32,731,000) and RMB10,176,000 (2008: Nil) attributable
to its subsidiaries in Hong Kong and the PRC, respectively,
as it is not probable that future taxable profits against which
losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax
jurisdiction and entities. The tax losses of the subsidiary in
Hong Kong do not expire under current tax legislation while
those of the subsidiary in the PRC will expire within five years.

25 Deferred income

Various government grants have been received by the Group for
generating export sales, participating in high-tech industry and
constructing various manufacturing plants in Jinzhou, Liaoning
Province, the PRC. In addition, certain government grants have
been received by the Group to compensate for its research and
development expenses in relation to the manufacturing of mono-
crystalline silicon solar ingots and wafers and interest expenses for
certain specific loans. Amounts of RMB10,023,000 (note 5) (2008:
RMB1,265,000) have been recognised in the income statement for
the year ended 31 December 2009.

The remaining unused balances as at each balance sheet date are
included in the consolidated balance sheet as deferred income.
There are no unfulfiled conditions or contingencies relating to these
grants. Amounts of RMB63,119,000 (2008: RMB25,473,000) of
deferred income will be recognised into the income statement after
more than one year.

1 38 Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited B 3¢ BER1ZE IR B PR A B

(c) EIARERELEBIEESE
AEBTEREFTBRPEHRBLAAA
R#028452000 L (ZZEZENFE : AR
32,731,0007t) & AR #¥10,176,000T (==
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BEE REAZSEHERUHANRRKRER
RABETARAREEEEARE R EiRERER
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25 IEFEW A

AEBRELEHOME  RESRNETERRS
ERZEEARNERZIUERMERSTEA BN
AL o MO - AEBENESE T HRT B LLEBD
HBGE KRG E RERRES 2MEAX 0 RE
BETHEERZAEEX BE-EZThEF
TZA=T-—HBLFE RURBEREBIAAR
#10,023,000T (MIzE5) (ZZZENFE : ARM
1,265,0007T) °

NREEER  ABAZEBREPNANGEEEARE
o FIMMEEGEURA o 2SR 8 R E AR 2 R
HRAEIE o ELWAANRYEG3,119,000T (=F
T)N\E . AR¥25,473,0007T) ERZR—FE&R
Wz R AR ©



26 Retirement benefit schemes

Employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to
participate in a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme
administered and operated by the local municipal government. The
Group’s PRC subsidiaries were required to make contributions to
the scheme at 20% of the employees’ salaries for the years ended
31 December 2008 and 2009 to fund the retirement benefits of the
employees.

The Group is required to participate in defined contribution
retirement schemes administered and operated by Bureau of Labour
Insurance of Taiwan for employees employed in Taiwan. Under
the schemes the employer is required to make contributions to the
schemes at 6% of the employees’ relevant income. Contributions to
the schemes vest immediately.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$20,000. Contributions to the MPF scheme vest
immediately.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of
retirement benefits associated with the schemes beyond the
contributions described above.

26 RIKERIGTE]

REETEMBEARES RS EBE Bt H HBUT
EERERNERRRERAEFTE - B2-FF
NERZZBZEAF+ZA=Z+—BLEFE  £5H
B Y B8 A B 2B R 1B B % & #920% A 51 & 4F H it
o REESRABFREES -

FEEARZERBENEESNASESE TR
REERERNERBEIRMKENTE - REZZ
=t 8 BEEARESHERA 6% & B H 4
o A EUEH R ERENEFER S

AEBETEREFBBFMEIBETERG - HE
ZEBEBRIFMEENESRBHMEARESE
B (MaEesTE ) - BESF AR ERETRMAG
2 HBUZTAEE - BESHIRERERH
EE R BRIESHEBERAIS% M T &I H ALK
bAfg A 1HEIUA20,000/8 T & LR  @5REE
1 AR ENRF SR8 -

B BRI - AEEBARXI GRS RIEEN
BRAENAEEMEANERE -
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27 R0 REER
(@) STICIEERRETE

27 Equity compensation benefits
(@) STIC Employee Share Plan

For the purpose of providing compensation to certain senior
management and employees (the “Relevant Employees”) of
the acquisition of Solar Technology Investment (Cayman)
Corp. and its subsidiaries (“the Acquired Group”) and those
who have made past contribution to the Acquired Group (the
“Other Relevant Officers”) for their past contribution to the
development of the Acquired Group and/or as an incentive
for their future performance, pursuant to the board resolutions
of STIC passed on 24 June 2007, STIC allotted and issued,
an aggregate of 126,114,814 shares of HK$0.1 each for an
aggregate subscription price of HK$12,611,481 (equivalent
to RMB12,244,000) to the Relevant Employees and the Other
Relevant Officers. Relevant Employees have agreed with
Messrs. Hsu You Yuan, Tan Wenhua and Chiao Ping Hai
(the “Relevant Directors”), and the Relevant Directors have
undertaken with one another, that the Relevant Directors are
entitled to buy back such shares from the Relevant Employees
at the subscription cost if the Relevant Employees cease to be
employed for reasons other than becoming incapacitated by
work-inflicted injury which would prevent them from performing
their duties, or deceased before the end of the relevant lock-
up period (the “Return Condition”).

Out of the total allotted and issued shares of 126,114,814
shares, 116,961,911 shares are subject to the Return
Condition. Accordingly, at the end of each year end, the
Acquired Group is required to estimate the number of
shares which will continue to be held by the original Relevant
Employees at the end of the relevant lock-up period and
recognise the value of such shares over the subscription cost
as an employee expense on a straight-line basis over the
relevant lock-up period. Employee expenses as a result of the
allotment of such shares subject to the Return Condition to the
Relevant Employees will be approximately RMB17.0 million,
RMB9.0 million, RMB4.8 million and RMB1.9 million for each
of the financial years ended/ending 31 December 2008, 2009,
2010 and 2011, respectively, assuming there is no termination
of the Relevant Employees’ employment before the end of the
relevant vesting period. In respect of those shares which are
not subject to the Return Condition, the value of such shares
over the subscription cost was recognised as an employee
expense on the allotment date.
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27 Equity compensation benefits (continued)

()

STIC Employee Share Plan (continued)

On 26 June 2007, the Company acquired the entire interest of
the Acquired Group. As shareholders of the Acquired Group,
the Relevant Employees and the Other Relevant Officers were
entitled to and did subscribe for 114,973 shares of HK$0.1
each of the Company for an aggregate consideration of
HK$12,611,481 (equivalent to RMB12,244,000). The Return
Condition remains applicable to those Relevant Employees
to the effect that if the Relevant Employees cease to be
employed for reasons other than becoming incapacitated by
work-inflicted injury which would prevent them from performing
their duties or deceased before the end of the relevant lock-up
period, the Relevant Directors are entitled to buy back those
shares which remain subject to the lock-up period from the
Relevant Employees, provided that in the event that a Relevant
Employee ceases to be employed within one year after the
listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange (“the
Listing Date”), the Relevant Directors shall not be entitled to
buy back the relevant shares until the first anniversary of the
Listing Date.

Total employee expenses as a result of the allotment of the
employee shares (including those shares with and without the
Return Condition) are RMB8,997,000 (2008: RMB17,025,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2009.

()  The terms and conditions of the shares granted to the
Relevant Employees are as follows:

Date of grant

27 R EBER @)
(@) STICEERDErE(E)

R-ZZLHFERA=TARA > XAFKRE
WHBEENESETR - FABREBES
WK FHEEEREGEESABES
LA RE12,611,481 8T (HERARE
12,244,00070 ) R H 114,973 R 5 R EE0.1
BITHARATRMG » M ELMESTREE
B o  BEKHENEANREBES  MEE
EETEHZE(RIEEIERAREBITHR
B R EREEHTENIHERN) - BE
EEEARNEREEREZERAENEE
HBRM > AIREMEEEENEALARS
RERXAMER(T EHBABHD B —FRKLES
B SEEER LT RS —ASEERITE
IBEMEREAR D ©

BE_ZZNF+-_HA=+—HLEFE "
FHEZEERMMELENESHIAES
ARYB8997,000 L (ZZEZENFE : ARY
17,025,0007t) ' EER B EIEMERKRHE
SRBRIRMFAIR LD ©

) BRTERESNROERREEDT

Number of shares
allotted and issued

Lock-up conditions

BB BB RBITROEBE FEBRN

24 June 2007 26,657 1 December 2008

= AASPAASATE ST \FT=A—H
24 June 2007 26,657 1 December 2009
—EELFRAZTHEA —EThEFE+=A—H
24 June 2007 26,657 1 December 2010
—EEEFEARAZTTEA —E-TF+=A—H
24 June 2007 26,658 1 December 2011
—EZLFARA=+TA —=——%+=HA—H

There was no change in the number of shares allotted
and issued from the date of grant to 31 December 2009.

BEHANE-SFAFEL-A=1+—0  BER
FTRBOUE LELD -
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27 Equity compensation benefits (continued)
(@) STIC Employee Share Plan (continued)

(i)

Fair value of shares and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for shares
allotted and issued is measured by reference to the fair
value of shares granted. The estimate of the fair values of
the shares granted during the year ended 31 December
2009 is measured at the grant date using the price to
earnings multiple valuation method. The valuation is
derived from applying (i) an expected price to earnings
multiple of a group of listed companies operating in
comparable businesses, adjusted for the uniqueness of
the subject being valued; and (i) the net profit, excluding
non-operating income and expenses, of the Acquired
Group with appropriate adjustments.

Fair value of shares and assumptions
BHHATFERES

Fair value at measurement date
REtE AN AFE

Expected price to earnings multiple
FAHTmRE

The price to earnings multiple is determined with
reference to comparable listed companies, after
discounting for marketability to reflect illiquidity in nature
at the grant date.

Certain shares were granted under a service condition.
This condition has not been taken into account in
the grant date fair value measurement of the services
received. There were no market conditions associated
with the share grants.
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AFKFERHER (LR EED TR
BB ERELAR) ) RIFEWEE
EAEEARENAR(TEEELE
WA RBES) FTfSH ©

RMB57.50 million
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MERDESETNELR EH A AE
o WEERERERONRE BHRS
TS RBRENEZE ©

B TROTIRBIBIRAF R o 2RI
RMATTEREK H B BB SRBNAF
18 o TR TR TSR o



27 Equity compensation benefits (continued)
(b) Share Option Plan of the Company

The Company adopted a Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 27 February 2008 for the recruitment and retention of
quality executives and employees. In consideration for HK$1
from each grantee, options to subscribe for an aggregate
of 42,269,163 ordinary shares at a subscription price of
HK$1.974 were granted to 185 grantees under the Scheme
on 29 December 2008. Tranche A of the Scheme was fully
vested on the date of grant and Tranche B of the Scheme was
fully vested on 30 June 2009. Each option gives the holder the
right to subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company and is
settled gross in shares.

() The terms and conditions of the options granted under

27 R REEFR @)

(b)

RAT 2 BRAERE
KABR=ZZBZENF-A=-+LARMNER
B E(TZEE ) UERAREREETHR
AEBREE - ARAR-ZZENEFE+ZA
=+ N B RRZET BIE 185 AR AR K A
RIBE1.974B TRBEE 42,269,163 E B
REVEBIRTE - BEARARINRE BT
ZatBFTS R RABRENR L AH2EE
& Mzt R CEABRER=-ZZN
FARAZTHRZHEE - SOBREETE
BARBARF -REBRZERN » L2H
LURMD &S °

() RIEZEBIFTR B IR A R R AR

the Scheme are as follows: W
Tranche A Tranche B
8 2
Number of options 19,500,000 22,769,163
BREZE 19,500,00013 22,769,1631%
Contractual life of options 0.3 year 2 years
BRESHTH 0.3 M

Exercisable period

Any time from 30 December 2008 up

to the expiry date of 30 April 2009

1T

H=ZZENF+ZA=tHEEZIHA

ZEENFMA =+ B AR

At each of the last business days

of August and December 2009 and
April, August and December 2010
during the period from 30 June 2009
up to the expiry date of

31 December 2010
H-ZEZENFRA=THEZZHA
—E-EF+-A=1+—HLBER
“EZhFENARTZAUR
—Z-ZFNA - NARt=A
BEANGE—EE%H
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27 Equity compensation benefits (continued) 27 R REER @)
(b) Share Option Plan of the Company (continued) (b) ZAPEZEERRETE (@)
(i) The number and weighted average exercise prices of () EBREMNEE RNEFHTEEHTIM
share options are as follows: T
Tranche A Tranche B
R4 24
Weighted Weighted
average exercise Number of average exercise Number of
price options price options
INFEF T EE BREHE NEFYTEE BRESE
‘000 ‘000
T17 T3
Outstanding at R-ZBENF - - - =
1 January 2008 —H—H
e RATE
Granted during the year — RE R H HK$1.974 19,500 HK$1.974 22,769
1.974% 7T 1.974% 7T
Outstanding at RZBZNFE HK$1.974 19,500 HK$1.974 22,769
31 December 2008 +t=A=+—~H 1.974%8 7T 1.9748 7T
e RATE
Exercisable at RIZEENFE HK$1.974 19,500 = =
31 December 2008 +=A=+—H 1.974%8 7T
AT
QOutstanding at R-ZZhEF HK$1.974 19,500 HK$1.974 22,769
1 January 2009 —B—H 1.9747% T 1.974% T
e RATE
Exercised during the year RERIT HK$1.974 (9,215) HK$1.974 (1,675)
1.974% T 1.974% T
Lapsed during the year RER KR HK$1.974 (10,285) - -
1.974%8 T
Qutstanding at R-ZZNEFE = - HK$1.974 21,094
31 December 2009 +=BA=+—H 1.974% T
i RATIE
Exercisable at RIEZNF - - HK$1.974 21,094
31 December 2009 +=A=+—H 1.974%8 T
A{TE
The weighted average share price at the date of FARATEZEREATEERZMEFLIRES
exercise for share options exercised during the year was 197480 (=22 )\F : TEA) °

HK$1.974 (2008: not applicable).

The options outstanding at 31 December 2009 had an RE-BEBEANFT_A=T+—HBERTEZBREZ
exercise price of HK$1.974 (2008: HK$1.974) and a TEER1.974B T (ZFZNF 1 1.9748T) - M
weighted average remaining contractual life of 1 year MEFEIRTENFHRAIF(ZZTN\F 1.2F) o

(2008: 1.2 years).
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27 Equity compensation benefits (continued) 27 R REER @)

(b) Share Option Plan of the Company (continued) (b) QB ZEERERTE (@)
(i) Fair value of share options and assumptions (i) SEREL-FERER
The fair value of services received in return for share MR HBREMERBENALE DK
options granted is measured by reference to the fair SERBRHBRENALESTEZ - BE=
value of the share options granted. The estimate of the EENF+_A=1+T—HILEFEERHE
fair values of the share options granted during the year RIEMMGETAFE - DR EEEE
ended 31 December 2009 is measured at the grant date —HEHABEERE c BRESIEL
based on a binomial lattice model. The contractual life of Ty F{ER A MR EE -

the share options is used as an input into this model.

Fair value of share options and assumptions BREL-FERER
Tranche A Tranche B
Rz o#
Stock asset price BRHEERE HK$1.870 HK$1.870
1.870/8 7T 1.870/8 7T
Annualised volatility (expressed asa  FE KR (WA =B BifEE R Ak A 111.647% 87.08%
weighted average volatility used IIFEF TR IR SR )

in the modelling under the binomial
lattice model)

Dividend yield BE= 1.90% 1.90%
Risk-free interest rate (based on EREANR(RBREESEREER 0.020% 0.591%
Hong Kong Monetary Authority MNEESZETTE)

Exchange Fund Notes)

Certain share options were granted under a service ETRRETZRBERERE o ZIEYE
condition. This condition has not been taken into account WARMAGTER R E B AESRBEND
in the grant date fair value measurement of the services TE - BT BRETHRMIGRE

received. There were no market conditions associated
with the share option grants.
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28 Share capital 28 fx7<

(@) The Group (@) &~&£E
Details of the movements in capital and reserves of the Group REBEARZESHNFBIENGEESR
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. SEIREK o
(b) The Company (b) AT
Exchange  Accumulated
Share capital ~ Share premium  Capital reserve reserve losses Total
R RVEE BRGE ER G RitEE AF
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ffE  AR¥TR ARBTRT ARBTT ARMTRT AR¥ETR AR¥TR
Balance at 1 January 2008 R-ZBNF—-A—A 2zt 279 367,562 - - (2,405) 365,436
Changes in equity for 2008: T \FrRHEE:
Dividends approved in respect of the previous year RBEEEHEZRS 9(b) - (88,258) - - - (88,258)
Capitalisation issue ERLEBT 28(d) 129,086 (129,086) - - - -
Shares issued under the global offering REZRBERTRE 28(e) 22,824 643,637 - - - 666,461
Share issuing costs RABITHAE 28(e) - (53,001) - - - (53,001)
Share-based payments PR R 55008 29(c) - - 7,403 - - 7,403
Total comprehensive income for the year FR2ABALE - - - 175 (27,951) (27,776)
Balance at 31 December 2008 and R-BBNF+-A=1+-HK
1 January 2009 —EThE-B-R2iR 152,189 740,854 7,408 175 (30,356) 870,265
Changes in equity for 2009: “EENFRREE:
Dividends approved in respect of the previous year RBEEEHEZRE 9(o) - (25,361) - - - (25,361)
Shares issued in lieu of cash dividend RRRREREBRTRG 28() 485 14,292 - - - 14,777
Shares issued under the listing of Taiwan BEAEFTEE LHRTRG
Depositary Receipts 28(g) 8,824 191,766 - - - 200,590
Share issuing costs BRAABITHA 28() - (3,780) - - - (3,780)
Shares issued under the share option scheme BEBRETIRTRG 28(h) 960 17,977 - - - 18,937
Share-based payments URDXFE 29(0) - 4,680 7,465 - 3,904 16,049
Total comprehensive income for the year FRZERAEE - - - (10,496) (100,797) (111,293)
Balance at 31 December 2009 R-BBAET-A=+-Rz#t 162,458 940,428 14,868 (10,321) (127,249) 980,184

1 46 Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited & Y82 RIZR AR A T



28 Share capital (continued)

(c) Authorised and issued share capital

28 BR7N ()

(c) EEREBHITRAE

The Company
NG|
2009 2008
“EENE b= %3
No. of shares '000 No. of shares ‘000
RBEE Tr RABE T
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each SRAB0IBTHEER 5,000,000,000 HK$500,000 5,000,000,000 HK$500,000
7&#500,000 7B#500,000
Equivalent to BER RMB450,000 RMB450,000
AK#450,000 AR#450,000
Ordinary shares, issued BRITR
and fully paid: HREER
At 1 January R-B—H 1,690,766,500 RMB152,189 2,874,333 RMB279
AE#152,189 AR#279
Capitalisation issue (note 28(d)) BRI BT (HE28(d)) - - 1,434,292,167 129,086
Shares issued under the RIE2HREERTRN
global offering (note 28(e)) (FizE28(e)) - - 253,600,000 22,824
Shares issued in lieu of LRGETRERSRE
cash dividend (note 28(f) (Fi=E28(1) 5,513,925 485 - -
Shares issued under the
listing of Taiwan BEAEETES
Depositary Receipts ERBTRA
(note 28(g)) (FizE28(g)) 100,000,000 8,824 - -
Shares issued under the RIEEREE
share option scheme BITRG
(note 28(n) GEZ) 10,890,000 960 = =
At 31 December Wt=B=1+-8 1,807,170,425 RMB162,458 1,690,766,500 RMB152,189
AR#162,458 AR¥152,189

(d)

Pursuant to the ordinary resolutions passed on 27 February
2008, the directors allotted and issued a total of 1,434,292,167
shares of HK$0.1 (equivalent to RMB0.09) each credited as
fully paid at par to the shareholders whose names appeared
on the register of members of the Company at the close of
business on the date of the Prospectus dated 17 March 2008
in proportion to their shareholdings at that date by capitalising
a sum of HK$143,429,000 (equivalent to RMB129,086,000)
standing to the credit of the share premium account of the

Company.

The allotment and issue of shares of the Company mentioned

above is referred to as the “Capitalisation issue”.

7de

(d) RER=-ZZENE_A-++LABBHNZE
RBER BEEEAL ARG EERAAER
143,429,000 7t (18 E A A R #129,086,000
TRRER  BEUBERRERAH -
NE=ZA+tRAEEFREERIBEZIEAQT
BEREZMHOBR  REREAFEHREL
Bl DAE AR B & 31T A ££1,434,292,167 /%
BREEC.1ET(HENARYE0.097T) AR
HBHEHRS o

ERARTRADAIE B KBTI A3
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28 Share capital (continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

On 31 March 2008, an aggregate of 253,600,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 (equivalent to RMB0.09) each were
issued and offered for subscription at a price of HK$2.92
(equivalent to RMB2.63) per share upon the listing of the
Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange. The Group raised
approximately HK$682 million (equivalent to RMB613 million)
net of related expenses from the share offer.

Shares issued in lieu of cash dividends

On 20 March 2009, the Board announced and recommended
the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.017 (equivalent to
RMBO0.015) per share for the year ended 31 December 2008
with a scrip alternative to the shareholders on the register
of members of the Company on 12 June 2009, where the
shareholders could elect to receive the dividend by allotment
of new shares credited as fully paid in lieu of cash (the “Scrip
Dividend Scheme”). Shareholders were entitled to 0.00557
shares for each share held by them if they elected to receive
the dividend by allotment of new shares.

On 17 July 2009, 5,513,925 shares of HK$0.1 each were
issued under the Scrip Dividend Scheme, representing
990,563,165 shares for which the shareholders elected to
receive the dividend by allotment of new shares. The nominal
value of these new shares of HK$551,000 (equivalent to
RMB485,000) was credited to share capital and the balance of
HK$16,288,000 (equivalent to RMB14,292,000) was credited
to share premium account.

Shares issued under the listing of Taiwan
Depositary Receipts

On 10 December 2009, 100,000,000 units of Taiwan
depositary receipts (“TDR”), representing 100,000,000 new
shares of HK$0.1 (equivalent to RMB0.088) each of the
Company, were offered for subscription by the public in the
Republic of China at an offer price of NT$9.45 (equivalent
to RMB2.01) per TDR and were listed on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange Corporation (the “Taiwan Stock Exchange”) on 11
December 2009. 100,000,000 new shares of the Company
were issued by the Company. The Group raised proceeds
of RMB196,810,000 net of related expenses from the listing
of the Taiwan Depositary Receipts on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange.
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28 BN ()

(e)

(f)

(9)

RZZTENF=A=1+—H0  A2FEER
BRER EMIRER2.928 T (HER
ARH2.637T) W{ERE 176 253,600,000
BEREEO. BT (HHERARE0.097T)H
ZERUEZRE - HIRROBENEBERX
% ANEBEEE 682,000,000 T (HHER
AR%613,000,0007T) °

R M ETREBRERE
R-BZAF=A=1+H EEFEHRE
BAR-ZZZEAEARATZABIERQTR
REMZBRREKGBEZE_ZZTNE+ A
SE+t—HBLEEZRBERESR0017ET
(HERARE0.0157T) @ MHURNKER
B RETREBUREARIESZE 25
BRABRES 2 A BERE ([ UBRAEE

) o it BR BRI I LABL B 3 AR5 =2 5 T URER
RE  BEEERBIBE2ERBMHER
0.00557 B B&:A7 ©

RZZEZFAFLA+LH  REURKES
2152175,513,925 R B R EE0. 1B T ZRH -
BI 4 990,563,165 A% A% 17 =2 A% 3R 22 42 LA B 2%
FRMOZARNBEEE - ZEHBH2EHE
551,000 7t (1 E R A R #485,0007t ) B 5t
ARZ - MEREE16,288,00058 T (HHERAR
#£14,292,0007T) B 5t AR AD G ERR ©

RIE R BETERE L ETRA

R=-—Z=ZHh&E+=-H+H 100,000,000
HEEEFIRIF(AEBETRE] HER
100,000,0008 A~ 2 B B R EE0. 178 T (A E
RARY0.0887T) 2 #F D) IREMPERE

Q%Ai?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁéﬁ B#0.45
HAE(HERARKE201T)RE  THR=

ZENFTZAT-—HREBERZXIZR
HERDA(TEERRA]) £ o RAEH#
7100,000,00088 A A BIHT R 1 ° HIBRB BB
X% AEEHREEFTERENE BRI

FHEBZFBRIEA AR 196,810,000
=c



28 Share capital (continued)

(h)

Shares issued under share option scheme

The Company adopted the Scheme on 27 February 2008
for the recruitment and retention of quality executives and
employees as disclosed in note 27(b).

During the year, options granted under the Scheme were
exercised to subscribe for 10,890,000 (2008: Nil) ordinary
shares of the Company at a consideration of HK$21,497,000
(2008: Nil), of which HK$1,089,000 (equivalent to
RMB960,000) was credited to share capital and the balance of
HK$20,408,000 (equivalent to RMB17,977,000) was credited
to the share premium account.

29 Reserves
The nature and purpose of reserves are set out below:

(@

(b)

()

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed
by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The share
premium is distributable.

General reserve fund

Pursuant to articles of association of the Company’s
subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC, these PRC subsidiaries
are required to transfer a minimum of 10% of their profits
after taxation to the general reserve fund until the balance
of the fund is at least half of the paid-in capital of the
relevant subsidiaries. The amounts allocated to this reserve
are determined by the respective boards of directors with
reference to the minimum requirement.

For the entity concerned, the general reserve fund can be
used to make good previous years’ losses, if any, and may
be converted into capital in proportion to the equity holders’
existing equity holdings, provided that the balance after such
conversion is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the fair value of shares allotted
and issued over the subscription costs and share options
granted to employees of the Group recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments
in note 1 (m)(iii).

28 BR7N ()

(h)

RIBE R BIBTRGD
RRNBR=ZBZENF-A =+ Lt HEMZR
8 LEARERESTRAERES
TERAMIEE27 (D)1 R °

FR - REZTEARH2BERECETER
B810,890,000 (= ZZENF : &) KA AQ 7
EER - KEH21,497,0008 T (ZEEN
& &) Edh1,089,0008 T (FHER AR
960,0007t) B 5t ABRZA - M#R%E20,408,000
BT (HERARM17,977,0007T) BT AR
HIRER °

29 f#E

fREHEE R B EEPINT

(@ BRHEE
BROBERNERZIMEHS D REMSR
E o ROEEA TOIK °

(b) —RfEEE

(c)

RBEARBRPEEMR L 2B AR 248
BERMAA - WERENE DS ESERB
BABRDI0%ERE-—RAERE  BEEZ
RESEHELERRNELRABEHRE -
¥ RHEFTERSRBEERE  BEED
BEZf# BT -

REEEEmS  —MEBSTAEREGU
AFEEE(WE) > THRERIEEALRR
HIFRLEFIRBBER  ERBREBEHRTSE
DREMEAR25% °

CENE 1
BEXRERARERBETTAEBEENRG
BRI R AN U R R T 7S R
3B PR S 1 (m) () PR 38075 BA L A B 40 32 A 008
PR e st BUR MR A F(E
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29 Reserves (continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Other reserve

The other reserve represents:

(i)  The difference between Tayaneng Investment Limited’s
(“TIL”), the then subsidiary of the Company, attributable
share of the nominal value of the paid-up capital of the
subsidiaries acquired over the consideration paid by TIL
to obtain the equity interests in these subsidiaries.

Pursuant to reorganisation of the Group to rationalise the
Group’s structure (“the Reorganisation”) in preparation
of the public listing of the Company which became the
holding company of the subsidiaries on 7 May 2007,
TIL acquired equity interests of 75%, 70%, 74.17%
and 75% in Yangguang, Huachang, Huari and Xinri
respectively on 9 March 2007. The difference between
TIL’s attributable share of the nominal value of these
subsidiaries of RMB74,858,000 and the consideration
paid of RMB74,782,000 amounted to RMB76,000 and
was credited to other reserve account.

(i)  The difference between the net asset value of TIL and its
subsidiaries acquired and the nominal value of the issued
share capital of TIL.

The other reserve is non-distributable.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 1(q).

Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2009, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company
was RMB813,179,000 (2008: RMB710,498,000).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and
services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.
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(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

29 f#fE @)

Hith s

HibfEEE

() A&272=EKZHELDQE Tayaneng
Investment Limited ([ TIL ) 54 Fir ik i ff
BAREBGEHERZEERETILHE
BHENB AR ZREMZAREZE
B o

RIBEAEEREIEREBMEE » BED
AARLTEEEMETZEA(E
Hl FARAAR-ZZELFEREALH
BRAMBATZERAT)  TILA=Z
SEFE=F A B WRERMNEGK - 2
g BMNEARBMEFTADBITE%
70% > T417% R 75%BRFE o TILR L
S A B AL EE A R #E74,858,0007T
HE X REARYT4,782,000t 2 &
B ARYET6,0007T BT AR MRS
BR o

(i) FrWEBTILREMBARNEEFEE
TILEBTRAEE 2= -

HARER T I 2 IRE#IE

BE 7 b

R A EEEMERRERIREUHE RS
MEL ZE A EM - AMEERME()#Ez
B BORERE

feb iRy Al R 1
R-ZBZAF+-A=+—R0 > A#s
RKFARAGAEERRNERERLAERAR
¥ 813,179,000 T (ZZEZENFE : ARH
710,498,0007T) ©

B el
FEEERESNERANARBERBAKF
EEERRRBERARZESERATEH
& BUREAEEESESCE  HEAR
REMHORESHMERSEATRAE



29 Reserves (continued) 29 f#fE @

(9) Capital management (continued) (0 E2EE®@)
The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its AREFRBEHBRNNEEHERERE £
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher SEEXKEAOESTRESREREB MR - UK
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels BRESRRRFARENESNREREHH
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a S WEHELKIERESmAZER
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital o

structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a REBUEEES B RERZHERERE - 7
gearing ratio. For this purpose, the Group defines gearing ratio s AEESEEEBELERERAEE
as total borrowings to total share capital and reserves. AZEFRYHAR AR G B 2 LR o
The gearing ratio at 31 December 2009 and 2008 were as R-BENER_FENF+=-A=1+—H
follows: ZEESBLENT ¢
The Group
AEE
2009 2008
—EEBNF —EENF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
53 AR¥T T AR®BTT
Current liabilities: REEE
Short-term bank loans FEHRRITE R 23 289,274 214,580
Non-current liabilities: FREEME
Municipal government loan HHEFER 23 3,227 3,003
Long-term bank loan RERITER 23 70,000 -
73,227 3,003
Total borrowings BEEHAE 362,501 217,583
Share capital [N 162,458 152,189
Reserves f#E 1,225,261 1,111,325

Total equity attributable to equity RATERIRIE (LS EEE

shareholders of the Company 1,387,719 1,263,514
Gearing ratio EEARBLER 26.1% 17.2%
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to AR REEMHMEQ T BEEFINRENZE
externally imposed capital requirements. AIRE °
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30 Related party transactions

During the year, transactions with the following parties are

considered to be related party transactions:

30 BEAIRS

R BTHALET 2R RABBESRS :

Name of party Relationship

&FH BB 22

Tan Wenhua Executive director

BN E HITES

Chong Kin Ngai Non-executive director
R FHTES

Jinzhou Changhua Carbon Products Company Limited
(“Jinzhou Changhua”)

BMNEERERABRAR(HMEE]D

Wafer Works Corp. (“WWX”)

BRNMBEROERIR (AR

Jinzhou Huarong Property Management Company Limited
(“Jinzhou Huarong”)

BMNERYEEERRA R ([8MER D)

Jinzhou Huachang Photovoltaic Technology Company Limited

(“Huachang Guangfu”)

IRMZEE KRB BRAR ([EE KR ])

Jinzhou Youxin Electronic Materials Company Limited
(“Jinzhou Youxin”)

SRMNEBEFRERAR ([$FRMEED

Wafer Works (Shanghai) Corp. (“WWXS”)

EBEREMBERA R (& REME])

Space Energy Corporation (“SEC”)

FHERKIN L ((FHERKIN L)

Jinzhou Aoke New Materials Co., Ltd. (“Jinzhou Aoke”)

$RMNERTTF A RIERR A = (R MBS )

Kinmac Solar Corporation (“Kinmac”)

SRHAERMERA R (=7 ])

Jinzhou Jingxin Semi-conductor Material Co., Ltd.
(“Jinzhou Jingxin”)

RN B HERMABERA R ([RMRE )
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Significantly influenced by Tan Wenhua

SENEEATE

Equity shareholder of the Company
AATZERBR

Controlled by Tan Wenhua

S EES

Controlled by Tan Wenhua
SRR

An associate of Chong Kin Ngai
HEHRHMEA

Subsidiary of WWX

SRR ZHB AR

Equity shareholder of the Company
ARR 2 EHRR

An associate of Tan Wenhua
EEREFA S - IN

Equity shareholder of the Company
AARZERBRR

An associate of Tan Wenhua
BN E BB A



30 Related party transactions (continued)

Particulars of significant transactions between the Group and the

above related parties during the year are as follows:

(@)

Recurring transactions

30 BEAIRS @)

AEMR FAEELTRFAFHETEERS 257 1F

M

The Group
REH
2009 2008
—EENF —EEN\FE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARET T
Sales of goods to: HEERT :
— Huachang Guangfu —E5NR 195,546 17,506
- WWX —&mihE 17,350 179,959
— Jinzhou Aoke — RN EE 8,640 666
- SEC — FHEERKRIEH 78 =
— Jinzhou Huarong — EREER 30 -
- Jinzhou Changhua — M EEE 4 -
— WWXS —EmEME - 10,043
Provision of services to: RER®ET :
- SEC —FHERKA ST 15,344 43,248
— WWX — AR 3,817 1,835
- WWXS — & @mEME 370 6,196
241,216 259,453
Purchases of goods from: ETHSEFBEEMR !
- WWX —amEH 110,029 186,170
— Jinzhou Youxin —BhEE 31,190 24,850
- Jinzhou Changhua —RMEE 14,375 27,005
— Huachang Guangfu 1= Pir 7,359 -
— Jinzhou Aoke — BN 4,959 -
— Kinmac —=# 65 -
-SEC —FHIERKRI S 59 7,376
- WWXS — & miEME - 28,569
Processing services received RN RS IR TR
from Jinzhou Jingxin 1,045 -
Rental expense paid to FRFEERRZHEHE
Huachang Guangfu 479 -
Provision of electricity and water g 2442 4tk B
by Jinzhou Huarong 1,275 1,538
170,835 275,508
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30 Related party transactions (continued)

(@)

Recurring transactions (continued)

The directors are of the opinion that the above related party
transactions were conducted on normal commercial terms and
were priced with reference to prevailing market prices and in
the ordinary course of business.

30 EEIRS @)
(@) EEMR S (H)
EERE L RBES RS IR —REBBE
P — R ERREST - LB ERTHED
T -

(b) Non-recurring transactions (b) FEEMRS
The Group
AEH
2009 2008
—EThEF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AR¥T T
Purchase of machinery and EESNREEHEERRE
equipment from Huachang

Guangfu 2,056 =

The directors are of the opinion that the above related party
transaction was conducted on normal commercial terms
and was with reference to prevailing market prices and in the
ordinary course of business.
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30 Related party transactions (continued) 30 BEARS @)

(c) Amounts due from related parties (c) EWEEERFIE
The Group
FEE
2009 2008
—EThE B \f
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBF
Trade 25
— Huachang Guangfu —E#BXR 88,094 -
— WWX —AmEHE 31,799 55,002
— Jinzhou Changhua — M EE = 4,328
— Jinzhou Akoe —iRMNER 3,435 -
— SEC — FHEERKRIEH - 7,061
— WWXS — & EEME = 1,149
123,328 67,540
Non-trade FES
— Jinzhou Changhua — RN EE 2,000 -
— Jinzhou Huarong — SR N EELR 22 -
— Huachang Guangfu —EERMR 100 -
2,122 -
125,450 67,540

Amounts due from related parties expected to be recovered or FBHNBB—FERKERERAR T 2 EK
recognised as expense after more than one year total RMB Nil BERFRESEAARBET(ZEENE :
(2008: RMB9,249,000). AR#59 249,0007T) ©

Other amounts due from related parties are unsecured,
interest free and are expected to be recovered or recognised as
expense within one year.

FEWEES 2 EMFRRERKE  RERHE
AR - FAREHEIRFES
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30 Related party transactions (continued)
(d) Amounts due to related parties

30 BEARS @
(d) FE(TREELFIE

The Group
rEE
2009 2008
—ZETAF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Trade 25

— Jinzhou Youxin —8RNhEE 11,305 6,135
- Jinzhou Changhua —EMNEE 10,961 11,500
- WWX — & &R 3,688 37,143
— Jinzhou Aoke — 8RS 376 -
— Huachang Guangfu —EE NN 133 20,000
- WWXS ~ B EEMH 64 23,670
26,527 98,448

Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, interest free

and expected to be settled within one year.

(e) Amount due to a director

BNEELRBREER ZERBHITR

—FREE -

() BN—BES 2R

2009 2008

—EZhEF —EENF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT AR¥EFTT

Tan Wenhua B E - 150

The amount due to a director is unsecured, interest-free and
expected to be settled within one year.

() Key management personnel emoluments
Key management personnel receive compensation in the form
of salaries, housing and other allowances, benefits in kind,
discretionary bonuses and retirement scheme contributions.
Details of key management personnel emoluments are
disclosed in notes 11 and 12. Total remuneration is included in
“staff costs” as disclosed in note 7(b).
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31 Capital commitments 31 EXREAE
Capital commitments that relate to purchases of property, plant and EBEBEYE BERZEREEANAEZANT
equipment outstanding at the balance sheet date not provided for in AREMERRABE 2 EXRFENT ¢
the financial statements are as follows:
The Group
AEH
2009 2008
—EZhEF —EEN\FE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®T T
Authorised and contracted for ERENETHY 254,828 343,377
Authorised but not contracted for EREERTY 52,175 30,000
32 Operating lease commitments 32 KEHEAIE

At 31 December 2009, the total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

REZBZAE+TZA=1+—0 ' REFTTHHE2E
EHE ARAEEENzHEBAEMREEN
T

The Group
AEHE

2009 2008
—EZhEF —ZEENE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®T T
Within 1 year —F R 2,628 1,617
After 1 year but within 5 years —FZERFR 5,408 1,655
After 5 years HEE 1,930 2,041
9,966 5,313

The Group is the lessee in respect to a number of properties held
under operating leases at 31 December 2009. The leases typically
run for an initial period of two to twenty years, with an option to
renew each lease upon expiry when all terms are renegotiated.
None of the leases include contingent rentals.

R-ZZBZNF+ZA=1T—R  AEERZERE
REHEMBMENEEA - ZEHE-RALH
Hoz=—+5 . ARSHEERRFEEES i
BRRREERENERD - 2SHET FEEIR
HE o

Annual Report 2009 %} 1 57



Notes to the Financial Statements
B RS SR 5 Y RE
(Expressed in Renminbi)  (AAR¥5I{E)

33 Financial risk management and fair values
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in
the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group’s exposure
to these risks and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks are described
below.

(a) Credit risk
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and
cash equivalents and trade and other receivables. Cash and
cash equivalents are placed with financial institutions that have
sound credit ratings and the Group considers the credit risk to
be insignificant.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on customers/suppliers on a case-
by-case basis. These evaluations focus on the customer’s
past history of making payments when due and current ability
to pay as well as the supplier’s past history of supplying raw
materials when orders are placed by the Group in respect
of the prepayments made by the Group for purchase of raw
materials, and take into account information specific to the
customer/supplier as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer/supplier operates. Trade
receivables are due within 30 to 90 days from the date of
billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer. The default risk of
the industry and country in which customers operate also has
an influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the balance
sheet date, the Group has a certain concentration of credit risk
as 22% (2008: 12%) of the total trade and other receivables
was due from the Group’s largest customer and 36% (2008:
31%) was due from the five largest customers of the Group.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
balance sheet. The Group does not provide any other
guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk.
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33 Financial risk management and fair values
(continued)

33 BEEREER A E@

(b) Liquidity risk (b) REEEEE
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected AEENBEREHERERNNARRBE
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient SWER - UBREEEZRESHERD
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from BEREMKBNETEAEEEEEE » UE
major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in NRESHNABHESER -
the short and longer term.
The following table details the remaining contractual TREFNAEERAADGEEBENREER
maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s and the ZBRTENER  BEMEEETUKRITIER
Company’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual EHIREREURKAEB R AATEERER
undiscounted cash flows and the earliest date the Group and B HEMERER -
the Company can be required to pay.
The Group
458
2009 2008
“EEE “EE)E
Total Morethan ~ More than Totd More than More than
contractual Tyearbut  2yearsbut contractual Tyerbut  2yearshut
undiscounted  Within 1 year less than [ess than undiscounted ~ Within 1 year less than Jess than
Camjing ~ cashflow or on demand 2years Syears  More than Camying cash flow  or on demand 2years 5years More than
amont  FARAN  -ERUEE 2E-£ ik Syears anot RFRRY  -FACRE BE-F a3 byears
REE REREAE BAR  BIRCE BOREE kit KEE BénEsE BAR  @ONCE ONEE fiichit3
RMBI000 RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'0O0  RMB'000 RMBI000 RVBI000 RMBI000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB00
ARETr  ARRTn  ARETn  ARETz  ARBTr  ARMTn  ARETn  ARMTn ARBTz  ARETR  ARMTR AREfR
Shottembank  EHEAER
loans 20,274 (297,362) (297,362) - - - 214580 (224,968) (224,969 - - -
Municipal THRER
govemment loan 3221 (4612) (466) (456) (1319) 231 3003 4612) - (466) (1,341) (2809)
Longlembenk ~ EEgAES
loan 70,000 (T7417) - (17417 - - = = = = = =
Traeandother ~ EAEZEHR
nayebles AfERE 206,170 (206,170) (206,170) - - - 262,433 (252.439) (252439 - - -
568,671 (585,621) (503,998) (17933 (1,319) (23m) 470016 (482,013) 77401 (466) (1,341) (2808)
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33 Financial risk management and fair values

33 HEEREER AFE@m

(continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) RBESERE@E)
The Company
KRF
2009 2008
ZBETRE “ETN\F
Total Total
contractual contractual
undiscounted ~ Within 1 year undiscounted Within 1 year
Carrying cash flow or on demand Carrying cashflow  oron demand
amount AREY  —FRDEE amount AREH  —FADEE
BEE BRERELE BAK REE RERELE BAR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥TTT AR%T R AR¥T T ARETR ARBT T
Other payables HiEAFE 3,433 (3,433) (3,433) 2,897 (2,897) (2,897)
Amounts due to EAHBLTZHE
subsidiaries 22,049 (22,049) (22,049) 236,189 (236,189 (236,189)
25,482 (25,482) (25,482) 239,086 (239,086) (239,086)
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33 Financial risk management and fair values 33 B EMEER AEE @)

(continued)

(c) Interest rate risk () FI=EREk
() Interest rate profile L
Except for bank deposits with stable interest rates, the BRREMEZRTERIN » AEELE
Group has no other significant interest bearing assets. HMBERFEEE - At » AZEEZW
Accordingly, the Group’s income and operating cash EREEEEREBAMEAZHIZR=R
flows are substantially independent of changes in market BHLE c FRARITEASEANER 25
interest rates. Details of the effective interest rates for BRI R E - REBZRZEK
bank deposits are disclosed in note 21. The Group’s FTERBRITEE - TEREFELEE
interest rate risk arises mainly from bank borrowings. FERESRNERAR - EEEEFEARE
Borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group EFEIEAFERNZERER o ANEEIEF
to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings bearing fixed ATEMS T AR ERIRER
rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The
Group does not use derivative financial instruments to
hedge its interest rate risk.
The following table details the interest rate profile of the TRAVNAEFREE R EEFEENF
Group’s net borrowings at the balance sheet date. TR ©
2009 2008
“EENE “EENF
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BRRA= RMB’000 BIRF=E RMB’000
% ARBT T % ARETR
Variable rate FEEE
borrowings
Short-term secured REERMRITER
bank loans - - 6.00 14,580
Short-term unsecured EHRIKRRTEN
bank loans 4.86 - 6.90 289,274 4.87 - 6.66 200,000
289,274 214,580
Fixed rate borrowings EE&H
Municipal govemment  HEBFE
loan 2.55 3,227 2.55 3,003
Long-term bank loan RERITER 5.40 70,000 = -
73,227 3,008
Total borrowings BEaE 362,501 217,583
Fixed rate borrowings as ~ EEEEGEE
a percentage of BENEL
total borrowings 20.2% 1.4%
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33 Financial risk management and fair values
(continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (continued)
(i) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2009, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group’s loss/profit after taxation
and retained earnings by approximately RMB2,438,000
(2008: RMB1,817,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s loss/profit after taxation (and
retained earnings) that would arise assuming that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the balance
sheet date and had been applied to the exposure to
interest rate risk for financial instruments in existence at
that date. The analysis has been performed on the same
basis for 2008.

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases and cash and bank deposits that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency
of the operations to which they relate. The currencies giving
rise to this risk are primarily the United States Dollar and the
Hong Kong Dollar. The directors do not expect any significant
impact from movements in exchange rates since the Group
uses the foreign currencies collected from customers to
settle the amounts due to suppliers. In addition, the directors
ensure that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by
buying or selling the United States Dollar at spot rates where
necessary to address short-term imbalances.
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33 BEEREE R A E@

(c) RIZ=mEER(E)

(i) SBEESH
R-ZZAF+-_A=+—H &8
BERZEH THRA0EEEL - MHAAE
Hihf#RZ#FTE  NEBENRE
#EE /AERREBEFEE LA T
24 N R#52,438,0007t (ZEF N\ :
AR#1,817,0007T) °

Bl EBRBE D T BRMRR A RSB RS
HER#E  WEFARSHEANEXRE
EHNER T BFRENFIRERE - 2
SEBRHEEEFIB(RREEF) 2
BNRFEE) - —2TN\FW TR UEE
HYEL AT o

(d) SMERRE

REBEAZWIMERR - TEREEEKE
BRI ERTTEZHERRE - E
ThERBzERTERXTRET - EX
Y AEHREXSBEHAEMEREFTEX
FE RALEEFEAETEFREZINER
HEBZ AR - Wi ESEFERTHE
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33 Financial risk management and fair values

(continued)
(d) Currency risk (continued)

()

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at
the balance sheet date to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate.

33 BEEREER A E@

(d) FMERER(HE)
0 SMNEmEEE
TRAVNAEENEE AAENIINER
B SNERBREAEBEERNEER
LONERSHEZERREERBEME
4o

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in Renminbi)

HNERK (AARKTIE)
2009 2008
ZEENF “EENE
United States Hong Kong United States
Dollars Dollars Dollars  Hong Kong Dollars
EYH BT E BT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AR¥TR ARET T AR¥T
Trade and other FEIN B 5 SR EL P W

receivables E 21,857 - 69,177 -
Cash at bank andinhand TR FEHRE 67,607 10,911 46,663 30,122
Bank loans RITER (84,274) - - -
Trade and other payables {8 5 Btk EAbRE( FE (82) - (9,404) -
5,108 10,911 106,436 30,122
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33 Financial risk management and fair values

(continued)

(AAR¥ESIE)

(d) Currency risk (continued)
(i) Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s loss/profit after taxation and retained
earnings in response to reasonably possible changes

(d) FMERE(H)

33 BEEREE R A E@

(i)  BBEDHT

in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group has

significant exposure at the balance sheet date.

TRERAEEEREH A REE AR
BUERTHLRANSESE - M4
EEMRBERE FIBRRGRFILR
PR B o

The Group
AEE
2009 2008
ZEEBNF —EENFE

Increase Increase
in foreign Decrease Increase in foreign Increase Increase
exchange inloss for in retained exchange in profit for in retained
rates the year earnings rates the year earnings
EXEH FAFETH] REBFLH EXLH FRFMBLA REERMLEH
% RMB’000 RMB’000 % RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETT AR¥TR
Hong Kong Dollars BT 10 1,091 10 3,012 3,012
United States Dollars %7t 10 34 10 9,149 9,149

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent
an aggregation of the instantaneous effects on each of the Group
entities’ loss/profit after taxation and equity measured in the
respective functional currencies, translated into Renminbi at the
exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date for presentation
puUrposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange
rates had been applied to re-measure those financial instruments
held by the Group which expose the Group to foreign currency risk
at the balance sheet date, including inter-company payables and
receivables within the Group which are denominated in a currency
other than the functional currencies of the lender or the borrower.
The analysis excludes differences that would result from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations into the
Group’s presentation currency. The analysis has been performed on
the same basis for 2008.

The stated changes represent changes in foreign exchange rates
over the period until the next annual balance sheet date. In this
respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong Kong
Dollar and the United States Dollar would be materially unaffected
by any changes in movement in value of the United States Dollar
against other currencies. The analysis has been performed on the
same basis for 2008.

1 64 Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited B 3¢ BER1ZE IR B PR A B

EREN 2D TEREAEERER 2R
#BEE/FERRA (NS B ZEE ¥
B WUEHEHZERRESARE) 2B
SBEE HEHR2H -

BRESMDBRERAEREZSHEN
SFEAREEMEESHREE BAENER
BB TE  SEURRARERADE
E¥LNERHEZEBRN LD B BEANFIE
REEWRIE - 2 T BIEGBIEBL TR
RBELAEBEREEHEE 2E=/ - =
ZEN\FEN DT RUERWEEET -

Pt EB NEAPBET - FEEAEHIES
BNEXSE - Bt E EMKRETAA
EBERHRNEMRE  FSEAZE
BTEETHHERER - —Z2T \ENDT
R UERE R ELAEREST o



33 Financial risk management and fair values
(continued)

34

()

(f)

Supply of raw materials risk

The Group’s revenue depends significantly on its ability
to obtain sufficient raw materials which meet the Group’s
specifications. The Group obtains most of its raw materials
from a limited number of suppliers. As a result, there is a risk
that the Group will be unable to secure a sufficient supply of
raw materials to meet its planned production output, which
may have a material and adverse impact on the revenue of the
Group.

Fair values

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 December 2008 and
2009.

Significant accounting estimates and
judgements

The methods, estimates and judgements the directors used in
applying the Group’s accounting policies have a significant impact
on the Group’s financial position and operating results. Some of
the accounting policies require the Group to apply estimates and
judgements on matters that are inherently uncertain. The critical
accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
are described below.

(@) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives of each asset, after
taking into account the estimated residual value. The Group
reviews annually the useful life of an asset and its residual
value, if any. Both the period and methods of depreciation are
reviewed annually. The depreciation expense for future periods
is adjusted if there are significant changes from previous
estimates.

33

34

R RERE R AT E @

JR AR FE LB

REEZWARAEE LHRERBERE RS
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RAREE -

(e)

n 2FE
R-BENFR=-FFAFT=A=1—
B FESRIANKEEREAFEZHY
WEEERER -

BAEHH R

AR 2 & R P A S B Rk
RREEEEEEAGE2IE - (T RAN - 2
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34 Significant accounting estimates and
judgements (continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairments of property, plant and equipment
and trade receivables

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment at each balance sheet date to determine whether
there is objective evidence of impairment. When an indication
of impairment is identified, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its net selling price and value in use. In assessing value
in use, management prepares discounted future cash flows
to assess the differences between the carrying amount and
value in use and provides for impairment losses. Any change
in the assumptions adopted in the cash flow forecasts would
increase or decrease the provision for impairment losses and
affect the Group’s profit or loss and net asset value.

Impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts are assessed
and provided based on the directors’ regular review of ageing
analysis and evaluation of collectibility. A considerable level of
judgement is exercised by the directors when assessing the
credit worthiness and past collection history of each individual
customer. An increase or decrease in the above impairment
loss would affect profit or loss in future years.

Impairment of advances to suppliers and
provision for onerous contracts

The Group makes non-cancellable advance payments to
raw material suppliers under purchase agreements which
are to be offset against future purchases. In the event when
the economic benefits expected to be received under these
purchase agreements are less than the unavoidable costs of
meeting the contractual obligations; or the financial condition
of these suppliers deteriorate, the Group will consider whether
the advance payments to these suppliers are impaired and
make necessary provision for the present obligation under the
agreements. The Group does not require collateral or other
security against its advances to suppliers. The Group performs
ongoing evaluations of impairment of advances to suppliers
and provisions for commitments that may become onerous
due to a change of market conditions and the financial
condition of its suppliers. The evaluation takes into account
the projected revenue, related expenses, capital spending and
other costs. When the advance is not likely to be settled as
expected, the Group will make necessary provisions for the
present obligation under the agreements.
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34 Significant accounting estimates and
judgements (continued)
(d) Valuation of inventories

(e)

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs to
completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based
on the current market condition and the historical experience
of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in technique and
competitor actions in response to adverse industry cycles.
Management reassesses these estimates at each balance
sheet date.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are transactions during the ordinary
course of business, for which calculation of the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. Where the final tax outcome is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences would affect profit or loss in future years.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses and deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Estimation of future taxable profits involves
judgements made by management. Any increase or decrease
in the recognition of deferred tax assets would affect the
Group’s profit or loss in future years.

35 Comparative figures
As a result of the application of HKAS 1 (revised 2007), Presentation
of financial statements and HKFRS 8, Operating segments, certain
comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to current
year’s presentation and to provide comparative amounts in respect

of items disclosed for the first time in 2009. Further details of these
developments are disclosed in note 2.

34 EREEHAFTRHE @)

d) FEZEE
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36 Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2009
Up to the date of issue of the financial statements, the HKICPA has
issued a number of amendments, new standards and interpretations
which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2009
and which have not been adopted in these financial statements.

ﬁ_%ﬂﬁw 212 T BY 25 AR 4
5/ 48

E
BEPHRERTHBH  SRSHALSEHEMGS
TRIER] ~ R] ERI R - MAKE N AT S HR
RORARZEIRNBE_ZZENF+=A=1+—
AIEFEEMAERT ~ ] ERIRRE -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RTIIBHEZ%
BRI S HBEXR
HKFRS 3 (Revised), Business combinations 1 July 2009
BBV REERIFEIN (BERT) - EHFEGF —EENFER—H
Amendments to HKAS 27, Consolidated and separate financial statements 1 July 2009
BBETHERETRIER]  FERBUAHKHZ*E —EENFEtHA—H
Amendments to HKAS 39, Financial instruments: 1 July 2009
Recognition and measurement — Eligible hedged items —EEhELHA—H
BBGTHERIEIRIER] BT R  BRARE—SEKEHER
HK(IFRIC) 17, Distributions of non-cash assets to owners 1 July 2009
58 (EBRVBERERBEESS)F17H  EAASRIECEE ZEENFEA—H

Improvements to HKFRSs 2009
ERVYBHREEN ST NFRCE

Amendments to HKFRS 2, Share-based payment — Group
cash-settled share-based payment transactions
BBVBEREERIFE2RIETT KO NH —EERE2EERGTIFHXE

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments
BRMIERELERESS  HHFETE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is
unlikely to result in a significant impact on the Company’s results of
operations and financial position.

1 68 Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited B 3¢ BER1ZE IR B PR A B

1 July 2009 or

1 January 2010
—EEAFELA—HB®
—E-TF-A-H

1 January 2010
—ZE-ZF5—H—H

1 January 2013
—E—=%5—HA—H

REE R EFE EMEET R ERE BB N TR
& -FHHAL  AEERBEALMERT 5T
ZRAIRBRETAARESHAD A NREEER I
RREEERTE -



@® This report is printed on recycled paper 78§45 LA B 354K EN&Y






	
	CW00757.pdf
	封面

	目錄
	公司資料
	公司簡介
	財務摘要
	主席報告書
	業務回顧
	管理層討論及分析
	企業管治報告
	董事和高級管理人員簡歷
	董事會報告書
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益表
	綜合全面收入表
	綜合資產負債表
	資產負債表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	財務報告附註
	封二

	封底






